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STATEMENT OF THE MATTER INVOLVED
With a passing reference to the rules that a prosecutor’s

denial of defendant’s Pretrial Intervention (“PTI”) application

is entitled to the highest deference on appeal, the Appellate

Division has substituted its own judgment by reversing
defendant’s conviction and remanding this matter to the
prosecutor to reconsider her denial of defendant’s PTI
application. In a published decision, State v. Watkins,

Super. _ (App. Div. 2007), the Appellate Division has
established a per g2 rule that a series of fraudulent
transactions occurring over a four-month period of time can never
constitute a continuing criminal enterprise simply because in the
panel’s view, four months is somehow not long cnough. (Pa48-
55).! The court artificially focused solely on the duration of
defendant’s fraud and ignored the other significant circumstances
surrounding the nature of defendant’s crimes; namely, that
defendant was a state employee who submitted nine false
certifications to the Department of Labor (“DOL”) over a four-
month period and received $5,670 of unemployment benefits to
which he was not entitled. (Pal-18; Pa20-24). Significantly,

defendant’s course of criminal conduct continued for as long as

it possibly could and terminated only because his objective had

“Da” refers to the appendix to defendant’s direct appeal
brief.

“"1T” refers to the PTI appeal hearing transcript dated
September 24, 2004.

“"2T” refers to the PTI appeal hearing transcript dated
November 19, 2004.

“3T” refers to the plea transcript dated February 7, 2005.

“4T” refers to the sentencing transcript dated April 15, 200S5.

“Pa” refers to the appendix to this petition.

“"PSR” refers to defendant’s Adult Presentence Report.
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been reached -- his completion of the training program through

which he had fraudulently obtained unemployment penefits. There
is no reason whatsoever to pelieve he would not have continued to
bilk the State of more money if his training needs had gone on
longer. Moreover, defendant promptly plowed his ill-gotten
wealth into new business ventures, and then refused to repay any
of these unlawful unemployment penefits after his fraud was
discovered by the DOL a year later in 2000. (Pa20-32; Pa4d5).
only after his 2004 indictment, did defendant agree to repay this
money, and that was not until he pleaded guilty pursuant to a
negotiated plea agreement some six years later, in February 2005.
(pa28-32; Pa4l-45). Before that time, defendant had paid nothing
toward the principal debt, fines and penalties totaling
$7,619.78. (2T4-20 to 25; Pa45) .

In 1999, defendant, who had been temporarily laid off from
Trenton Psychiatric Hospital received an extension of
unemployment benefits under the DOL'S wadditional Benefits During
Training Program,” whereby he could receive unemployment benefits
while he pursued an education and job training gkills in culinary
arts at Mercer County Community College. (pa31-32) . Defendant,
however, resumed working when he was rehired by the Hospital on
January 17, 1999. (Pa24) . Defendant realized that, so long as
he remained in college, the DOL, through the training program,
would send him unemployment checks based on his false
certifications that he was not working. (3T12-3 to 20) . After
he was rehired, defendant submitted nine certifications to the
DOL, beginning on February 1, 1999, for weeks January 23 through
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May 22, 1999, indicating falsely that he was unemployed and

entitled to receive unemployment benefits. (Pa1-9). In addition
to falsely certifying that he was entitled to these benefits,
defendant falsely certified that he was entitled to these
benefits each time he endorsed and cashed the resultant nine
unemployment benefit checks. (Pa10-18) .

Knowing full well that he was not entitled to these
unemployment benefits, defendant on numerous occasions certified
that he was in fact eligible and thereafter compounded his fraud
by cashing the checks. The dates defendant mace these

certifications and the dates he negotiated the checks were as

follows:
DATES DATF®
OF UNEMPLOYMEX™ BENEFIT

FALSE CERTIFICATION CHECK NEGOTIATED ’
February 1, 1999 - February 8, 1999 ‘
February 16, 1999 - February 19, 1999 %
March 1, 1999 - March 4, 1999
March 15, 1999 - March 18, 1999
March 29, 1999 - April 2, 1999
April 12, 1999 - April 15, 1999 .
April 26, 1999 - April 29, 1999 {
May 10, 1999 - May 12, 1999 !
May 24, 1999 - June 2, 1999

Defendant admitted at his guilty plea hearing that he knowingly
failed to report his re-employment by Trenton Psychiatric

Hospital to the DOL. (3T12-12 to 14).

During the time span of defendant’s fraud, he opened the
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“first Culinary Cafeteria at Mercer County Community College,

called the ‘Lucky 7 Lunch Box’” and “an off-site catering
business called ‘Treasured Memories Catering’” through the
Hospital. (Dal15-16; Pa39-40). Defendant submitted his last
false certification to the DOL on May 24, 1999, and cashed the
check on June 2, 1999. (Pa9; Pal8). Defendant received a
culinary technician certificate of completion from the Career
Training Institute of Mercer County Community College on June 4,
1999. (Pa19) .

After discovering that defendant had been working at the
Hospital at the same time he had been paid unemployment benefits,
the Bureau of Benefit Payment Control sent defendant a letter on
September 12, 2000, indicating that he had recei--3 $5,670 in
unemployment benefits to which he was not entitled. (Pa20-21).

A fact-finding hearing, in which a repayment schedule would have

been established, was scheduled for September 22, 2000. (2T3-4
to 4-1; Pa2l1). Defendant neither appeared for the hearing nor
contacted the DOL. (2T3-23 to 4-1). Thereafter, a determination

and demand for refund of unemployment benefits, imposition of
penalties and disqualification from future benefits was made
because of defendant’s “false or fraudulent misrepresentation”
that he was entitled to these benefits. (Pa22-23). With the
assessment of penalties and fines, defendant then owed $7,087.50.
Ibid.

The State investigator assigned to this case continued to
attempt to contact defendant by telephone to no avail. (2T4-2 to

20). On January 29, 2004, when defendant failed to either

wif=
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cooperate or acknowledge the State’s attempt to resolve this

matter civilly, the State Grand Jury indicted defendant for

third-degree theft by deception and fourth-degree unsworn

falsification to authorities. (Pa25-30) . Thereafter, defendant
submitted a PTI application which was accepted by the Mercer
County Criminal Division Manager. (pa31). From the time the DOL
ceased providing unemployment penefits to defendant in May 1999,
until the time he was indicted on January 29, 2004, defendant had
not made one voluntary repayment of these funds now totaling
$7,619.78. (2T4-20 to 25) .

In a letter dated April 19, 2004, the State objected to
defendant’s entry into PTI for three reasons: (1) defendant’s
fraud from January to May 1999 constituted a continuing criminal
enterprise; (2) he was a public employee; and (3) he had a 1990
disorderly persons offense conviction for receiving stolen
property. (Pa31-32) .

On April 26, 2004, defendant was notified by Trenton
Psychiatric Hospital that he was suspended with pay pursuant to a
preliminary Notice of Disciplinary Action, which also indicated
that he was subject to forfeiture of his public office as a
result of his indictment. (Pa33-37) .

On September 24, 2004, the Honorable Maria M. Sypek, P.J.
Ccr., after the initial oral argument on the State’s denial of
defendant’s PTI application, adjourned the matter until November
19, 2004. The adjournment was intended to allow the State to
address the issue regarding defendant’s status as a public

employee in its determination of whether to consent to his PTI

-5-




i gl

i

O

application. In advance of that hearing, the prosecutor
submitted a letter brief and advised Judge Sypek of the following

at the subsequent hearing:

q's the State does not have a per se blanket
policy denying PTI admission to public
employees;

2% the StaLe’s reasons for denying public

employees’ admission into PTI is well-
grounded within the guidelines of PTI rules
adopted by the Supreme Court;

Bs defendant’s crime constituted a breach of the
public trust because there was a nexus .
between defendant’s crime of dishonesty and
his public employment at Trenton Psychiatric
Hospital. Defendant’s admission into PTI
would deprecate the seriousness of his crime;

4. defendant could have resolved this matter
civilly long before the criminal prosecution
was begun and defendant’s failure to do so
was not indicative of someone who was
amendable to rehabilitation, but of someone
who should go through the ordinary criminal
process;

B defendant made no voluntary payments toward
repayment of these ill-gotten benefits;

6. defendant’s action constituted a continuing
course of criminal activity;

y defendant’s rap sheet showed that defendant
had a 1990 disorderly persons offense for
receiving stolen property;? and

8. the integrity of the Unemployment Insurance
Benefit Fund has to be preserved.

[2T2-23 toO 7+%.1
Judge Sypek took the matter under advisement. (2T9-20 to

13-8). On February 22, 2006, after defendant had been sentenced

$ in fact, defendant also had been convicted of the disorderly

persons offense of interfering with the police on April 13, 2004,
and was assessed a $1,030 fine. (4T5-11 to 14; PSR at 6).
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on April 15, 2005, Judge Sypek affirmed the State’s rejection of

defendant’s entry into PTI based on two grounds: (1) his nine

false certifications submitted in a four-month period constituted

a continuing criminal enterprise; and (2) he had a prior
municipal court conviction in 1990 for receiving stolen property.
(Pa41-47) .3

In its February 5, 2007, published opinion, the Appellate
Division ruled that *[wlhatever may be the limits of a continuing

enterprise, defendant's actions did not fit that concept” as

developed by case law. Watkins, supra, N.J. Super. at _
(slip op. at 8). (Pa55). Even though the court found that

defendant’s conduct was an enterprise, it found that it was not a
“continuing” enterprisc “due to the relatively br.ef length of
time it persisted. A series of unlawful acts intended to profit
the criminal do not translate into a ‘business’ or ‘enterprise’
simply because they took place over a number of months.” Ibid.

On February 13, 2007, the State filed its Notice of Petition
for Certification. (Pa56).

STATEMENT OF THE QUESTION P, D

Did the Appellate Division err in finding that a fraud
committed against the Unempldyment Insurance Benefit Fund for a
period of four months by a public employee does not constitute a

continuing criminal enterprise under Guideline 3(i) (2) where

? Contrary to the State’s brief and argument at the November

19, 2004 hearing, Judge Sypek’s order mistakenly indicated that

the State had dropped defendant’s status as a public employee as
a factor in its decision to reject defendant’s PTI application.

Compare Pa45-47 with 2T2-23 to 7-7.

e
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defendant submitted nine false certifications, obtaining
unemployment benefits to which he was not entitled; where
defendant’s scheme continued for as long as it took to reach its
desired end (with no reason to believe it woﬁld not have
persisted further if necessary); and where defendant refused to
either acknowledge or repay these ill-gotten criminal proceeds
for the ensuing five years, during which time he used his
illegally-generated income to open new commercial ventures?
REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION
POINT T

THE APPELLATE DIVISION ERRED WHEN IT

SUBSTITUTED ITS JUDGMENT FOR THAT OF THE

PROSECUTOR AND ESTABLISHED A PER SE RULE THAT

A FOUR-MONTH FRAUD, IRRESPECTIVE OF THE

ATTENDANT FACTS, DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A

CONTINUING CRIMINAL ENTERPRISE UNDER

GUIDELINE 3 (i) (2).

Inexplicably failing to view the prosecutor’s decision
through the mandatory highly deferential filter of appellate
review, the Appellate Division provided a mere “perfunctory
recitation” of the applicable standard and failed “to provide any
explanation” for the basis of its decision. State v. Wallace,
146 N.J. 576, 587 (1996). Ignoring all of the attendant facts of
this case, the appellate court has found that the prosecutor’s
determination that defendant’s four-month fraud constituted a
continuing criminal enterprise under Guideline 3(i) (2) was a
patent and gross abuse of her discretion. By its decision, the
Appellate Division has “essentially evaluated the case as if it

stood in the shoes of the prosecutor,” and established a per se

rule that a four-month fraud cannot constitute a continuing

e
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criminal enterprise. Id. at 589. This ruling is untenable and
has no support in well-established case law. This Court has
often ruled that whether the appellate or trial court agrees with
the prosecutor’s decision is irrelevant, since a reviewing court
has no authority to second guess a position taken by the

prosecutor. Ibid.; State v. Nwobu, 139 N.J. 236, 254 (1995);

State v. DeMarco, 107 N.J. 562 (1987); accord State v. Motley,

369 N.J. Super. 314, 321 (App. Div. 2004). Rather, the standard
is “whether the prosecutor's decision could not have been
reasonably made upon weighing the relevant factors.” Nwobu,
supra, 139 N.J. at 254.

Because of the close relationship between the PTI Program
and the prosecutor’s charging authority, courts allew prosecutors

“wide latitude” in deciding whom to divert into the PTI program

or whom to prosecute. State v. Negran, 178 N.J. 73, 82 (2003).

It is this Court’s expectation that a “prosecutor’s decision to
reject a PTI applicant will rarely be overturned.” State v.
Baynes, 148 N.J. 434, 443 (1997) (quoting Wallace, supra, 146 N.J

at 585 (quoting State v. Leonardis (II), 73 N.J. 360, 380

(1977)). In fact, the level of deference is so high that such
deference is categorized as “enhanced,” “extra,” and “extreme.”
Negran, supra, 178 N.J. at 82; Baynes, supra, 148 N.J. at 443;
Nwobu, supra, 139 N.J. at 246. Moreover, it is a fundamental
proposition of law established by this Court that "[a]lbsent

evidence to the contrary, it is presumed that the prosecutor

considered all relevant factors before rendering a decision."
Baynes, supra, 148 N.J. at 444; State v. Dalglish, 86 N.J. 503,

oPe
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509 (1981).

The enhanced or extreme deference afforded to prosecutors
regarding PTI admission translates into a heavy burden for a
defendant to overcome a prosecutorial veto of his admission into
PTI. A defendant must clearly and convincingly establish that
the alleged prosecutorial error complained of constituted a
patent and gross abuse of her discretion in that her decision
clearly subverted the goals of PTI. Nwobu, supra, 139 N.J. at

247 (quoting State V. Kraft, 265 N.J. Super. 106, 111-12 (App.

Div. 1993)). Consequently, this Court has determined that
judicial review of a prosecutor’s decision is “limited to
instances of the most egregious examples of injustice and
unfairness,” where the prosecutor’s decision was m-. than “just
an abuse of discretion as traditionally conceived,” but rather,
“a prosecutorial decision that ‘has gone so wide of the mark

sought to be accomplished by PTI that fundamental fairness and

justice require judicial intervention.’” Wallace, supra, 146
N.J. at 582-583 (quoting State V. Ridgway, 208 N.J. Super. 118,

130 (Law Div.1985)).

In this case, defendant, a public employee, defrauded the
Unemployment Insurance Benefit Fund of $5,670 in unemployment
benefits to which he was not entitled by submitting nine false
certifications to the DOL. He thereafter endorsed the resultant
nine benefits checks, which constituted additional false
certifications that he was entitled to these benefits.
pefendant’s crimes constituted third-degree thefts by deception;

i.e., a crime of dishonesty, which subjects defendant to

=10«




spontaneity, ‘” but rather, participated “in a series of
deliberate and planned unlawful acts” c :r a period of time.
State v. Bender, 80 N.J. 84, 95 (1979); State v. Marie, 200 N.J.

Super. 424, 427 (Law Div. 1984); see also State v. Barrett, 157

N.J. Super. 96, 102 (App. Div. 1978); Cf. State v. Imbriani, 280
N.J. Super. 304, 318 (Law Div. 1984) (*[w]lhether the conduct
occurred on a daily, weekly, monthly or some other basis, it is
clear that every day during that five-year period [Imbriani] knew
that he had performed and was continuing to perform illegal acts
and was receiving monies to which he was not entitled.”), aff’d
supra, 291 N.J. Super. 171. It was defendant’s repetitive
criminal acts (the submission of nine false certifications and
illegally cashing nine unemployment benefits checks over a four-
month period of time), which clearly provided “a negative
implication when rehabilitation is considered.” Marie, supra,
200 N.J. Super. at 430. Considering his repetitive course of
conduct, his status as a public employee and his criminal record,
the prosecutor properly rejected defendant’s PTI application.

Her three-pronged justification was wholly proper and her denial
of defendant’s PTI application should have been affirmed by the
Appellate Division.

In reviewing PTI decisions, the role of an appellate court
is to determine “whether the prosecutor’s decision could not have
been reasonably made upon weighing the relevant factors.” Nwobu,
supra, 139 N.J. at 254. The Appellate Division cannot say that
the prosecutor’s decision here “could not have been reasonably

made” given the facts of this case.

13«
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Defendant had no pangs of conscience that caused him to
desist from his fraud. He bilked the system for as long as he
possibly could, and it ended only because his crime reached its
natural conclusion -- receipt of a culinary technician
certificate of completion. Defendant’s criminal activity “was
not of such a nature that it had to continue except for
defendant's intent and purpose to continue to offend.” State v.
Imbriani, 291 N.J. Super. 171, 182 (App. Div. 1996).

The appellate panel was also wrong to artificially focus on
the four months of false certifications when defendant’s improper
conduct continued long after that. Critically, defendant refused
to either acknowledge or repay this substantial principal debt of
$5,670 for five years. At the time defendant applied for PTI, he
had not paid one cent toward this debt. (2T4-20 to 22). Even
though defendant could have availed himself of the DOL’s civil
resolution process three years prior to his PTI application, and
could have avoided criminal prosecution altogether, defendant
failed to attend a fact-finding hearing and evaded the DOL
investigator’s attempts to contact him. (2T4-2 to 18). Only
when defendant was indicted did he seek to make restitution. He
should have done so much earlier. Therefore, defendant’s crime
against the Fund continued for years because he did not agree to
repay these illegally obtained unemployment benefits until he
pleaded guilty in 2005 almost six years after he had obtained
them.

Meanwhile, during the pendency of this fraud and thereafter,

defendant, according to his own counsel’s letter brief, was able

13
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to open a cafeteria at Mercer County Community College and open
his own personal catering business. (Dal5-16; Pa39-40). Thus,
defendant has treated these ill-gotten criminal proceeds of
$5,670 as if it were his own money, used it for his personal
benefit, and refused to repay it until he was indicted five years
later. Such a use implicates the additional crime of money
laundering. State v. Harris, 373 N.J. Super. 253, 263 (App. Div.
2004), certif. denied, 183 N.J. 257 (2005) (a defendant is guilty
of money laundering contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:21-25a if he
“possesses property known to be derived from a criminal
activity”). That the State did not charge defendant with money
laundering is of no moment. The prosecutor can look to the
actual facts of the case, especially when they are =~* in
dispute, such as in this case, to determine whether defendant
should be admitted into PTI. See generally, Imbriani, supra, 280
N.J. Super. at 316.

Given this factual backdrop, it is the “‘subjective’
evaluations” of the prosecutor for the Unemployment Insurance
Benefit Fund regarding reasonable ways to protect the integrity
of the fund for all unemployed New Jersey workers and to secure
the repayment of ill-gotten unemployment benefits sooner as
opposed to later which were absolutely relevant to her denial of
defendant’s PTI application. This Court has emphasized in no
uncertain terms that a “‘reviewing court is not permitted to
'discount the prosecutor's responsiveness to the prevailing level
of local public anxiety over certain forms of misconduct and its

proper effect upon him in choosing between the goals of public

wil~
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deterrence and the least burdensome form of rehabilitation for
the offender.’” Wallace, supra, 146 N.J. at 590 (quoting Kraft,
supra, 265 N.J. Super. at 117).

It is the prosecutor who can properly assess “the degree of
local public anxiety attaching to certain forms of misconduct,”
such as a public employee’s repeated fraud committed against the

Unemployment Insurance Benefit Fund. State v. Sutton, 80 N.J.

110, 119 (1979). This Fund exists to assist “citizens of this
state who pay into it and at times need it. [It is] to bridge
that gap” between employment and unemployment. (2T2-23 to 7-7).
This Fund does not exist to provide defendant with either
windfall income or seed money to start catering businesses.

Only as a last resort did the State seek to criminally
prosecute defendant, after years during which he refused to
acknowledge the State’s legitimate and irrefutable claim.
Defendant should not be allowed at this late juncture to avoid
criminal prosecution by entering PTI which would put him back to
exactly that position he rejected for so many years. To allow
defendant to enter PTI after years of evading the State’s
attempts to obtain restitution would establish a disincentive for
others to handle these matters earlier, prior to prosecution.
Civil resolution of the State’s claims benefits defendants in
that criminal prosecution is avoided and less interest is
accrued; the State and the public benefit because these illegally
obtained unemployment benefits zre repaid much sooner than they
otherwise would be. Both benefits would be irretrievably

compromised by rewarding defendant for his abject failure to even

18«
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respond to the DOL’'s legitimate requests for restitution over a
five-year period.

The possible value of PTI treatment for defendant was
outweighed by the public need for prosecution, given his
steadfast refusal to acknowledge the State’s claim during the
civil remedies phase, and given that the debt went unpaid for
five years. See N.J.S.A. 2C:43-12e(14); N.J.S.A.
2C:43-12e(17) (“*the harm done to society by abandoning criminal
prosecution would outweigh the benefits to be derived by society
from the channeling of this defendant into PTI”); accord
Imbriani, supra, 291 N.J. Super. at 181 (a defendant’s refusal to
settle a related civil suit is an appropriate factor to be
considered when evaluating whether a defendant should receaive
PTI). 1In this case, the State appropriately determined that the
public would benefit more from defendant’s prosecution rather
than his diversion.

The prosecutor’s decision denying defendant’s admission into
PT1 was not a patent or gross abuse of her discretion which
subverted the goals of PTI. Rather, it is the Appellate
Division’s decision, and not the prosecutor’s, which patently
subverts the goals of PTI. The court has “cherry picked” from

the prosecutor’s multi-faceted justifications one factor, the

duration of defendant’s fraud, and has examined it completely out

of context. The court skewed the analysis with the result that
the duration of a defendant’s crime is singularly determinative
of whether it constituted a continuing criminal enterprise.

Thus, the Appellate Division has established a bright line that a

«18=




defendant’'s fraud committed over a four-month period of time can
never support a finding of a continuing criminal enterprise.
This ruling ~onstitutes error. Whereas this Court has cautioned
against prosecutors establishing per se rules regarding PTI,
which by their very nature require a disregard of relevant
factors, the Appellate Division has established its own per se
rule and disregarded the prosecutor’s Qalid justifications for
denying defendant’s PTI application. Compare State V. Caligquiri,
158 N.J. 28, 44 (1999); Baynes, supra, 148 N.J. at 445 (“the
presumption that the prosecutor has considered all relevant facts
is overcome” when a defendant establishes that the prosecutor
relied on a per se rule).

The time span over which defendant committed hi. _rimes is
not determinative of whether he is entitled to PTI. Temporal

parameters can never be divorced from the attendant facts. For

instance, the Marie Court noted that “a single criminal act may
be of such consequence as to permit a prosecutorial decision
against admission to PTI” because of the nature of the offense
charged alone. Marie, supra, 200 N.J. Super. at 430. This
Court’s decision in Nwobu proves this point. While this Court
found that Nwobu’s six week second-degree fraud may not have
constituted a continuing criminal enterprise because ordinarily
“‘a continuing criminal business or enterprise’ in Guideline 3 (I)
is predicated on more long-standing criminal involvement,” this
Court nonetheless affirmed the prosecutor’s denial of defendant’s
PTI application. Nwobu, supra, 139 N.J. at 251. The nature of

Nwobu’s offense, a second-degree fraud, was the most significant

17
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Court’s guidance, this case “presents a question of general
public importance which has not been but should be settled by”
this Court. R. 2:12-4.
| CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully urges that
certification be granted.
Respectfully submitted,
STUART RABNER
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C. Complete this Section only if you worked or received holiday or vacation pay during the weeks claimed. If you returned to work FULL
#2 and #3. DO NOT complete items #4 and #5. If you are claiming PARTIAL

by youremp!oyar.ORconvletenem #4 and have your employer complete item #5.

BENEFITS, complete items #1, #2, and #3. Mail proof

“TIME, complete items #°
of your earnings, signe

1 Did you return to work: [0 FULL TIME

[0 PART TIME 4 WEEK 1 WEEK 2
If you returned to work full-time, enter date .
nda:
Occupation and Sundey
Rate of pay: $ ¢ Per Monday
Are you still working? O YES O NO Tuesday
If NO, enter last day of work and explain why in
REMARKS below. Wednesday
D EMPLOYER NAME Thursday
ADDRESS Friday
Saturday
CITY, STATE, ZIP Telephone
el [ ]S | o[ s :]l
3 Enlertmunmmavoummwnednmmwidayummnpuy

WEEK 1|$ WEEK 2 |$

REMARKS:

5 Verification of Partial Earnings

Employer Instructions: Review the information provided by the claimant to ensure

that it is accurate. If correct, complete the

employer certification below. If incorrect,
'pleaseprwideowactlrﬂmﬁm.EnployeetbsMUSTbelncbdodinﬂnomss

wages.
Employw(;eniﬁeaﬁon:Theabweindellhuacoeptodallworkad

earned less than full-time remuneration as shown above.

e

Tite Tei#( )

{30

i




B T

C. Complete this Section only if you worked or received holida;
#2 and #3. DO NOT complete items #4 and #5. If you are

by your employer, OR complete item #4 and have your employer complete item #5.

or vacation pay during the weeks claimed. If you retu.. 2d to work FULL-TIME, complete items #
claiming PARTIAL BENEFITS, complete items #1, #2, and #3. Mail proof of your earnings, signe

1 Didyouretumtowork: [J FULLTIME  [J PART TIME 4 WEEK 1 WEEK 2
If you returned to work full-time, enter date ¥
Occupation and o
Rate of pay: $ Per Monday
Are you still working? O YES O NO Tuesday
If NO, enter last day of work and explain why in
REMARKS below. Wednesday
2 EMPLOYER NAME Thunday
ADDRESS Friday
Saturday
CITY, STATE, ZIP Telephone
Total [ |s Total s |
3 Ente the amount of gross wages you earmed inchudng hodey or vacstonpey | 55 grification of Partial Earnings
WEEK 1|$ WEEK 2 | $ Employer Instructions: Review the information provided by the claimant to ensure
; that it is accurate. If correct, complete the employer certification below. If incorrect,
please provide correct information. Employee tips MUST be included in the gross
REMARKS:

wages.
EnpbyerCenmuon:Theabovelndeudhumeptedallwkoﬂmdand
earned less than full-time remuneration as shown above.

St X

Title

Tol# ( )
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: C. Complete this Section only if youworkedornecelved holiday or vacation pay dunngtheweeks claimed IfywraturnedtoworkFULLﬂME complete items
#2 and #3. DO NOT complete items #4 and #5. If you are claiming PARTIAL BENEFITS, complete items #1, #2, and #3. Mail proof of your eamings, sk
by your employer, ORcormleieKem#-tandhaveywrenpbyeroormletensmls

1 Didyuretumtowork [J FULLTIME [0 PART TIME 4 WEEK1 _ WEEK 2
Hyouretumedtowkfull time, enter date g
ot Sunday
Rate of pay: $ Per Wondey
Are you still working? [ YES O NO Tuesday
If NO, enter last day of work —_ and explain why in
REMARKS below. Wednesday
2 EMPLOYER NAME Thum‘.hy
Friday
Saturday
CITY, STATE, ZIP Telephone
Total |s || ot ( | $

3 Enter Qhemmdgroumcyouunndlmmmyormnmm

WEEK 1|$ WEEK 2 | $

REMARKS:

?
B
i}
|
q ADDRESS
|
|
|
4
|
|
!
|

5 Verification of Partial Earnings

Employer Instructions: Review the information provided by the claimant to enst
that it is accurate. If correct, complete the employer certification below. If incorre
pleaseprovldeoorrocﬂnformatbn Employee tips MUST be included in the gro

Ernplo Certification: The above individual has accepted all work offered &
eamodlonttnnfdlhnmumﬁonudwn

Sgranre X

Title Tele )

S i A AL




. Complete this Section mryrfyouwomadormcecvadhdidayorvacatbnpaydunmthewseksdajmed Ifyouretumad toworkFULL-ﬂME complete items #-
#2 and #3. DO NOT complete items #4 and #5. If you are claiming PARTIAL BENEFITS, complete items #1, #2, and #3. Mail proof of your earnings, signe
by your employer, OR complete item #4 and have your employer complete item #5.

1 Didyouretumtowork: [J FULLTIME  [J PART TIME 4 WEEK 1

WEEK 2
If you returned to work full-time, enter date .

Gross Wage:
Occupation
Rate of pay: $ Per
Are you still working? O Yes O nNo

NO, enter lastdayofwork ___________________ and explain why in
REMARKS below.

2 EMPLOYER NAME

R R ——

ADDRESS

Friday
Saturday

CITY, STATE, ZIP Telephone

: Total | [s || vo| [s ||
3 Enter the amount of gross wages you earned inchudi .

5 \Verification of Partial Earnings

WEEK 1|$ WEEK 2 Employer Instructions: Review the information provided by the claimant to ensure

that it is accurate. If correct, complete the employer certification below. If incarrect,
pleeseprwideoonectlnformaﬂon Employee tips MUST be included in the gross
REMARKS:

Employa'Cerﬂfbeﬁon:mabmlndmhaaacoeptedaummwetsdm
earned less than full-time remuneration as shown above.

Soranr X

Title
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C. Complete this Section only if you worked

or received holiday or vacation pay during

£

returned to work FULL-TIME, complete items #

the weeks claimed. if

#2 and #3. DO NOT complete items #4 and #5. If you are clairming PARTIAL BENEFITS, complete items #1, #2,ar" ~~ “Mail proof of your earnings, signe
by your employer, OR complete item #4 and have your employer complete item #5.

1 Did youreturn to work: [J FULL TIME [0 PART TIME 4 WEEK1 WEEK 2
If you returned to work full-time, enter date 3
Sunda
Occupation and Y
Rate of pay: $ _ Per Monday
Are you still working? O YES O NO Tuesday
If NO, enter last day of work and explain why in
REMARKS below. Wednesday
D EMPLOYER NAME Thursday
ADDRESS Friday
CITY, STATE, ZIP . o

3 Enter tmwmdmmmwmﬂkﬂmmh&ymmw

WEEK 1 WEEK 2 | $

REMARKS:

O

5 Verification of Partial Earnings

Total $

- Employer Instructions: Review the information provided by the claimant to ensure

Mﬂisacwmte.“wmct,wroletemeemioyercerﬁﬂcaﬁmbem.nlmct
p!easeprwidelenformatbn.EmpbyeetbsMUSTbelncbdedinthegmss

wages.
Employer Certification: The above individual has accepted all work offered and
earned less than full-time remuneration as shown above.

Sormin X

Title Tel# ( )

Pa6




C. Complete this Section only if you worked or received holiday or vqcation pay during the weeks claimed. If you returned to

#2 and #3. DO NOT complete items #4

andls.NywaredaimngPA

RTIAL BENEFITS, complete items #1, #2, and #3. Mail proof of your earnings, signec

by your employer, OR complete item #4 and have your employer complete item #5.

1 Didyoureturnto work: [0 FULL TIME [J PART TIME 4 WEEK1 WEEK 2
If you returned to work full-time, enter T SRS Sa
i Sunda
Occupation and Y
Rate of pay.s_______—._—Pef_,__ﬁ Monday
Are you still working? O YES O NO Tuesday
If NO, enter last day of work __________._—andexphlnumwn
REMARKS below. Wednesday
2 EMPLOYER NAME mm
ADDRESS Friday
Saturday
CITY, STATE, ZIP Telephone
Total ‘ l s ‘ Total r s ‘

3 Emuxm-mmdmum-ywwmmmwumw

WEEK 1 WEEK 2

REMARKS:

5 Verification of Partial Earnings

Employer Instructions: Review the information provided by the claimant to ensure
mthiswwmte.nmcondeteﬁ\eenupbyeroemﬂcaﬁmbebw.nmrect
please provide correct information. Employee tips MUST be included in the gross

wages.
mpbyerCertlﬂeeﬁon:Thoabowlndmnlhuacceptedallworkoﬂemdand

E

earned less than full-time remuneration as shown above.
Employer’ 3

Title Tol#( )

work FULL-TIME, complete items #1 ’




O

by your employer, OR complete item #4 and have your employer complete item #5.

C. Complete this Section only if you worked or received holiday or vacation pay during the weeks clai
#2 and #3. DO NOT complete items #4 and #5. If you are claiming PARTIAL BENEFITS, complete items

imed. If you returned to work FULL-TIME, complete items # 1
#1, #2, and #3. Mail proof of your earnings, signe

1 Didyoureturntowork: [0 FULLTIME  [J PART TIME

If you returned to work full-time, enter date 2

4 WEEK 1

WEEK 2

Hours Gross Wages

Occupation and

Rate of pay: $ Per
Are you still working? O YES O No
i NO, enter lastdayof work . and explain why in
REMARKS below. Wednesday
2 EMPLOYER NAME Thursday
ADDRESS Friday

Saturday

CITY, STATE, ZIP Telephone

3 Enter the amount of gross wages you earned including holiday or vacation pay

WEEK 1|$ WEEK 2 | $

REMARKS:

Employer Instructions:

=Y o ] B C—

5 Verification of Partial Earnings

Review the information provided by the claimant to ensure

that it is accurate. If correct, complete the employer certification below. If incorrect,
please provide correct information. Employee tips MUST be included in the gross

wages.
EmpbyerGerﬁfbatmeMabovelndmnlhmaocmdmmOmdmd
earned less than full-time remuneration as shown above.

Sormion X

Title

Tele( )

Pad%

P o s
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MERCER COTINTY COMMUNITY COLLEGE
JAMES KERNEY CAMPUS

CAREER TRAINING INSTITUTE

THIS CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION IS AWARDED TO
FOR HAVING EARNED THE CERTIFICATE OF

CULINARY TECHNICIAN

; PRESENTED THIS 4TH DAY OF JUNE, 1999
. é;nn (t(mmNA"é E




AS A RESULT OF AN INVESTIGATION OF Y

AT SOME TIME DURING

NEW JERSEY

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR

BUREAU OF BENEFIT PAYMENT CONTROL

CHARLES  WATKINS III
67 GENERAL GREEN AVE
TRENTON, NJ 08618

THE WEEK(S) LISTED BELOW,

ED UNEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS.

DATE OF MAILING:

SSN:

9-12-00

136-62-9156

~-~BENEFITS——

PAID ALLOWED
HOSP 215 Q0 .00
HOSP 215.00 .00
HOSP 315.00 .00
HOSP 315.00 .00
HOSP 315.00 .00
HOSP 315.00 .00
HOSP 315.00 .00
HOSP 315.00 .00
HOSP 315.00 .00
HOSP 315.00 .00
HOSP 315.00 .00
HOSP 315.00 .00
HOSP 315.00 .00
HOSP 315.00 .00
HOSP 315.00 .00
HOSP 315.00 .00
HOSP 315.00 .00
HOSP 315.00 .00

TOTAL AMOUNT OVERPAID

BEER - meemee INCOME——— EMPLOYER

PAID REPORTED EARNED
01/23/99 .00 385.93TRENTON PSYCH
01/30/99 00 482.41|TRENTON PSYCH
02/06/99 00 482.41 TRENTON PSYCH
02/13/99 .00 578.89;TRENTON PSYCH
02/20/99 .00 482.42,TRENTON PSYCH
02/27/99 .00 385.93 TRENTON PSYCH
03/06/99 .00 482.41 TRENTON PSYCH
03/13/99 .00  482.41 TRENTON PSYCH
03/20/99 .00 asz.ulrmrr_on PSYCH
03/27/99 .00 578.89:TRENTON PSYCH
04/03/99 .00 385.93.TRENTON PSYCH
04/10/99 .00 578.89 TRENTON PSYCH
04/17/99 .00 482.41 TRENTON PSYCH
04/24/99 .00 378.21 TRENTON PSYCH
05/01/99 .00 482.41 TRENTON PSYCH
05/08/99 .00 464.32 TRENTON PSYCH
05/15/99 .00 470.35 TRENTON PSYCH
05/22/99 .00- 385.93 TRENTON PSYCH

ACCORDINGLY,

CUTION PURSUANT TO N.J.S.A.

NeCIr R12/794

43:21-5(G) .

bNRK

Pa20

YOU MAY BE SUBJECT TO REFUND, DISQUALIFICATION. FIN
(SEE REVERSE FOR EXTRACT

OUR UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE CLAIN, EVIDENCE
HAS BEEN OBTAINED THAT YOU MAY HAVE BEEN EMPLOYED BY THE EMPLOYER (S) SHOWN BELOW

DURING WHICH TIME YOU ALSO RECEIV-

AMOUNT
OVERPAID
315.00
315.00
315.00
315.00
315.00
315.00
315.00
315.00
315.00
315.00
315.00
315.00
315.00
315.00
315.00
315.00
315.00
315.00

$5,670.00

ES AND/OR PROSE-
OF THIS STATUTE)




SCHEDULE OF OVFRPAYMENTS

136-62-9156 10 5/24/98  CHARLES WATKINS III
- WEEK | BENEFITS | - WAGES AMOUNT-
ENDING PAID EARNED OVERPAID
1723199 |, 315 385.00 315.00
1s30799° | © 315 482.00 315.00
2/06/99 | 315 482.00 315.00
2/13/99\": 7 345 578.00 315.00
2/20/99 Hirss 315 482.00 315.00
2/27/99 i 315 385.00 315.00
3106198 |, 315 482.00 315.00
D of ey .
3/13/99 315 482.00 315.00
3/20/9¢_ |, 315 482.00 315.00
ss27705" 1184315 578.00 315.00
4703799 815 385.00 315.00
710095 42717 545 578.00 315.00
4717199 |, 315 482.00 315.00
4/24/9:’\# “2('-/"'4315 378.00 315.00
5/0”99\ R 482.00 315.00
5/08/99 . (“/6’7 315 464.00 315.00
5/15/99 315 470.00 315.00
5722799~ £ 119 315 385.00 315.00

TOTAL OVERPAYMENT INCLUDING FINES

S

Pa23




SREE: 62
DIVISION OF UNE4PLOYMENT AND DISABILITY INSURANCE DATE: 00/09/08
LOOPS REFUND ENTRY REPORT (BPC-308)

: BART185 NEW DIRSEY PARTMENT OF LABOR

****************************************************++**************************
D060 SSN:. 136-62-9156 PC: 10 DOC: 05/24/98

EXAMINER PRIMARY DETERM REPORT SEP POSS REF  DETECT

NO ISSUE CODE ABLE CODE TYPE CODE ;
917 20 2 2 2 1 308 ;
ISSUE CODE START DATE END DATE /
20 01/17/99 05/22/99 /
/ on
PRINCIPAL: 5670.00 PENALTY: 1417.50 /* /=77
R fe?
*1’:3’:********'k7\'****'k***********************************************x:‘(**********7‘* ‘
AO4O SSN: 136-62-9156  PC: 10 DOC: 05/24/98 /
OLD NEW DETECTION CODE: 308
CWE DATE EARNINGS EARNINGS REFUND TYPE: 1
i 01/23/99 0.00 385.93
01/30/99 0.00 482.41
02/06/99 0.00 482.41
02/13/99 0.00 578.89
02/20/99 0.00 482.42
02/27/99 0.00 385.93
03/06/99 0.00 482.41
: 03/13/99 0.00 482.41
'’ 03/20/99 0.00 482.41
i 03/27/99 0.00 578.89
oLD NEW DETECTION CODE: 308
CWE DATE EARNINGS EARNINGS REFUND TYPE: 1
04/03/99 0.00 385.93
04;10599 0.00 578.89
04/17/99 0.00 482.41 g o
04/24/99 0.00 378.21 1 R MEDTIE Pdie
05/01/99 0.00 482.41 K113, in SRR
05/08/99 0.00 464.32 L3 pobel o 1 FA SEITS
05/15/99 0.00 470.35 WAL lPRYNER
05/22/99 0.00 385.93 €] Eu™  1:D/X0 eqvt “HTS
it L s2fANe S
1 & . CLAM
\ *******k**************'k***********k******t*************** 3 i

RO30 SSN: 136-62-9156 PC: 10 DOC: 05/24/98
o EMP NAME:TRENTON PSYCHIATRIC HOSPITAL
WAIT WEEK IS UNKNOWN

REMARKS: ,

PREPARED BY: SANDY ALPHONSE ENTERED BQ:

Pa24
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- State of New Jersey
- DEPARTMENT OF LAW AND PUBLIC SAFETY

DrvisioN oF CRIMINAL JUSTICE
PO Box 085

Perer C. Harvey - - - - - : - - ~TrenToR, NJ 08625-0085 - : VauGan L. McKoy
Attorney General TELEPHONE (609) 984-6500 Director

" December 30, 2003

Mr. Charles A. Watkins III
67 General Green Avenue
Trenton, NJ 08618

Re: State of New Jersey v. Charles A. Watkins ITT
DCJ No. 2003-2454-S

Dear Mr. Watkins: !
. 3
The New Jersey Department of Labor, Division of Unemployment and Disability
Insurance, has referred information regarding your claims for Unemployment Insurance Benefits
to this office for criminal prosecution. This information is currently being reviewed and may be

presented to a Grand Jury for indictment.

I ask that you or your attorney contact State Investigator Gary O’Brien by January 9,
2004 to advise us of your position regarding these charges. SI O’Brien may be reached at (609)
292-4995. ;

SI O’Brien will be happy to discuss this matter with you or your attorney in an effort to
arrive at a mutually acceptable disposition of this matter. !

j |

smé’dﬁ % f
David W. Kiefer

Deputy Attorney General
c¢: SI Gary O’Brien :

m New Jersey Is An Equal Opportunity Employer
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State of New Jersey
DEPARTMENT OF LAW AND PUBLIC SAFETY
DivisioN oF CRIMINAL JUSTICE

PO Box 085
PETER C. HARVEY - Eee TrenToN; NJ 08625-0085 - VaucanL: McKoy
Attorney General TeLEPHONE (609) 984-6500 Director
January 5, 2004

Mr. Charles A. Watkins ITIT
67 General Green Avenue
Trenton, NJ 08618

Re: State of New Jersey v. Charles A. Watkins ITI
DCJ No. 2003-2454-S

Dear Mr. Watkins:

Based upon a recent investigation, it is the State’s position that you wrongfully obtained
unemployment insurance benefits by representing that you were unemployed while working for
Trenton Psychiatric Hospital. Such an offense is a third degree violation of N.J.S.A. 2C:20-4

(Theft by Deception) and a fourth degree violation of N.J.S.A. 2C:28-3a (Unsworn Falsification
to Authorities). ;

I am writing to you in an attempt to resolve this matter before presenting it to a State
Grand Jury for indictment. If you are represented by an attorney, please provide this letter to him
or her and review it with him or her as soon as possible. This offer will remain open until

January 16, 2004. If written acceptance is not received by this office on or before that date, the
offer will expire.

Sentencing Exposure

The violation of N.J.S.A. 2C:20-4 charged in the Accusation carries a statutory range of
up to five years imprisonment and a $15,000 fine, restitution, or both. In addition, you will be
required to pay a VCCB assessment of $50, N.J.S.A. 2C:43-3.1, a Safe Neighborhoods
assessment of $75, N.J.S.A. 2C:43-3.2, and a Law Enforcement Officers Training Fund
assessment of $30, N.J.S.A. 2C:43-3.2.

Agreements

Conditioned on the understandings specified below, the State of New Jersey will file with
the Court an Accusation, charging one count of third degree Theft By Deception, in violation of

m New Jersey Is An Equal Opportunity Employer




Page 2

N.JS.A. 2C:20-4 and one count of fourth degree Unsworn Falsification to Authorities in
violation of N.J.S.A. 2C:28-3a.

You and the State of New Jersey agree to the following terms and conditions o
sentencing, subject to the approval of the Court: :

(@

®)

©

APPROVED:

The State of New Jersey will recommend a period of non-custodial probation
conditioned upon full restitution to the State of New Jersey, Department of Labor
in the amount of $7,610.78 and the execution of a Civil Consent Judgment
described in paragraph (b) below in exchange for a guilty plea on the count of

third degree Theft By Deception in the Accusation. If you fully comply with the -

terms of this agreement, this Office will not bring any further charges against you
relating to the above-captioned matter.

You shall enter into a Civil Consent Judgment for the full restitution amount.

The Civil Consent Judgment shall provide that upon default on your restitution
payments, the State may execute said judgment, less credit fc: .. , payments
made. . The Civil Consent Judgment shall be entered by the Cuurt at the time of
sentencing. The Civil Consent Judgment shall be in addition to, and not to the
exclusion of any other rights that the State might have as a result of any failure to
make restitution payments.

You shall forfeit your employment with the Trenton Psychiatric Hospital and any
other position with the state of New Jersey that you currently hold.

Howey £ Locviae

Nancy L! Faust, Chief
Labor Prosecutions Unit

Pa27
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 BUPERIOR COUET. OF N2,

-l:leE[" . .SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
5 : LAW DIVISION - CRIMINAL

w-m 2004 State Grand Jury :
v . Number SGJ489-04-2
DONAZD E. PHELAN: Superior Court : V1-00008-S
CLERK Docket Number 04 =91 = 3

STATE OF NEW JERSEY )

| ) . INDICTMENT
CHARLES A. WATKINS III )

The Grand Jurors of and for the State of New Jersey,

upon their oaths, present that:

COUNT ONE

- (Theft By Deception-Third Degree)

CHARLES A. WATKINS IIT
. between on or about May 24, 1998 and on or about May. 22, i999,_ét
.the'City of Trentdn, in thé County of Mercer, élsewhere, andi
within the juriédiction of this Court,- purposely didvobtain by
.deception property of the State of New Jersey valued in excess of
$500; that is, the said CHARLES A. WATKINS III did purposely 4
obtain unemployment insurance beﬁefit; in the amount of'$5,670.00:
by submiﬁting or causing to be.submitted docuﬁenté for
unempioyment insurance benefits to the State of New Jeréey,

thereby creating or reinforcing false impressions to the State of

New Jersey that the said CHARLES A. WATKINS III was unemployed;

Pa28




B . " o

WHEREAS IN TRUTH AND.IN FACT, as the said CHARLES A. WATKINS

III then and there well knew, he was employed, all contrary to

the provisions of N.J.§.A. 2C:20-4, and against the peace of this

-State,  the government —land- dignity of the same. -

Pa29
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COUNT TWO
(Unsworn'Falsification tc Autﬁorities—Fourth Degreej
- CHARLES A. WATKINS III

on or about February 1]19§9, at the City of Trenton, in the
County of Mercer, elsewhere, and-within the jurisdlctlon of this
Court, knowingly did make a written false statement which he did
not believe tod be true on or pursuant to a form bearing notice,
authorized by law, to the effect that false statements made
therein are punishabie; that is, .the said CHARLES A..WA$KINS III
did .make and suﬁﬁit or cause tq'pe submitted Unemployment .
Insurance Benefit check number 18051264 dated Februaryll, 1999,
containing a false statement thatvthe said CﬁARLES A.- WATKINS III
did reéort_all earnings and holiday or vacation pay and otherwise
"met all eligibility requirements to receive unemPIOYment
insurance benefrts for the weeks ending January 23, 1999 and
January 30, 1999 and said form bearing notice, authorized by law,

to the effect that false statements made therein are punlshable,

contrary to the prov151ons of u,g S.A. 2C 28-3a, and agalnst the

peace of this State, the government and dlgnity of the same.

TERRENCE .HULL, Chiief Nk
Major Financial Crimes Bureau

Foreperson

Pa30
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 obtain an extension of unemplo

\ i

e of New Jersey :
g D mL‘:mP:me?“ ' Perer C. Harvey
- ) W AND PusLIC SArETY Attorney General
James B. McGresvey or G i ks
oty FLL R O8O0 Vavasv L. McKoy
% > | o (hae0 - Direcror
5 . ApAl19,2004 - - - c---oo- - --mee-

. Janet VanFossen, Assistant Divisio*dm’szu
Superior Court of New Jersey
. Mercer Criminal Division

Court House, Room 105
Trenton, New Jersey 08650 .

‘Re:  Charles Watkins IIT

Dear Ms. VanFossen:

‘l'his)m;smresponseto admmion ofChnlesWadnnsmmtoMercer C-‘ J
Pre-Trial Intervention Program. Fogthe following reasons the State must withhold its wn:un
from Mr. Watkins’ admission into the diversionary program.

As your postponement ordegindicated, & two-count indictment was returned on January.
29, 1004 charging Charles Watkins JiI with theft by deception (third degres) and unswom
falsification to authorities (fourth ). These charges are based on misrepresentations that
Mr. Watkins made to the New J Department of Labor (DOL) in order to receive
unemployment benefits to which hgjwas not entitled. Mr. Watkins began
unemployment insurance benefits if May 1998 when he was temporarily laid-off from Trenton
Psychiatric Hospital. -Mr. Watkins oyment benefits were extended in 1999 under the
“Additional Benefits During Trainigg Program™ (ABT) whereby certain “cligible” claimants may
insurance benefits while pursing education and job training
skills to enhance their employment ppportunities. Mr, Watkins pursued a degree at the
community college while recei benefits under the ABT program but knowingly failed to
report his re-employment with the n Psychiatric Hospital to the Department of Labor. -

BetweenJi.nuary 23, 1999 uahMly 22, 1999 Mr. Watkins cashed nine -
unemployment checks, all of whicl required him to cestify that he was unemployed, collecting
$5,670 in unemployment benefits. upon his eamings at Trenton Psychiatric Ho!p(_tll

m Now Jarowy s An MWM-M&!M-J&W ‘
EXHIBIT A '

Pa3l
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during this time period, Mr. ‘Watkins fras not entitled fo any of this money.

The facts of this case indicateghat the fraud oonﬁnued&,aml’mmrytoMay_lm.'aﬁve-
month period of time, involving nine feparate instances where Mr. Waetkins lied about his :
nt status in order to cash w mbym_em.chepk&_AchrdinwithtLe_SWh position -
i i Guideline 3(i)(2) of Rule 3:28 as a continuing
PTL Mr. Watkins committed a substantial fraud
c#cumstances surrounding this case coupled with his status as
. tha&heisnotgmgmbletouehnbiﬁuﬁvemous. v

Finally, although there are nogexplicit per se rules excluding offenders from PTI .
eligibility, the statute provides that “bupervisory treatment should ordinarily be limited to
persons who have not. -previously bee convicted of any criminal law . : . N.J.S.A. 2C:43-12a.,
~ "According to NCIC, Charles Watking bas a 1990 municipal court conviction for receiving stolen
property. Obviously Mr. Watkins pdfer expericnce with the criminal justics systems has not had
a significant deterrent effect on hins dnd further indicating that he is not 2 suitable candidate for
PTIL ; :

In conclusion, the State has gmsidered all relcvant and material factors pertaining to Mr.
. Watkins PTI application and concluges that he is not a candidate amendable to the diversionary
process and accordingly, must withi4 -

054 O £ S R




James E. MCGREEVEY James DAVY
Governor . : DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES Commissioner
DIVISION OF MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES Chiaci P Sas
TRENTON PSYCHIATRIC HOSPITAL - Chief Executive Officer
OFFICE OF COOPERATIVE LABOR RELATIONS
o ol R e K 5 “Tel (609) 633-1500 -~~~
In reply respond to:
P.O. Box 7500
'WEST TRENTON, NJ 08628
April 26, 2004
Denise Grugan, Esq.
Labor Prosecutions Unit .
Division of Criminal Justice
25 Market Street
PO Box 085 ;
Trenton, New Jersey 08625-0085
4 RECEIVED
RE: Charles Watkins, lll APR 2 § 2004
) DOB: 13-19-66 " B UNT

Dear Ms. Grugan:

This letter is regarding the above referenced Trenton Psychiatric Hospital employee
who was indicted on January 29, 2004 for theft by deception, third degree and
falsification to authorities, fourth degree (NJSA 2C:20-4 and NJSA 2C:28-3a). :
A conviction of this charge would impact on this individual's continued employment due
to various State Statues including NJSA 2C:51-2 and 30:4-3.5.

| am requesting your cooperation to consult with me prior to entering into any
disposition of the charges that may impact on this facility's ability to comply with the
above mentioned statutes. | look forward to hearing from you regarding this matter.

s A b st S S

Sincerely,

v )ﬁé&%
| Gregory P. Roberts

Chief Executive Officer
Phone: (609) 633-1588
FAX: (609) 396-5701

J Enclosure: Title 4A:2-2.7 with case notes

C: Linda W. Rutskin, ERC
File

New Jersey Is An Equal Opportunity Employer e Printed on Recycled Paper and Recyclable

n.A"




rw_JAminary Notuce or viscipiunary ACL b ]
DEPARTMENT OF PERSONNEL - STATE OF NEW JERSEY

iTRUCTIONS: Thhnotieomwbaoervedonapomnuﬂomploynoranmployuumwawoddngtutporbdlnmoelaulﬂodurvbowmmomonho
:mdngtypeofdbdpﬂmryactbnkcorﬁetnpldnd:(a)smmbnuhdmwﬂvodaysatomﬁme:@)wcmmumnnmmmmnnosouoran
|reoatedmfw\anﬂﬂ-mdmhwmhnduyun(c)dhdphrydomouontm.wnnmmmunpbyoehaspommmommmeempbyeehu
eived a regular appointment; (d) removal (e) resignation not in good standing. Awwdmpmmmmmwummummwowmomdpemm,
:sequem:at;mdnydhnnmwmlppohﬂngauthany.mmployunndmoDepMmundPersonmlmudbaurvodwﬂhFomDPF-m B, Final Notice of
ciplinary n. %

JURISDICTION (Local Service) DEPARTMENT:
FROM: : " | Human Services
DIVISION, IRSTITUTION OR AGENCY STATE PAYROLL NUMBER ADDRESS i DATE
TRENTON PSYCHIATRIC HOSP 641 POB 7500, W Trenton, NJ 08628 4/26/04
NAME OF EMPLOYEE TITLE SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER
T0: Charles Watkins Human Services Technician 136-62-9156
STREET CITY AND STATE
67 General Green Avenue Trenton, New Jersey 08618

You are hereby notified that ma'folovdng charge(s) has been made against you:
(If necessary, use additional sheets and attach.)

CHARGE(S): SPECIFICATION(S): .
You have been charged under the following statute: On January 29, 2004, you were Indicted with violating NJSA 2C:20-4
N.J.S.A. 2C:20-4 and N.J.S.A. 2C:28-3a. and NJSA 2C:28-3a.

NOTE: It is your responsibility to immediately notify your employer of
the outcome of this pending indictment. Fallure to provide timely
notice will Impact on any determination to reinstate you and/or any
entitiement to back pay. :

NOTE: N.J.S.A. 2C:51-2 may apply to you and you may

choose to consult with an attorney concerning the provisions
of that statute.

[ i checked, charges are d on attached page [T1 # checked, specifications are continued on attached page

2 You are hereby suspended effective _April26,2004 with pay pending the outcome of the indictment in

accordance with NJAC 4A:2-2.7
(Check box and indicate if employee is suspended pending final disposition of the matter)

& IF YOU DESIRE A DEPARTMENTAL HEARING ON THE ABOVE CHARGE(S), NOTIFY THIS OFFICE WITHIN
17__ * DAYS OF RECEIPT OF THIS FORM. IF YOU REQUEST A DEPARTMENTAL HEARING IT WILL BE HELD

ON ,2002 at (time) at (place of hearing)
* Must be minimum of five days
The following disciplinary action may be taken against you:
D Suspension for working days, beginning and ending
E Removal, effective (date) TO BE DETERMINED
[0 oemotion o posttion ot _ effective (date),
D Resignation not in good standing, effective (date)
O Fine$_____________ whichlsequalto days pay D Other disciplinary action: _ (expiain on
Amount attached page)
SIONATURE  lgepy Ly dedony () TILE  Complex Administrator
Elaine Candelorl i
(App Authoriy or agent) ¢
NOTICE: Your health Insurance coverage may be affected by this action; check with your Personnel Office.
NAME AND TITLE OF SERVER DATE SERVED
PERSONAL
method | (] service Q
ot
Service e CERTIFIED OR Give date receipt by employee or agent as shown regular mail and
(Check One) REGISTERED MAIL Q on return receipt postal card and the recelpt number: 700103200002372367"
“DISTRIBUTION. [ - Green (Emeiems Tord), Fink (Managemen Goldenrod (Deparment of Personnel)

Pa34




ATTACHMENT 1

TRENTON PSYCHIATRIC HOSPITAL

NOTICE OF INFORMAL PRETERMINATION HEARING

NAME OF EMPLOYEE: Charles Watkins, Human Services Techniclan

_ You are hereby notified to attend the required informal pretermination hearing,
which has been scheduled as follows:

DATE: April 30, 2004
TIME:- 10:00 a.m.

PLACE: EMPLOYEE RELATIONS CONFERENCE ROOM
STRATTON BUILDING/THIRD FLOOR

A summary of the evidence supporting the stated charge(s) cnd specification(s)
Is as follows: : :

o Copy of indictment, Count One (Theft by Deception - Third Dégree) and Count
Two (Unsworn Falsification to Authorities — Fourth Degree) .

You are hereby notified that during this hearing you will be given the opportunity
to respond to the charges and supporting evidence. You may do this through

testimony.or documentary evidence. You will not be required to testify, you may
be cross-examined.

The purpose of this hearing Is to determine if there are reasonable grounds to
believe the charges are supported by the evidence or that the charges should be
dismissed. You will receive a written declsion. ;

Pa35
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4A:2—2 6

DEP’I‘ OF PERSONNEL

*-(c) The parties shall have the opportumty to review- the

evidence supporting the charges and present and examine -

witnesses. The employee shall not be required to testify,

but an employee who does testify will-be subject to cross-

examination.

(d) Within 20 days of the hearing, or such additional time
as agreed to by the parties, the appointing’ authority shall
make a decision on the charges and furnish the employee
either by personal service or certified mail with a Final
Nouce of Disciplinary Actron

Case Notes-
Due process. _Cnn' v. Sharp, C.A, 454 F.2d 271 (1971).

wh

of administrative remedies. City of New
Brunsvnck v. Speights, 157 N.J.Super.. 9, 38¢ A2d 225 (Co.1978).

- Res. judxcela delay in hearing: limits on de novo heanng In re
Darc.y 114 N.J.Super. 454, 277 A.2d 226 (1971).

Receipt of second copy of final notice of disciplinary sction did not
extend time for filing appeal. Russ v. Human Services Depnmnent, 95
N.J.AR.2d (CSV) 647. z

Public employee volununly and deliberately planned his nonappear-
ance at’ hearing and was not entitled to further hearing. Cue v.
Camden County, 92 N.J.A.R.2d (CSV) 131.

4A:2-2.7 Actions involving criminal matters

(a) When an appointing authority suspends an employee.
based on a pending criminal complaint or indictment, the
employee must be served with a Preliminary Notice of
Disciplinary Action. The notice should include a statement
that N.J.S.A. 2C:51-2 may apply to the employee, and that
the employee may choose to consult wn.h an attomey con-
cemmg the provisions of that statute.

1. The employee may request a departmental hearing
within five days of receipt of the Notice. If no request is
made within this time, or such additional time as agreed
to by the appointing authority or as provided in a negoti-’
ated agreement, the appointing authority may then issue a
Final Notice of Disciplinary. Action under (a)3 below. A
hearing shall be limited to the issue of whether the public
interest would best be served by suspending the employee
until disposition of the criminal complaint or indictment.’
The standard for determining that issue shall be whether
the employee is unfit for duty or is a hazard to any person
if permitted to remain on the job, or that an immediate
suspension is necessary to maintain safety, health, order
or effective direction of public services.

2. The appointing authority may impose an indefinite
suspension to extend beyond six months where an em-
ployee is subject to criminal charges as set forth in
N.J.A.C. 1A:2-2.5(a)2, but not beyond the disposition of
the criminal complaint or indictment.

Supp. 4-102 2.28

" 3. Where the, appomnng amhonty determines that an
.~ indefinite suspenkxon should be imposed, a Final Notice' _
_of .Disciplinary Action shall be issued stating that the -
" employee has been indefinitely suspended pending dispo- -
sition of the criminal complaint or indictment." -

: (b) When a court has entered an order of forfeiture
pursuam to N.J.S.A. 2C:51-2, the appointing authority shall
notify the employee in writing of the forfeiture and record
the forfeiture in the employee’s personnel records. The
appointing authority shall also forward a’ copy of this notifi-
cation to the Department of Personnel:

1 If the criminal action does not result in‘an order of
forfeiture issued by the court pursuant to NJS.A.
2C:51-2, the appointing authority shall issue a second
Prehmmary Notice of Disciplinary Action specifying any
remaining charges against the employee upon final dispo-
sition of the criminal complaint or indictment. The ap-
pointing authority shall ’hen proceed under N.J.A.C.
4A:2-2.5 and 2.6.

(c) Where an employee has pled guilty or been convicted
of a crime or offense which is cause for forfeiture of
employment under N.J.S.A. 2C:51-2 but the court has not
entered an order of forfeiture, the appointing authority mgy
seek forfeiture by applying t~ **~ court for an order of .
forfeiture. The appointing auth~rity shall not hold a depart-
mental hearing regarding the issue of the applicability of

- NJ.S.A. 2C:51-2. If the court declines to enter an order of .

* forfeiture in response to the appointing authority’s applica-
tion, the appointing authority may hold a departmental
hearing regarding other -disciplinary charges, if any, as pro-
vided in (b)1 abo

Amended by R.1989.d.569, effective November 6, 1989
See: 21 NJ.R. 1766(a), 21 N.J.R. 3448(b).
In (a)1: added text, “The standard . .. public services.” -
Amended by R.1992 d.414, effective October 19, 1992
See: 24 NJR 2491(a), 24 NJ.R. 3716(a).
Revised (a).
Public Notice: Notice of Receipt of a Peuuon for Rulemaking.
See: 29 N.JR. 5333(a).
Amended by R.2000 d.433, effective October 16, 2000.
See: 32 NJ.R. 2275(a), 32 N.J.R. 3870(a).
* Rewrote (b) and (c).

Case Notes

Forfeiture of public office was not unconstitutional. State v. Timol-
di, 277 N.JSuper. 297, 649 A.2d 872 (A.D.1994), certification denied
142 NJJ. 449, 663 A.2d 1356.

Merit System Board of State Department of Personnel did not have
exclusive jurisdiction for prosecution of forfeiture action against senior
corrections officer. State v. Lee, 258 N.J Super. 313, 609 A2d 53
(A.D.1992). .

Whether public employee’s conviction involves or touches employ-
‘whether

ment does not depend upon proscribed acts
place within immediate confines of employment’s daily routine. Moore
v. Youth Correctional Institute at

Annandale, W"’ 553
Aum(mxm).-mmodmm.zsc.sv .

Next Page Is 2-28.1
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‘s APPEALS, DISCIPLINE AND SEPARATIONS

4A:2-2.7

Senior corrections officer’s criminal conviction for harassing his

immediate superior was one "mvolvm; or

Moore v. Youth Cor 1 Institute at A ; 4 7
374, 553 A.2d 830 (A.D.1989), affirmed 119 NJ. 256, 574 A2d

Next Page is 229
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Automatic termination of cor i t based on iction for

crime of dishonesty affirmed. Christian v. DepmmentdConemons.
Nommmmwmmmv)m ]

Supp. 4-1-02
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*  of service due to the advanced | ptogrwsmn of the cancer. Despite his protracted battle, the

disease spread to his brain and spine, finally killing his spmtm2001 Prior to his death, Charles
Watkins Sr. was confined to a wheelchair and needed constant assistance, provided by the
defendant. During this time frame, not only was Charles Watkins, III giving around the clock
care to his father, Mr. Watkins was responsible for the full time care of his mother, Pauline
‘Watkins and brother, Larry Steel, both diagnosed as being terminally ill.
. Specifically, Pauline contracted cancer of the bladder and ulnmatcly died on Apn18
1996. Defendant’s brother, Larry Steele, contracted the HIV virus inthe early 1960’s due to
intravenous drug use. Ultimately, the virus advanced to full blown Aids, causing liver failure. .
Larry died on March 23, 1996, just (2) two week before his mother. Both family membets died at
defendant’s home and under his care. Not only did he support them physically and emouonally,
but financially as well.

Defendant has extremely strong commitment to family. Aside from the care and
compassion provided to his mother, father, and oldest brother, defendant took in his youngest

brother, Curtis Watkins, Jr. and his (2) two children Dominique, age (8) eight and Curtis, age ®)

five. Curtis Sr. has battled a drug addiction for many years and is losing. Recently losing his
home, Curtis and his (2) two young children would have been put out into the street if not for the
kindness of defendant. Charles provided not only a roof over their heads and food on the table,
but provides a stable environment and & steady parental figure to these kids. Aside from the
financial commitment extended to Curtis, defendant made sure that his brother entered a long -
term rehabilitation center and is finally completing a stay at the “Carrier Clinic”. I am advised
that the children’s mother is also an addict and has no contact with the kids. Certainly, she

provides no financial support towards their care.

Notwithstanding the above personal setbacks, defendant has provided himself with an
education and has a strong work history; In 1985, defendant received a certificate from Mercer
County Community College for Secretarial and Clerical Skills. After working several unfulfilling
office jobs throiighout the Trenton area, defendant re-entered school in Philadelphia attending
the “Art and Fashion Institute of Pennsylvania”, studying Fashion Mmhandxsmg, Marketing and
Design, receiving an additional certificate in 1987.

In 1988, defendant was hired by the Trenton Psychiatric Hospital as a Human Service
Assistant. Soon thereafter, defendant was promoted to a Human Service Technician where he has
worked for over the last (14) fourteen years. In 1998, due to the massive State downsizing and
financial pressure, defendant was temporarily laid off. It was during this time frame that
defendant re-entered Mercer County Community College to study Culinary Arts. Ultimately,
defendant completed an extensive program through Rutgers University, graduating with Honors.
In the summer of 1999, defendant’s job at Trenton Psychiatric Hospital was re-extended to him,

at which time he worked full time and completed advanced credits at school, again gmdunung
with Honors. .

Subsequently, defendant started applying his skills and talents at the Trenton Psychiatric
Hospital cooking for his clients and promoting an over-all better living environment. Defendant
also started an off-site catering business called “Tréasured Memories Catering” through the
Hospital which is benefiting everyone. Clearly, this is a man that loves his job and is extremely
devoted to his colleagues and clients.

Additionally, during his Culinary Arts education, defendant opened the first Culinary
Cafeteria at Mercer County Community College, called the “Lucky 7 Lunch Box”. (The name
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was dznved due to the faot that only seven students were able to complete the courses
successfully)

It should be noted that it was dm-mgﬂust:meﬁ-amethatthe thhmoﬁ'ensewas
committed.

Defendant has represented that he is cxtremelymllmgto make restitution and will
execute & Civil Judgment. Given the fact that he is a state employer, 2 conviction of this nature
will result in the termination of his employment with Trenton Psychiatric Hospital. Aside from
the-obvious financial hardship that would be endured by the defendant, his family member
specxﬁcally his young niece and nephew will suffer as well.

It is acknowledged that defendant has a prior mark on his criminal record, but it also
respectfully pointed out that the charge was only municipal court conviction dating back to 1990,
over fourteen (14) years ago. The crime entailed “receiving stolen propcrty". This was nota
crime of violence and is extremely old. It is respectfully submitted that given the nature of this
offense end its date, it should not even be factored into considering whcther the defendant would
make a g od P.T.L candidate.

: In conclusion it is submitted that there is more to Charles Watkins, Il than meets the
eyes. He is a compassionate, motivated hardworking individual that loves his family and is
devoted to his patients, He made a minor mistake in 1990 and has spent the last (14) fourteen

years trying to rebuild his life. In 1999, he made a mistake, but it was one of opportunity, not one

that was premeditated. Defendant is willing to make full restitution, participate in community
service, and successfully meet any and all conditions of PTI. Failure to permit defendant a
chance to prove himself as a good PTI candidate, will result in the termination of his
employment. Aside from the devastating effects same will have upon his dependant family,
defendant will have a conviction on his record, making securing future employment even more
difficult. Without a steady income, defendant will be hard-pressed to make time'- restitution

payments.

The court is urged to view defendant as a whole person and not to consider the offense in
a vacuum. Defendant has expressed deep remorse and shame for his actions. It is submitted that
he is exdctly the kind of ¢andidate that the legislatu_re and Courts contemplated. It is further
submitted that the State’s rejection is capricious and arbitrary and that the Deputy Attorney
General failed to consider all the relevant factors. In support of defendant’s appeal, the followmg
legal argument and authorities are offered, infra.
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.. County ~
PLBK FORM 7 Prosecutor File Number

DEPENDANT'SNAME (‘A -2l = /W-* AR A

before Judge [w K . IiIAMN g T 5.8,
1. List thé charges to which you are pleading gmlty

“ T - Statutory Maximum o
i;é)Acc, Comp-# Count Nature of O Degree Fine VCCB Assmt
‘Oi’uctfﬂg 2 . A Niens g“‘( MAX ? iS00 S
J( Oo 4 MAX
; MAX
Your total exposure as the result of this plea is: JUTAL. 8- PV 52

2. 2. Did you commit the offense(s) to which you are pleading guilty?
b. Do you understand that before the judge can find you guilty, you will have to tell
the jullge-what you did that makes you guilty of the particular oﬁénse(s)?
3. Do you understand what the charges mean?

: [NO]
4. -Bo youunderstand-that by pleating guilty you are gavmg ip certain rights? A
) them are:
a: The. ﬂ;@t@e a}ufy trial in which the State must prove you guﬂty beyond a .
g jble doubt? 4NOL .
-b "‘H&g@ﬂo remam sﬂent? [NO]
! ¢. The Wpﬁont the witnesses against you? [NO] -
, 5. ,Dp__;you 3and that if you plead guilty: _ :
i 75 Tou it orininal recbid? [NO]
’ i3 mcntpmwdosothamo, you-could-be sentenced-to serve the -
" fa-fime in-confineraent, to pay the maximum fine énd to pay the maximum  [YES] NO]
i Vieten Primes Compensation Board Assessment?
[ e Yéumu_sf ey aminimum Violent Crimes Compensation Board assessment of $50 4
t B0 m if you are convicted of a crime of violence) for each count to whicH NOJ
! ” you pleat gitty? (Penalty is $30 if offense occurred between January 9, 1986 and

Decersber 22, 1991 inclusive, $25 if .Qﬁgnsgmgumhnfmclmml,
d.If the 6ffense occurred on or after February 1, 1993 biit was before March 13, 1995,

mdyouuobemgmmodwenorasg“ﬁ%.fﬁwmﬂ o '
P 6 $1°00 Tor each occasion aynient or
[NO]J

installitsent payment is made? If the offénse oocirred on or after March 13, 1995
o and the.sentence is to probation, or the sentence othérwise requires payments of
financial obligations to the probation division, you must pay a transaction fee of up
} to $2.00 fot each occasion when a payment or installment payment is made?

VIOLENT CRIMES COMPENSATION BOARD ASSESSMENT C ' /
Defendant's Initials

vdministrative Office of the Courts ~ Revised Novpbex 6, 2003;

Co;medpmn 2 : " pagelof3
Padl




5. eIfih!oﬁensc onoraﬁwl.uwstz.mammpuyasf»’ss:fe i fyes] | moj
Nexghbo:‘hoed vices Fund assessment for each convictiond: '
f Ifﬁxeoﬂmseooou;mdengr&btlwuaryS IQth&mmhﬂnsmmm . Dggg} ; [NO
Pr amn.mmustpayafaeofuptoSZSWﬂbﬂim&etmofpmbmon? oy

& HMWW*“WMG ,.:mmmayabwnm‘ommmt
Of&cmTrmganquupmm el s 8800 . L

E
§
i
s
B

: S SIS TS parote ; whiokperiod could ~ [YES) @
bewmemmfﬁ&:mmntmwmw? . :

4 : tﬁnhﬁemrofmmwmmmodcmbe
re@ﬂc;dbwﬁﬁaqwmk,otmmmmm
3. Aré you pleading guilty to.a orime that contains & presumption of impnsonmem which.

eooRms Wit it ot certain that you Will go o Sigé pisen? ‘

). Areybu ptesently on probation or parole? - : D’BS )
a.Do you realize that a guilty plea may result in a violation of your [YES] ﬁ
probation or parole? f o e S :-

0. Amxoupigsmﬂi.rmaemalsw oame&e:eharge? {YES] @ “

&P you Hfiderstatid (hat @ guilty plea may affect your parole eligibility? fY'B_S] 0] @
1. Doyou W&aﬂl’m have plead guhtyto, ot have been found ' !

guilty on other or are presently serving a custodial temm and the PR o) - 7
~ plea agreementis sHlent un the issve, thccourtmaqu\ﬁrethatau
K@MMIQW v

2. Listany charges the prosecutor has agreed to recmd for dismissal:

@* 'Acc./Compl # Count Nature ofOﬁensundDegrep
' b ng~:‘-! > 3 : _w'wt,(m?’_‘." ¢ P 4 ; . : ; r

1fy anymthnczthc prosecutorhasagreedto

-LUJJM

pra !

ministrative Office of the Courts — Revised Nevember 6, 2003;

Corrected Deceimber 31, 2003 page 2 of 3
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14. Has the prosecutor promised that he or sﬁe will NOT:
a. Speak at sentencing?
b. Seek an extended term of conﬁnment? pE
c. Seek a stipulation of parole ineligibility

15. Are you aivate ] wmmmwmw isa
victim who has a loss and if the court finds that you are able or
will be abledn the fisture 1o pay restitution? :

16-Do-you-understand thetif you-areepublicoffieenider or employee, you
can be required to forfeit your office or job by vniue of yeur plea of A\
- guilty? '

17. Doyeumdu-m&%hat ifywmnotaﬁnﬁedm citizé_n or_nhhonal : [¥ES}- - N6
8. chmwmmmm&ammm ger" ; fYEs] [NOJ-
e : : : SR e
e ?oru pleadeé{uﬁ(y’to for wtnch you czmnot be gmm 2 saparate sentence? [YES] [NO]
20. List any 6Her proinises or representatiorts that have been made by you, the prosecutor, your defense
attorney, oranyone else as a pfart of this plea of gm‘Ity

1. Have any promises other than those mentxoned on thxs form, or any threats, begn mde FYBST @
i mﬂﬂ?mﬁmgﬁﬁfﬂ

2. a.Doyev 2 : om&tya‘nyp‘foﬁnses orrecommeﬁdiﬁ‘is
of the pxaoseqm.or md that the judge has the right-to reject the plea before sentencing @ -{NO]
you and the right to impose a more severe sentence?. - \ '

b Do-you undesstand that 1f the judge decides 1o impose a S severe sentence than
1ecommznded by the prosecutor, that you may take back your plea?

¢ Do you understand that if you are permitted-to take fack your piea of guilty because
of the judge’s sentenes, that anything you say in Mmmcg of the guilty plea
cannot be used against you at trial?

3. Are you satisfied with the advice you have received ﬁom your lawyer? ;
4. Do you havelany questions concerning this plea? o [YBS]

ate 2fvlos BEFENDANT ‘(, 1/ £ 1394 _/f,./(\__.)
EFENSE ATTORNEY -
R0SECUTOR AV

] i i j [ itional indications of the maximum sentence he or she would i impose independent of
the prosecutor’s recommendation. Accordmgly, the S\xpplemnl Plea Form for Non-Negotiated Pleas" has been completed.

ministrative Office of the Courts ~ Revised November 6; 2003;
Corrected December 31, 2003
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New Jersey Superior Court:

State of New Jersey
; ‘ Law Division — Criminal
V., 2 Mercer County

Defendant: ; y
thocen o Charles A. Watkins X JUDGMENT OF GONWC'I'ION
DATE OF BIRTH y 51 NUMBER 698108b O CHANGE OF JUDGMENT,

3/19/66 : [] ORDER FOR COMMITMENT
DATEOF ARREST 4158104 DATE INDICTMENT/ ] INDICTMENT / ACCUSATION DISMISSED.

’ Ao 112904 [] JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL
DATE OF _ 4/5/04 ORIGINAL PLEA : -
ORIGINAL PLEA Not Gul X
ADJUDICATION BY

X cuwryrea oate:  2/7/05 ; .0 wonsury TRIA DATE:

[ suryTRAL DATE: 4 [0 oissssen/acQuUTTED  DATE:
ORIGINAL CHARGES :
IND /ACC NO. : COUNT DESCRIPTION > DEGREE STATUTE
Ind: 04-01-0008 1 Theft by Deception e ™ 2C:204
Pros: 04-0398 : m .

- I Unswomn Falsification to Authorities ; 4 2C:28-3a

FINAL CHARGES
COUNT DESCRIPTION DEGREE STATUTE
ct.1 Theft by Deception 3¢ 2C:204

lm.mm.myjmonnsmwwuoeeqhtmmmmmém: ;
Ct.1- Probation: Three years(3). Probation may be terminated after 2 years if restitution is paid in full.

[] The defendant is hereby sentenced to community supervision for life.

[J The defendant is hereby ordered to serve a 'yeartonnofpamlewpuvlsbnwhld\mmalbeghassoonasdefendant
oomplebsmesentanceoﬂncarwaﬂon. : ”

O Thecommdsmmedefendanﬁéondud‘wasd\amwbyapaﬁunofrepeﬂﬁveandeompwdvubdmﬁor.

[ The court finds that the defendant is amenable to sex offerider treatment. : :

D'mewmmmmdmdamwmmpuﬂdpabhmoﬂu\dﬂmhnm

= ThedefondanthherebyordemdbpmvldeaDNA sampbandolduedbpayﬂncosbformdﬂ\eumpbpmﬂded. i

O lthORDEREDhWnMWMMbMWMM. -
TOTAL NUMBER OF DAYS | DATE: (FromTo) -

[] Defendantis to recelve credit for time spent in custody (R. 3:21-8). .

DATE:
O Mth'bmeMhmmhM . fadieds ; | DATE(Fromi¥ed
(N.J.S.A. 2C:44-5b(2)). § DATE: (From/To)

Total Custodial Term, Institution Total Probation Temm 3 yrs.
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Stats of New Jersey v. ' Charles A. Watkins Il

s8.# 6981088 ind/Acc# Ind: 04-01-0008-S

Total Fine §

Total RESTITUTION $7.61078

If the offense occurred on or after December 23, 1991, an
dehWMMMmmu

mmmqm.s.nzcmx
(whwlm_bm or after January 8,
1mummz&.1m.m-m

is noted. Assessment is $25 If offense is before
January 8, 1988.) K

[0 Assessment imposed on

defendant was convicied uniess the box below indicates a -

umdumwndmorm.mmm.mhh-ma, '
35 or 36 of Title 2C,
1) Am mmmwwmnnmu
Iimposed for each count. (\Nﬂbhimhno\.)
1% Degree @ $3000. 4fo.¢-onso
2™ Degree @ $2000 _ Disorderly Persons or Petty
3" Degree @ $1000 3 Disorderly Persons @ $500 -

Total DEDR. Penalty $_____

DMWMMMduD.&DRMMWw
Msmmamﬂmmhhmdmm.

sentsnce q
occasion when 8 payment is made. (P.L 1995, ¢.9).

count(s) Ct.1 2) Amchbuauyhdtsowmtm. —___Offenses @ $50.
Is $50, each. ; TotalLabFee$______~
§ 3) Name of Drugsinvolved __ e
Total VCCB Assessment $50, 4)Amuuhuy.dﬁv¢slummpowund months is ORDERED.
Imhlmu\tpawmmdmuhubd mwumm__wm__ ;
A per_____ Driver's License Number __
beginning fmmsmmmmmmmmm
epr——. FOLLOWING.) 3
(Date) Defendant's Address ____ .
EyeColof —— . Sex Date of Bith  3/19/66
Dmmnumdmmmm-mmum
Jurisdiction . Driver's License Number e . =
DMWMMU-WM&__M
nnmeuww1.1mnmmm1&1umnm-upmaruu-h - faciity, a t fee of up
1o $1.00 Is ordered for sach sion when a payment or instalimen{ payment is ma‘e. (P.L 1902, c. 169). I the offenss occurred on or after March 13, 1995 and the
Is 1o probation, or the vise roquire: ial obliga 1o the probation division, a i bdwbsz:wbmtrudr

uummmuwmum-ms‘ Neigt
(P.L 1993, ¢.220) $78. =

d Services Fund ot Is ordersd for sach comviction. .

(P.L 1983, ¢c. 275) Amount parmonth $___.

Ifhnﬂuuwundonudhm-y&wﬂudumhhpubdin-lqdwbmpummﬁwhmwhm

If the crime occurmed on or after January 9, 1u1.-wmamonm7:::w-dwmmhm $30.

d of aggravated sexual assault,

lnahumndmur‘uwu.zom.-mu

zc1s-|.uhhdm!puu-lbzc1uorﬂn
pursuant

has been sgoravated cri y
zcnsummnmu-wwmh“mmmmumumd-mmmMum
ouwmbw).mum-wnmbmuwﬁm-mmbmmlumh-m.mmh

t Imprisonment
bm1ma(41«mmbmwdmm-mwmmu Examiner Program Penalty is ordered for

h2&1&8lh\dﬂnkammho~&hn¢hmm¢ﬁ

sach of these offenses.
mmm.n—-muw Telephane Number Name (/ py for st 3
Isabella Provost ~ v (609) 571-4155 Christopher G. Hewitt, Esquire -

sTAmmww-mmmwwmmmm

| practices committed against a division of State
Mitigating factors: Defendant will compensate
mpdak\dmwwm;hobpmuymdybm\dnmwb

Dgfmdantaw”;&lbtedgullyplbebﬁnﬂbydeoepﬂon.bendupmhbmelptofmunplowmbmmh
employed for a period of 5§ months. This is his first upper court conviction. g
. Aggravating factors: Nmmmmdmtmdmmmwmmmmwm

goverment . "
Mnbrhbwnductmmzwwulymoﬁwm.but
y treatment.

probationary
meounﬂndsmomlﬁguﬂ\gfaodnoumld\mmwm. Under all circumstances a term of probation
condlﬁonodupwmﬂhﬁmhful\dbmmwd]mm. 2 "

Maryenn K. Bislamowicz, J.5.C. % 3}-\” /( W h«//aa/os"

Q
12a '

Administrave Ofcs of the Courts CPO108s (rev. 08/20002)
of Kenthcaton X ~l‘r

E

CHIEF PROBATION OFFICER STATE POLICE mmmm mumumrﬂum
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two other

the State’

his PTIre

forementioned bases. After considering those bases for rejection, the Court finds that -

denial was not arbitrary or capricious and, therefore, denies the défendant's appeal of

9

7 | MARIA M. syz‘mcﬁc:.

tion.
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2007 N.J. Super. LEXIS 38, *

1 of 1 DOCUMENT

STATE OF NEW JERSEY, Plaintiff-Respondent, V. CHARLES A.
WATKINS, Defendant-Appellant.

DOCKET NO. A-3853-05T4

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY, APPELLATE DIVISION

2007 N.J. Super. LEXIS 38

December 5, 2006, Submitted
February 5, 2007, Decided

SUBSEQUENT HISTORY: [*1] Approved
For Publication February 5, 2007.

PRIOR HISTORY: On appeal from Superior
Court of New Jersey, Law Division, Mercer
County, Ind. No. 04-01-0008.

COUNSEL: Yvonne Smith Segars, Public
Defender, attorney for appellant (Abby e
Schwartz, Assistant Deputy Public Defender, of
counsel and on the brief).

Stuart Rabner, Attorney General, attorney for
respondent (Leslie-Ann M. Justus, Deputy
Attorney General, of counsel and on the brief).

JUDGES: Before Judges Kestin, Weissbard
and Payne. The opinion of the court was
delivered by WEISSBARD, J AD.

OPINION BY: WEISSBARD

OPINION: The opinion of the court was
delivered by

WEISSBARD, J.A.D.
Defendant, Charles Watkins, appeals from

an order of February 22, 2006, denying his
appeal of the State's rejection of his application
for entry into the Pre-Trial Intervention (PTI)
program, R. 3:28, following his indictment for
third-degree theft by deception, N.J.S.A 2C:20-
4 (count one), and fourth-degre= unswom
falsification to authorities, N.J.SA. 2C:28-3a
(count two). Following the denial of his appeal,
defendant entered a guilty plea to count one
and, pursuant to a plea agreement, Wwas
sentenced to [*2] a three-year probationary
term with a condition of restitution in the
amount of $ 7619.78. If defendant completed
the restitution before three years, his probation
would be terminated after two years.
Appropriate penalties and assessments were
also imposed.

On appeal, defendant argues that the State's
rejection of his PTI application, in the face of a
recommendation for admission by the Criminal
Division Manager, constituted a gross abuse of
discretion. We reverse and remand for
reconsideration of defendant's application in
light of the views expressed in this opinion.

The facts leading to defendant's indictment
were set forth in the State's rejection letter of
April 19, 2004:

Pad8

AL

e - e e UL




M

2007 N.J. Super. LEXIS 38, *

These charges are based on
misrepresentations that Mr.
Watkins made to the New Jersey
Department of Labor (DOL) in
order to receive unemployment
benefits to which he was not
entitled. Mr. Watkins began
receiving unemployment benefits
in May 1998 when he was
temporarily laid-off from Trenton
Psychiatric Hospital. Mr. Watkins'
unemployment benefits were
extended in 1999 under the
"Additional Benefits During
Training Program" (ABT) whereby
certain "eligible" claimants may
obtain an extension of
unemployment [*3] insurance
benefits while pursing [sic]
education and job training skills to
enhance their emnloyment
opportunities. Mr. Watkins
pursued a degree at the community
college while receiving Ul benefits
under the ABT program but
knowingly failed to report his re-
employment with the Trenton
Psychiatric Hospital to the
Department of Labor.

Between January 23, 1999
through May 22, 1999, Mr.
Watkins cashed nine
unemployment checks, all of
which required him to certify that
he was unemployed, collecting $
5,670 in unemployment benefits.
Based upon his earnings at Trenton
Psychiatric Hospital during this
time period, Mr. Watkins was not
entitled to any of this money.

Apparently efforts were made to resolve the
matter civilly but to no avail. The indictment

followed.

In denying defendant's appeal, the judge
wrote as follows:

During the hearings on the appeal,
the State initially asserted three
bases for PTI denial: the fact that
the defendant was a state employee
and the policy of the Attorney
General's Office was to Lold state
employees to a higher standard of
conduct and deny them PTI entry;
the fact that the offense occurred
over a five-month period of time
and involved [*4] nine separate
unemployment checks; and the
defendant's prior criminal
behavior, which involved a 1990
disorderly persons conviction for
receiving stolen property. ~. a
subsequent hearing conducted on
November 19, 2004, the State
withdrew the defendant's
employment with the State as a
basis for rejection and relied upon
the two other aforementioned
bases. After considering those
bases for rejection, the Court finds
that the State's denial was not
arbitrary or capricious and,
therefore, denies the defendant's
appeal of his PTI rejection.

At the outset, we note our limited scope of
review. Due to the close relationship between
the PTI Program and the prosecutor's charging
authority, "courts allow prosecutors wide
latitude in deciding whom to divert into the PTI
Program and whom to prosecute through a
traditional trial. The deference has been
categorized as 'enhanced' or 'extra' in nature."
State v. Negran, 178 N.J. 73, 82, 835 A.2d 301
(2003) (quoting State v. Baynes, 148 N.J. 434,
443-44, 690 A.2d 594 (1997)).

Pa49

R R————




—
e

2007 N.J. Super. LEXIS 38, *

Thus, a prosecutor's decision rejecting a
PTI application "rarely will be overturned."
State v. Kraft, 265 N.J. Super. 106, 111, 625
A.2d 579 (App. Div. 1993) [*5] (quoting State
v. Leonardis (II), 73 N.J. 360, 380 n.10, 375
A.2d 607 (1977)). We review "to check only
the most egregious examples of injustice and
unfairess." Ibid. (quoting State v. DeMarco,
107 N.J. 562, 566, 527 A.2d 417 (1987)); see
also Negran, supra, 178 N.J. at 82, 835 A.2d
301.

To overturn a prosecutor's rejection, a
defendant must clearly and convincingly
establish that the prosecutor's decision
constitutes a patent and gross abuse of
discretion. Negran, supra, 178 N.J. at 82, 835
A.2d 301; State v. Nwobu, 139 N.J. 236, 246,
652 A.2d 1209 (1995); State v. Motley, 369 N.J.
Super. 314, 321, 848 A.2d 875 (App. Div.
2004). A patent and gross abuse of discretion
has been defined as "more than just an abuse of
discretion as traditionally conceived; it is a
prosecutorial decision that has gone so wide of
the mark sought to be accomplished by PTI that
fundamental fairness and justice require
judicial intervention." State v. Wallace, 146
NJ. 576, 582-83, 684 A.2d 1355 (1996)
(quoting State v. Ridgway, 208 N.J. Super. 118,
130, 504 A.2d 1241 (Law Div. 1985) [*6]
(citations omitted)). Defendant must show that
the prosecutor's decision "'(a) was not premised
upon a consideration of all relevant factors, (b)
was based upon a consideration of irrelevant or
inappropriate factors, or (c) amounted to a clear
error in judgment." Negran, supra, 178 N.J. at
83, 835 A.2d 301 (quoting State v. Bender, 80
N.J. 84, 94, 402 A.2d 217 (1979)). Because we
conclude that the Prosecutor, and the judge,
misinterpreted a critical factor, we remand for
reconsideration.

The bases for defendant's rejection were
also set forth in the prosecutor's rejection letter
of April 19, 2004. Immediately following the
statement of fects quoted above, the Deputy

Attorney General (DAG) stated:

The facts of this case indicate
that the fraud continued from
January to May 1999, a five-month
period of time, involving nine
separate instances where Mr.
Watkins lied about his
employment status in order to cash
unemployment checks.
Accordingly it is the State's
position that the defendant's crime
falls within the ambit of Guideline
3(i)(2) of Rule 3:28 as a continuing
criminal enterprise justifying his
rejection from PTIL. Mr. Watkins
[*7] committed a substantial fraud
over a lengthy period of time. The
circumstances surrounding this
case coupled with his status as a
public employee clearly
demonstrates that he is nu
amenable to a rehabilitative
process.

Finally, although there are no
explicit per se rules excluding
offenders from PTI eligibility, the
statute provides that "supervisory
treatment should ordinarily be
limited to persons who have not
previously been convicted of any
criminal [offense] . . . ." N.JS.A.
2C:43-12a. According to NCIC,
Charles Watkins has a 1990
municipal court conviction for
receiving stolen property.
Obviously, Mr. Watkins [sic] prior
experience with the criminal
justice system has not had a
significant deterrent effect on him
and further indicating that he is not
a suitable candidate for PTL

Thus, a key element in the rejection
determination was the DAG's conclusion that
defendant's crime fell within Guideline 3(i)(2)
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as a "continuing criminal enterprise." Such a
conclusion "generally constitutes sufficient
justification for rejection from pretrial
intervention." State v. Imbriani, 280 N.J. Super.
304, 317, 654 A.2d 1381 (Law Div. 1994),
aff'd, 291 N.J. Super. 171, 677 A.2d 211 (App.
Div. 1996). [*8] The Guideline reads, in
pertinent part, as follows:

(i) Assessment of the Nature of
the Offense:

Any defendant charged with crime
is eligible for enrollment in a PTI
program, but the nature of the
offense is a factor to be considered
in reviewing the application. If the
crime was (1) part of organized
criminal activity; or (2) part of a
continuing criminal business or
enterprise; or (3) deliberately
committed with violence or threat
of violence against another person;
or (4) a breach of the public trust
where admission to a PTI program
would deprecate the seriousness of
defendant's crime, the defendant's
application should generally be
rejected.

While Guideline 3(i)(2) does not define its
terms, the concept has been addressed in a
number of cases, not always consistently.

In a comprehensive discussion in State v.
Marie, 200 N.J. Super. 424, 491 A.2d 784 (Law
Div. 1984), Judge Haines concluded, after
examining numerous cases, that a "continuing
criminal enterprise” consists "of a course of
conduct involving a series of transactions
continuing over a period of time." Id. at 429,
491 A.2d 784. "It is a defendant's repetitive
criminal activities which [*9] provide a
negative implication when rehabilitation is
considered." Id. at 429-30, 491 A.2d 784. In

Marie, the defendant was arrested based on the
discovery of eighty-five pounds of marijuana in
a vehicle in which he was a passenger. Id. at
426, 491 A.2d 784. He was thereafter indicted
for possession and possession with intent to
distribute narcotics. Ibid. While recognizing
that defendant's activity, although a single
transaction, "may well be a link in a chain of
further activities dealing with the disposition of
marijuana,” the judge concluded that it was
"not, however, the kind of continuing criminal
activity which requires the defendant to face
the high barrier created by Guideline 3(1).
There is no showing of any repetitive criminal
activity. Guideline 3(i) should not be applied.”
Id. at 430, 491 A.2d 784.

In the course of his opinion, Judge Haines
catalogued the cases that had, to that date,
addressed Guideline 3(i), beginning with State
v. Bender, 80 N.J. 84, 402 A.2d 217 (1979), in
which defendant, a licensed jl.....acist,
diverted narcotics from his ecmployer's
inventory over a four-year period to feed his
cocaine addiction. The Court stated [*10] as
follows:

We agree with the State that in
order for a series of criminal acts
to constitute a continuing
enterprise, it is not necessary that a
"profit" be realized in the sense
that the fruits of those crimes be
sold to third persons and hence be
converted into cash. Nonetheless,
the defendant's course of conduct
must ordinarily involve
commercial overtones. That is, the
crimes perpetrated must be
undertaken for the purpose of
enriching defendant in some
material way.

As such, the crimes here
engaged in by defendant cannot be
characterized as a continuing
criminal business or enterprise in
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the sense of being undertaken for
commercial purposes. Although
defendant systematically diverted
cocaine from his employer's stocks
over a four-year period, his course
of conduct was not motivated by a
desire to, nor did it, add to his
worldly possessions or in any other
manner result in financial gain.
Rather, his crimes were merely
undertaken in order to satisfy his
need for drugs.

Support for this construction of
"continuing criminal business or
enterprise” can be gleaned from
the language of the Guidelines
themselves. One of the main
purposes of PTI is "[t]o provide a
mechanism for [*11] permitting
the least burdensome form of
prosecution possible for
defendants charged with
‘victimless' offenses." Guideline
1(c). Clearly, this purpose would
be entirely frustrated were persons
who unlawfully consume
controlled dangerous substances
over a prolonged time span to be
deemed engaged in a continuing
criminal enterprise and hence
"generally" to be rejected pursuant
to Guideline 3(i)(2). Although in
the present case defendant's crime
was not truly ‘"victimless" --
inasmuch as his cocaine diversions
harmed his employer as well as
himself -- the underlying rationale
of Guideline 1(c) is nevertheless
applicable. Defendant's later thefls,
being precipitated in large part by
his drug dependence, cannot be
characterized as part of a
continuing business or enterprise.

[1d. at 95-96, 402 A.2d 217.]

In a companion case, State v. Sutton, 80
N.J. 110, 402 A.2d 230 (1979), the defendant
had obtained public assistance funds and food
stamps over a four and one-half year period,
while failing to report that she had obtained
work as a part-time school bus driver. If the
earnings had been reported, defendant's welfare
benefits would have been reduced. Id. af 114,
402 A.2d 230. [*12] The Court held that
defendant's PTI application was properly
rejected because her conduct constituted a
continuing criminal enterprise. /d. at 118, 402
A.2d 230. The Court stated:

Defendant did not merely fail
to report one or a few sporadic
accessions to her income. Rather,
over a four and one half year
period, she regularly received
compensation deriving from her
employment as a part-time school
bus driver. She was thus guil, "a
series of "fail[ures] to discivse a
material fact which it [was her]
duty to reveal," and these non-
disclosures allowed her to "obtain
* * * from [an] agency of the
county * * * money, property,
[and] other thing[s] of value * *
*"NJSA 2A:111-2.

[bid.)

In State v. Masucci, 156 N.J. Super. 272,
383 A.2d 781 (Law Div. 1978), the defendant
admitted that he sold marijuana "on the street,"
for profit. Id. at 276, 280, 383 A.2d 781. The
judge upheld defendant's PTI rejection, stating:

It is everywhere recognized that
the street sale of marijuana is part
of a larger drug traffic which has
its genesis outside of this country.
His participation in this insidious
venture is clear evidence of [*13]
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his involvement in a continuing
criminal business or enterprise.

[bid.]

In State v. Barrett, 157 N.J. Super. 96, 384
A.2d 558 (App. Div. 1978), defendant engaged
in a scheme over a period of three years to sell
unregistered securities to the public through a
company of which he was President. /d. at 98-
99, 384 A.2d 558. We reversed a Law Division
order that had overturned the Attorney
General's rejection of defendant's PTI
application, on the basis that the activity fell
within Guidelines 3(i)(1) and (2). /d. at 102,
384 A.2d 558. Defendant was "part of an
organized and continuous criminal activity." /d.
at 103, 384 A.2d 558.

Several of the other cases cited in Marie did
not touch on Guideline 3(i)(2). Thus, State v.
Markt, 156 N.J. Super. 486, 384 A.2d 162 (App.
Div. 1978), tumned on defendant, treasurer of
the Joint Free Public Library of Morristown
and Morris Township, having engaged in a
breach of public trust by virtue of a series of
six embezzlements and forgeries over a six-
month period, id. at 489, 493, 384 A.2d 162, in
violation of Guideline 3(1)(4). /d. at 492, 384
A.2d 162. And, in State v. Smith, 92 N.J. 143,
455 A.2d 1117 (1983), [*14] defendant's
premises were allegedly being used for a large
scale gambling operation which, based on
records seized, had been ongoing for about
eight years. Id. at 144, 455 A.2d 1117. The
Court upheld the prosecutor's rejection of
defendant's PTI application on the ground that
his conduct was "part of organized criminal
activity" in violation of Guideline 3(i)(1). /d. at
145-47, 455 A.2d 1117.

Subsequent to Marie, we confronted a
single mother of three young children who
wrongfully received public assistance benefits
during four periods totaling twenty-seven
months over a four-year time span. State v.
Mickens, 236 N.J. Super. 272, 273, 565 A.2d

720 (App. Div. 1989). Defendant was rejected
for PTI enrollment based on Guideline 3(i). /d.
at 273, 565 A.2d 720. We assumed that the
Guideline applied to her conduct, but
nevertheless concluded that her reasons for
committing the offense and her prospects for
rehabilitation compelled her admission to the
program. Id. at 278-80, 565 A.2d 720.
Significantly, we made no mention of State v.
Sutton, supra, a remarkably similar case with
an opposite outcome. Indeed, the court in
Mickens, id. at 279, 565 A.2d 720 [*15] made
only passing reference to State v. Burger, 222
N.J. Super. 336, 536 A.2d 1295 (App. Div.
1988), in which we concluded that obtaining
welfare benefits and food stamps over a six-
year period while continuously - and falsely -
certifying to no outside income, id. at 339, 536
A.2d 1295, "fell within the ambit of Guideline
3(i)(2) as a continuing criminal enterprise." /d.
at 341, 536 A.2d 1295 (citing Sutton, . ~~a, 80
N.J. at 117-18, 402 A.2d 230). nl Tinally, in
Imbriani, supra, 280 N.J. Super. at 316, 318,
654 A.2d 1381, defendant, a Superior Court
judge, diverted over $ 173,000 to his own use
over a period of five years from a private real
estate partnership, using a variety of fraudulent
schemes. It was in that context that the Law
Division found defendant's offense to constitute
a continuing criminal enterprise, applying the
definition of that term in State v. Marie, quoted
above. Id. at 317-18, 654 A.2d 1381. We
agreed with that conclusion, noting that "the
criminal activity here was not of such a nature
that it had to continue except for defendant's
intent and purpose to continue to offend."
Imbriani, supra, 291 N.J. Super. at 182, 677
A.2d 211 [*16]

nl Other cases cited by defendant in
which PTI rejections have been
overtumed do not deal with the
continuing criminal enterprise Guideline.
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State v. DeMarco, supra; State v. Munos,
305 N.J. Super. 9, 701 A.2d 920 (App.
Div.), certif. denied, 152 N.J. 186, 704
A.2d 16 (1997); State v. Fitzsimmons,
291 N.J. Super. 375, 677 A.2d 767 (App.
Div.), certif. denied, 146 N.J. 568, 683
A.2d 1163 (1996); State v. Hoffman, 224
N.J. Super. 149, 539 A.2d 1254 (App.
Div. 1988). g

With this background, we return to the
present case. To repeat, defendant received $
5670 in unemployment benefits in the form of
nine checks over a four-month period; to
continue receiving benefits, defendant was
required to certify bi-weekly that he was
unemployed. Defendant admitted that he knew
of his obligation to report his renewed
employment to the DOL. The question is
whether his conduct constituted a continuing
criminal enterprise, as that term is used in
Guideline 3(i)(2). [*17] While one could
parse the phrase into its components, i.e.,
"continuing,” "criminal" and "enterprise," we
believe a proper analysis requires the words to
be read as a unit. Thus, while defendant's
actions were certainly criminal, did they
amount to a "continuing . . . enterprise"?

As noted earlier, Bender, supra, 80 N.J. at
95, 402 A.2d 217, held that the "course of
conduct must ordinarily involve commercial
overtones," although it is not necessary that
there be third parties, such as buyers of
illegally obtained goods, involved. Yet, the
Court went on to clarify its statement by
observing that the crimes "must be undertaken
for the purpose of enriching the defendant in
some material way." /bid. If that statement
were taken literally, defendant would clearly fit
within the Guideline since he was enriched in a
material way by receiving the checks to which
he was not entitled. However, we believe that
the Court's statement cannot be understood
without reference to its factual context,

particularly the length of time involved - four
years. In that case, of course, the Court
ultimately held that the Guideline did not apply
since defendant's thefts were for the sole °
purpose [*18] of supporting his addiction, and
not for pecuniary gain. In Sutton, supra, the
defendant's conduct, which was clearly
undertaken for personal financial gain, took
place over a four and one-half year period. 80
NJ. at 118 402 A.2d 230. Other cases
discussed earlier have likewise involved
criminality over an extended period of time.
Barrett, supra, (three years); Burger, supra,
(six years); Imbriani, supra, (five years).

The dictionary defines "enterprise" as inter
alia, an undertaking of "great scope,
complication or risk,” a "business
organization," or a "systematic and industrious
activity." Webster's Il New College Dictionary
375 (1995). n2 The reference to a "business
organization" is significant because, in scuniug
the meaning to be accorded the term
"enterprise" in Guideline 3(i)(2), we also note
that the entire phrase speaks of a continuing
"business or enterprise" (emphasis added). See
State v. Sisler, 177 N.J. 199, 206-07, 827 A.2d
274 (2003) (quoting Jersey Central Power &
Light Co. v. State Bd. of Tax Appeals, 131
NJ.L. 565, 567, 37 A.2d 111 (E. & A. 1944))
[*19] ("The coupling of words denotes an
intention that they shall be understood in the
same general sense"). "Continuing" is defined,
insofar as relevant here, as existing "over an
extended period." Webster's Dictionary, supra,
at 244,

n2 When seeking the "ordinary and well-
understood meanings" of words, courts
frequently look to the dictionary
definitions. Manalapan Realty, L.P. v.
Twp. Comm., 140 N.J. 366, 384, 658
A.2d 1230 (1995).
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to May. From my review of the discovery, we’'re talking
about nine checks+

During that interim, which is the key period
of time that’s at issue for.the complaint, Mr. Watkins
was rehired by the State, and he went back to work, yet
he 'still cashed those checks. * This is not a crime of
violence, and the outpouring of support from not only
friends and family but employers,. colleagues, and
pecple in the community has been just an amazing -- I
was impressed, and I do these all the time. And just
-- it was incredible the people that have stepped
forward.

Thig.is_exactly the type of individual that
PTI contemplates. If this man is given a probationary
sentence and has a conviction, he will lose his job,
which is pretty much everything he’s worked for, which
seems to me incredibly unfair and unjust, given what
we’'re talking about. We’re talking about a theft by
deception. "We're not talking about a crime of violence
or selling drugs into the community. We’re talking
about a mistake.

He’'s perfectly willing to take responsibility
for that mistake and is perfectly willing to make
payments to restore that amount. I think the exact
figure is approximately $5,600. With taxes and

Colloquy

penalties it was, I think, an additional 2,000. I
don’t have the exact figure in front of me, but we’'re
talking a total of about 7,500, $7,600 in total. He'’'s
willing to make that payment. He's willing to move
forward with his life.

Unfortunately, despite the fact that he’s an
excellent candidate under the law and the purview of
all the elements that they lay out for PTI candidates,
and criminal case management, by the way, found him to
be a suitable candidate, the State has determined
pretty much that he’s not. And what is that based on?
It’s based on the fact, first of all, that he’s a State
employee. He’s being held to a higher standard which,
in my estimation, is -- that in and of itself is
arbitrary and capricious.

Secondly, they’re looking at that 1990
conviction. That was 14 years ago, and it was a
municipal court conviction. I think that case is much
too old to be seriously contemplated.

And the other argument that the State’s
making is the fact that this was ongoing, which was
four months of unemployment. I don‘t think that
constitutes a scheme against society. He made a
mistake, and he’'s willing to pay for it.

I think the case law completely supports his




WO UTd WK

HHEHRHEREHEERPRR
COIAUTd WM HO

WO WN R

Colloquy

admission in the PTI, given all the factors, and I
think that’s another downfall of the State. They're
not looking at this particular individual as a whole,
what he’s done for the community, what he’s done for
his job, what he’s done for his family. They’re
looking at him in a vacuum, and you can’t do that.

-That’s_arbitrary. :

But the fact that he’s being held to a higher
standard because he’s a State employee is completely
inappropriate for a PTI determination. If I had
committed the same offense, I’'d be getting into PTI
because I work for a private employer. If I was still
working for the PD office which I had done many years,
I wouldn’t get into PTI by virtue of the fact that I'm
a State employee, and that’s not right. There's a bias
that’s built in there that’s completely capricious.

I can’t think of a more suitable candidate.
The State has a remedy in thé event that this- is a
farce, which I can assure the Court it’s mot. But in
the event that this is a farce, then he’s putting on a
hell of a show just to get into PTI. If he fails or he
fails to make one payment, he can be violated and we
could go right back to a guilty plea.

Mr. Watkins is even willing to plead guilty
as a condition of getting into PTI. That just goes to

. Colloquy

show you his motivation and just not have it executed,
but he will lose his job. It seems to me under the
circumstances and the nature of this offense that the
appropriate remedy here is to commit this individual in
PTI. Not to make a sweeping generalization that all
theft by deceptions should be admitted, but this
individual, and it needs to be a case by case fact
sensitive analysis, and he’s an excellent candidate.
He’s the perfect candidate I would respectfully submit.

And again, the -- I’‘ve spelled out the case
law in support of my position, and I know the Court is
well read in that regard. So I won't belabor the
point. I just wanted to hit the highlights. But it’s
just this is one of those cases where policy should be
thrown in the wind, and the individual should be taken
at face value.

THE COURT: All right, the State’s position?

MS. GRUGAN: Your Honor, indeed it is the
policy of the State of my office that we do not grant
PTI to State workers. It’s not arbitrary and
capricious. We hold workers to a higher standard, and
one of it is a preservation of our pension fund.

Also because we're dealing with State
workers, we -- at certain times, and this happened at
the time when this matter arose with Mr. Watkins,  they
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will do what’s called a quarterly cross-match,.where
they will look at employees -- employer’s records, and
cross them with recipients of UI benefits, and they did
a clean sweep for all State workers. And this is
justified because we want to make sure that we don’t

. have people that are working for the system and also

taking.advantage.of ..the.system.

Mr. Watkins -- when they determined what your
monetary benefits are, it’s set up in a reserve, $6,000
approximately, in this matter. His benefits -- he
depleted those benefits, and they were even extended
further, given a whole new time frame for him to extend
his benefite.

So he got the benefit of more unemployment
insurance benefits, but he also got the benefit of
getting an education while he was collecting those
benefits and still working. So he was getting a lot of
assistance from the State, and he took advantage of
that assistance that's being afforded to him, something
that is very gratuitous and generous, I think, by the
State.

This isn’t just one bad instance. He cashed
nine checks consecutively, over and over and over
again. And attached to each of those checks is a claim
form where he fills out and says if he’'s working or not
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working, and in this instance he returned those claim
forms stating over and over and over again I'm
unemployed and therefore entitled to these benefits.

And on the back of each of these checks when he
endorses these checks there’s a certification where the
claimant has to state I’'m entitled to these benefits, I
am unemployed, and I reported to the State all of my
wages and earnings during this time. So they’re given
every opportunity and notified you can’‘t cash these
checks unless you’re entitled to them.

And also with regard to, you know, to the
context of being a State worker, Mr. Watkins was
employed as a human services technician. From what
I've been told by his employer, he is responsible for
handling a lot of patients’ monies and valuables, and I
guess that that’s what’s being considered. If he does
have a conviction on his record, there’s nothing
precluding him from going to another job and getting a
position, and they can take that responsibility of
knowing that they’ve hired someone who has a conviction
on his record. ¢

But he’s had every opportunity to change his
course of action. ©Not only that, but even before these
matters were transferred over to our office for
criminal prosecution, they notify defendants or
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claimants and say, let’s come and negotiate this. And
that matter wasn’t pursued here. It was largely
ignored by the defendant which is why it comes over to
our office for prosecution. That’s all.

THE COURT: Do you have any of those
documents that you’re referencing? .

2 MS. GRUGAN:. ..Yes, Your. Honor..“. s

THE COURT: Anythlng in response whlle she’'s
looking? :

MS. SMITH: Judge, I can’t -- Mr. Watkins has
informed me they did reach out to him to make payment.
He went down to the office in order to do that. He
tried to make payment. It was -- it never came about,
but I don’t think it was on his shoulders. They never
re-contacted him. He didn’t know.

Now, you can easily say well, it’s still your
responsibility, but he was willing at that time. He
has never not been willing. And the fact of the matter
is not withstanding this -- the nature of this charge,
it’s mandated that he lose his job. So it’s not really
discretionary on the employer. If in fact this goes
down as a conviction, that’s it. He will lose his job.
That’s a double punishment.

It’s, you know, the -- with all the due
respect to my adversary, it’s a lot easier said than

Colloquy : b R

done to go out and find a decent paying job with decent
benefits when you have a conviction on your record.
And not to say well, he shouldn’t take responsibility
for his actions. EHEe has taken responsibility for his
actions. He knows he made a mistake. He regrets it
greatly because his whole future -- and he’s sorry
about it. :
But it was a mistake. And that’s what PTI is
for. It’s for that person that makes a mistake.

Again, this is not a crime of violence. 1It’s not a
crime of selling drugs. He’'s willing to make the
restitution. Why not give him that opportunity? He is
paying his taxes. He’s given back to the community.

He has just had a plethora of community support,
many of which are employers and colleagues and patients
at this job. So cbviously he’s doing his job well. If
his employer has the discretion, if they wanted to,
they could fire him right now pending the outcome of
this. They haven’t done that. So he must be doing
something right.

Why not give him that opportunity and just --
again, not to belabor the point, but whether it’s a
policy throughout the office or not, the policy is
flawed. You cannot hold someone to a higher standard
just by virtue of the fact that they’'re a State
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employee. That’s not for the Attorney General'’s Office
to do. Who died and made them the king that says well,
we’re going to hold New Jersey employees to that higher
standard? Where’s the justification for that? Where
in the law does it say that they have that ability?
There is a law that says that he will lose.his job

. if he has a conviction. But there’s nowhere in.the_ ._. ..

law, and certainly nowhere in the cases and its progeny
of PTI cases where it says the State of New Jersey has
the ability and the authority to say okay, you’re a New
Jersey State employee so we’re going to hold you to a
higher standard. Therefore, that’s the reason you
can‘t get into PTI. There’s no foundation for it.
That’s what makes it arbitrary.

So whether it’s an office-wide policy or not,
it’s a wrong policy. And I will bet you dollars to
doughnuts that if this case went up to the Supreme
Court, the Supreme Court.would agree on it. There is
no authority for that basis. That’s what makes.it
capricious. 2

THE COURT: . So you’'re suggesting this is a
policy of the Attorney General's Office, the State of
New Jersey, that no one who is an employee of the State
of New Jersey can receive PTI from -- at any time?

MS. GRUGAN: I was told by my office-that
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this is their position, that because he’s a State
worker, they would not give him -- they would not allow
him into PTI. They would not take that position. That
policy aside, Your Honor, I just wanted to point out
what’s in front of you, the mail claim benefit forms
and Question 7. On that mail claim benefit form, he is
asked were you working? If yes, fill out the back and
tell us when you worked and what hours you worked and

‘ take it to your employer and make sure your employer

certifies that these were your earnings.

He did this over and over and over again, and
I would argue he knew exactly what he was -- for
example, on the front of that claim form he has to
sign, date and mail it by a specific date. And they
are --

THE COURT: Well, I'm sure that there’s no
doubt that, you know -- we don’t make things a crime
that aren’t somewhat, you know, intentional. So
obviously if he had just made an error in it, you
wouldn’‘t be charging him with a crime. So I understand
what you’'re saying in terms of what’s required to be
done here, and I don’t think he is now denying that.

The issue only becomes, at this time, you
know, whether or not the State has taken a position
that’s arbitrary and capricious, excuse me. Whether it
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is a statewide policy which I'm actually hearing for
the first time that there’s a policy that no one who is
a State employee would be entitled to PTI, I can’t
imagine that that’s true.

MS. GRUGAN: I was just told in this case.
This is one of the first -State workers that-I’ve had,
and.I have.gone hack to.my supervisors, and they’/ve all
told me we will not allow PTI or endorse a candidate
for PTI who is a State worker.

THE COURT: Well, you know, that is fraught
with some difficulty in terms of the application. It
just flies in the face of PTI and what the analysis is
supposed to be in terms of case by case. You look at
the individual, you look at the ability to
rehabilitate, and so that policy gives me concern.

The municipal matter is, you know, one that
if I were making the decision, I would not consider in
terms of an old municipal conviction. But then again,
that’s not the standard. What I would do is of no
moment. It’s what the State does and whether the State
is acting arbitrarily and capriciously.

The third one, as I understand it, is the
fact that this was alleged to be an ongoing crime, that
it happened nine times over the course of what I
believe, four months. And as a result of that, he can
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be excluded for the reasons that this was not just a
one time crime. I don’‘t know whether logically Mr.
Watkins, if he were to be indicted on this charge,
would -- oh, he is indicted. How was it indicted? Was
it indicted with nine counts?

MS. GRUGAN: Ng, it was just one count of
theft by deception.

THE COURT: I wouldn’t think it would have
been. 8o, you know, that’s the other, I guess, the
other factor that was being considered. 1It’s a
legitimate factor, and the defendant finds himself in a
position where the State has the power, essentially, as
long as they don’t abuse it, as long as they're not
arbitrary, as long as they’re nct capricious in their
analysis, whether it be just on one of the factors. It
would have to be on all three.

‘So in my view, without more analysis and
without more information, because I don’'t know whether
it actually can be represented today by -- on behalf of
the Attorney General’s Office, if there’s just a
blanket policy that no State employee is ever afforded
the opportunity to enter into PTI. I’'m not sure if
that’s accurate. I’m not sure if you're comfortable
saying that today. I don’t know --

MS. GRUGAN: I don’'t know too much about the
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policy other than I have gone back to my supervisors
over --

THE COURT: So the crux of the issue is this
nine times that it was done, in my view because the
other two -- I think there’s an argument that can be
made that if that-be the case,. that there is this

-blanket policy, that. that wmay._be a decision that the

State has made that flies in the face of what PTI is
intended to dpo.
But the guestion is whether or not, looking

. at the nine times that this was done, is sufficient

basis to have Mr. Watkins excluded from PTI.

MS. SMITH: Judge,  if I may respond? I can’t
tell you the countless theft by deception, specifically
welfare fraud or -- :

THE COURT: You don’t have to tell me about
that. I see it every day. But that’s not the
standard. I mean, if the standard is whether or not
the action under this circumstance is arbitrary.

MS. SMITH: I understand that. But if -- how
can you reconcile where welfare fraud with they’re
receiving -- which is a similar, you know, mirror image
of this case, where they are receiving benefits
repeatedly over a course of time, which I would submit
to you four months is not that long, but over a course
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of time -- or whether it be unemployment benefits or
whatever benefits they’re not entitled to, given the
circumstances, that how can you reconcile the fact that
those individuals are in PTI? And I can think of one
right off the top of my head where it was a ten year
period.

How can you reconcile that and not
acknowledge the fact that you have the Deputy Attorney
General telling you right now that she was advised by
her supervisors that he’s being held to a higher
standard, and that’s how the DAG opened her remarks to
the Court?

THE COURT: That’s true.

MS. SMITH: We’'re holding this individual as
a State employee to a higher standard because of, you
know, the benefits and the State was generous with him
and all this other -- but the fact of the matter is, he
is being held to a higher standard. That’s what's
arbitrary. So it’s convenient that this happened over
a four month period of time and involves nine checks.

But the fact of the matter is we do have one
indictment, and the Court itself has acknowledged the
fact that these types of cases on a routine basis get
into PTI. 8So you can’t disregard this higher standard.
That’s what’s arbitrary here. I guarantee you that if
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policy other than I have gone back to my supervisors
over --

THE COURT: So the crux of the issue is this
nine times that it was done, in my view because the
other two -- I think there’s an argument that can be
made that if that-be the case,. that there is this

-blanket policy, that that may_be a decision that the

State has made that flies in the face of what PTI is
intended to dpo.
But the guestion is whether or not, looking

_ at the nine times that this was done, is sufficient

basis to have Mr. Watkins excluded from PTI.

MS. SMITH: Judge,  if I may respond? I can’t
tell you the countless theft by deception, specifically
welfare fraud or -- : :

THE COURT: You don’t have to tell me about
that. I see it every day. But that’s not the
standard. I mean, if the standard is whether or not
the action under this circumstance is arbitrary.

MS. SMITH: I understand that. But if -- how
can you reconcile where welfare fraud with they’re
receiving -- which is a similar, you know, mirror image
of this case, where they are receiving benefits
repeatedly over a course of time, which I would submit
to you four months is not that long, but over a course
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of time -- or whether it be unemployment benefits or
whatever benefits they’re not entitled to, given the
circumstances, that how can you reconcile the fact that
those individuals are in PTI? And I can think of one
right off the top of my head where it was a ten year
period.

How can you reconcile that and not
acknowledge the fact that you have the Deputy Attorney
General telling you right now that she was advised by
her supervisors that he’s being held to a higher
standard, and that’s how the DAG opened her remarks to
the Court?

THE COURT: That’s true.

MS. SMITH: We're holding this individual as
a State employee to a higher standard because of, you
know, the benefits and the State was generous with him
and all this other -- but the fact of the matter is, he
is being held to a higher standard. That’s what’s
arbitrary. So it’s convenient that this happened over
a four month period of time and involves nine checks.

But the fact of the matter is we do have one
indictment, and the Court itself has acknowledged the
fact that these types of cases on a routine basis get
into PTI. So you can’t disregard this higher standard.
That’s what’s arbitrary here. I guarantee you that if
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he was not a State employee, this would not be an
issue. He would already be in PTI. And that’s the
problem. . .

And I don’t think the Attorney General’'s
Office is going to issue to the Court a written
proclamation stating its policy. The .fact of the

matter is that’s their.policy, and that’s -certainly..
‘being -- that’s the policy that’s being applied here by

the very candor of the Deputy Attorney General.

THE COURT: Is this -- do you know if there
is such a policy? Let me just ask today, does any --

- MS. GRUGAN: I‘m really not sure. I was just
told by -- since I indicted this case, I've had two
supervisors and I went back to both -- to each of them,
and I’ve asked them both for their consideration. They
said no. We do not allow it. And I was never given
any better explanation than that.

MS. SMITH: Your Honmor, you know, just for
the record, this is no fault of this particular Deputy
Attorney General. She’s getting her marching orders
from the superiors in her office, but it’s very clear
that that’s the -- whether this policy is applied
uniformly throughout all defendant cases OI not, the
thing applied to this individual, and that’s unfair.
That’s arbitrary. i .
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MS. GRUGAN: Now, it is applied to all other
public employees as well. See, we deal with this also
at the municipal level, and I know that that’'s always

- .peen the position, that they’re probation cases. I

also just want to point out that when Mr. Watkins
received the benefits under the extended program --
it’s called ABT Program, what they do is ‘they figure
out a monetary reserve. He depleted his monetary

.reserve under the initial time he was given --

THE COURT: And they extended it.

MS. GRUGAN: -- unemployment benefits. Then
they give him a whole new set of second monetary
reserve --

THE COURT: You told me that.

MS. GRUGAN: -- of 6,000. And the reason he
depleted almost all of that -- $5, 061 is the total
theft, falling just short of the 6,000 reserve. So,
you know, but for this quarterly cross-match, you know,
he got caught. You know, he never came forward. You
know, this isn’t Mr. Good Samaritan and said oh, you
know -~

THE COURT: No, this is being handled as a
crime. I understand that, you know, and he's
apparently willing to even plead to it. So I
understand that. You know, most of the times we don’'t
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look for Good Samaritans when we’re dealing with, you
know, these issues.

So the concern that I have is -- you've
placed in this case the fact that he is a State
employee and therefore not entitled to PTI. So I think
. .1 .need .something =--if there’s a policy, do you have
|. -any.case law-because you didn’t cite any then -- I

MS. GRUGAN: No.

THE COURT: -- to suggest that that’s an
appropriate -- .

MS. GRUGAN: No, I just know that this is the

THE COURT: = -- factor to consider? And why
would that be appropriate? .

MS. GRUGAN: I can’'t give you an answer to
that right now.

THE COURT: Well, I’1ll give you an
opportunity to supplement the record with something
that would argue ‘that State employees are not entitled

. to PTI, or this particular person, being a State
employee under these circumstances, is not allowed
entry into PTI, but for some reason. Give me some
reason why it is that a State employee would be barred,
if it’s a general policy. Or if it’s specific to this
individual, then why this specific individual?

Colloquy 21

MS. GRUGAN: Your Honor, the State -- the
fact that he’s a State ~uployee, putting that aside, we
do have enough here tLac merits his disgualification
from the program.

THE COURT: Oh, I still.want to hear this.
This is the first time I'm ever hearing that no State
employee can be given PTI. g

MS. GRUGAN: But I believe that the thrust of
the PTI program is to give prosecutors substantial
discretion into who gets into the diversionary program.

THE COURT: Oh, it gives case management and
the prosecutor’s office -- absolutely true. But it
can't be arbitrary. It can’t be capricious. And if
there’s a blanket policy that excludes a large portion
of the population, then there should be sc
basis for that exclusion. I just want to hear what it
is. You haven’t submitted it in writing, and you don’t
feel that you can do it today to tell me about that.

And if that’s the umbrella under which all the
other aspects of this case are being evaluated, then I
think the argument is well placed by the defense that
anybody else, other than Mr. Watkins, who would not be
a State employee rather, I should say -- anybody else
not being a State employee would have otherwise been
given this opportunity.
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instead of the Tuesday after Columbus Day would be that
Friday?

THE COURT: You’re talking about October. I
said November 12th, but you want October 15th? 1Is that
what you'’re saying?

-+ MS. SMITH:.-Yesy.okay. -I'm sorry. November

Tl - - B R e e L

THE COURT: I'm’ just g1v1ng the State some
tlme to submit. somethlng, so --

MS. SMITH: Judge, would you mlnd making it
the 19th, November 19th? I‘m still in two counties.

THE COURT: "November 19th.

MS. SMITH: Thank you so much. Would that be
at nine or 1:307?

THE COURT: 1:30.
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THE COURT: All right, State versus Charles
Watkins III, Indictment 04-01-0008. This is a State
Grand Jury matter, 04-0398 is the Prosecutor File
Number. We’re here for the hearing on the PTI-appeal.
Counsel if you’ll place your appearance on the record?

MS. SMITH: Good afternoon, Your Honor.
Kelly Smith Garces and Grabler,.:on behalf of Mr.
Watkins.
' g MS. GRUGAN: Denise Grugan, Deputy Attorney
General.

: THE COURT: All right, and you can all be
seated. Thank you very much. All right, I have
received the appeal and the submission from the State.
I think there were two. I’'m not sure if there were
two. There’s a -- yes, there were two responses from
the sState. :

MS. GRUGAN: There was an earlier one that I
sent to Janet Vonfossen (phonétic), and then I
responded to my adveérsary’s brief.

THE COURT: You replied, a letter, right,
okay. All right. Counsel?

MS. SMITH: Thank you, Your Honor. Your .
Honor, I know I gave you a lengthy brief and several

Colloquy

submissions that were somewhat piecemeal. But the
bottom line is that this is an individual who has a
prior municipal court record dating back to 1990. It
was' a municipal court charge of receiving stolen
property, downgra#ded. Other than that, his record has
been metlculously clean.

This is an individual that has suffered great
heartache from home. He has taken care of both his
parents who died from terminal diseases as well as his

brother. He’s put another brother through a drug

rehab, and while he was going through that drug rehab,
took in his brother’s children.

This is the same individual that has had a
very consistent work history while putting himself
through school when money was not at an abundance. He
has given back to his community. He’s had a State job
for 14 years plua working for Trenton State Hospital.

This is -- he’s led an extraordinary life.

In 1998 after approximately ten years of service with
Trenton State Hospital, there was a massive downsizing.
At that time, Mr. Watkins was temporarily let go, and
he ‘pursued unemployment benefits. Unemployment sent
him to school and simultaneously was sending him an
amount of money each month which he signed for. We're
talking about a four month period. It was from January
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to May. From my review of the discovery, we’re talking
about nine checks% ; :

During that interim, which is the key period
of time that’s at issue for the complaint, Mr. Watkins
was rehired by the State, and he went back té work, yet
he "8till cashed those checks. ® This is not a crime of
violence, and the outpouring of_ support from not only.
friends and family but employers,. colleagues, and
people in the community has been just an amazing -- I
was impressed, and I do these all the time. And just
-- it was incredible the people that have stepped
forward.

Thig.is .gxactly the type of individual that
PTI contemplates. If this man is given a probationary
sentence and has a conviction, he will lose his job,
which is pretty much everything he’s worked for, which
seems to me incredibly unfair and unjust, given what
we’re talking about. We're talking about a theft by
deception. 'We'‘re not talking about a crime of violence
or selling drugs into the community. We’re talking
about a mistake. ;

He’s perfectly willing to take responsibility
for that mistake and is perfectly willing to make
payments to restore that amount. I think the exact
figure is approximately $5,600. With taxes and

Colloquy

penalties it was, I think, an additional 2,000. I
don’t have the exact figure in front of me, but we’'re
talking a total of about 7,500, $7,600 in total. He's
willing to make that payment. He’s willing to move
forward with his life.

~ Unfortunately, despite the fact that he’s an
excellent candidate under the law and the purview of
all the elements that they lay out for PTI candidates,
and criminal case management, by the way, found him to
be a suitable candidate, the State has determined .
pretty much that he’s not. And what is that based on?
It’s based on the fact, first of all, that he’s a State
employee. He’s being held to a higher standard which,
in my estimation, is -- that in and of itself is
arbitrary and capricious.

Secondly, they’re looking at that 1950
conviction. That was 14 years ago, and it was a
municipal court conviction. I think that case is much
too old to be seriously contemplated.

3 And the other argument that the State’s
making is the fact that this was ongoing, which was
four months of unemployment. I don’t think that
constitutes a scheme against society. He .made a
mistake, and he’'s willing to pay for it.

I think the case law completely supports his

-
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admission in the PTI, given all the factors, and I
think that’s another downfall of the State. They're
not looking at this particular individual as a whole,
what he’s done for the community, what he’s done for
his job, what he’s done for his family. They’re
looking at him in a vacuum, and you can’t do that.
.That’s_arbitrary. PobdS o : e & :
But the fact that he’s being held to a higher
standard because he’s a State employee is completely
inappropriate for a PTI determination. If I had
committed the same offense, I’'d be getting into PTI
because I work for a private employer. If I was still
working for the PD office which I had done many years,
I wouldn’t get into PTI by virtue of the fact that I'm
a State employee, and that’s not right. There’s a bias
that’s built in there that’s completely capricious.
I can’t think of a more suitable candidate.
The State has a remedy in thé event that this-is a
farce, which I can assure-the Court it’s not. But in
the event that this is a farce, then he’s putting on a
hell of a show just to get into PTI. 1If he fails or he
fails to make one payment, he can be violated and we
could go right back to a guilty plea.
Mr. Watkins is even willing to plead guilty
as a condition of getting into PTI. That just goes to

. Colloquy )

show you his motivation and just not have it executed,
but he will lose his job. It seems to me under the
circumstances and the nature of this offense that the
appropriate remedy here is to commit this individual in
PTI. Not to make a sweeping generalization that all
theft by deceptions should be admitted, but this
individual, and it needs to be a case by case fact
sensitive analysis, and he’s an excellent candidate.
He’s the perfect candidate I would. respectfully submit.

And again, the -- I’ve spelled out the case
law in support of my position, and I know the Court is
well read in that regard. So I won’'t belabor the
point. I just wanted to hit the highlights. But it’s
just this is one of those cases where policy should be
thrown in the wind, and the individual should be taken
at face value.

THE COURT: All right, the State’s position?

MS. GRUGAN: Your Honor, indeed it is the
policy of the State of my office that we do not grant
PTI to State workers. It’s not arbitrary and
capricious. We hold workers to a higher standard, and
one of it is a preservation of our pension fund.

Also because we're dealing with State
workers, we -- at certain times, and this happened at
the time when this matter arose with Mr. Watkins, they
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will do what’s called a quarterly cross-match,.where
they will look at employees -- employer’s records, and
cross them with recipients of UI benefits, and they did
a clean sweep for all State workers. And this is
justified because we want to make sure that we don’t

. have people that are working for the system and also

taking.advantage.of .the.gystem. .

Mr. Watkins -- when they determined what your
monetary benefits are, it’s set up in a reserve, $6,000
approximately, in this matter. His benefits -- he
depleted those benefits, and they were even extended
further; given a whole new time frame for him to extend
his benefits.

So he got the benefit of more unemployment
insurance benefits, but he also got the benefit of -
getting an education while he was collecting those
benefits and still working. So he was getting a lot of -
assistance from the State, and he took advantage of
that assistance that’s being afforded to him, something
that is very gratuitous and generous, I think, by the
State.

This isn’t just one bad instance. He cashed
nine checks consecutively, over and over and over
again. And attached to each of those checks is a claim
form where he fills out and says if he’s working or not
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working, and in this instance he returned those claim
forms stating over and over and over again I'm
unemployed and therefore entitled to these benefits.

And on the back of each of these checks when he
endorses these checks there’s a certification where the
claimant has to state I’m entitled to these benefits, I
am unemployed, and I reported to the State all of my
wages and earnings during this time. So they’re given
every opportunity and notified you can‘t cash these
checks unless you’re entitled to them.

And also with regard to, you know, to the
context of being a State worker, Mr. Watkins was
employed as a human services technician. From what
I‘'ve been told by his employer, he is responsible for
handling a lot of patients’ monies and valuables, and I
guess that that’s what’s being considered. If he does
have a conviction on his record, there’s nothing
precluding him from going to another job and getting a
position, and they can take that responsibility of
knowing that, they’ve hired someone who has a conviction
on his record. ’

But he’s had every opportunity to change his
course of action. Not only that, but even before these
matters were transferred over to our office for
criminal prosecution, they notify defendants or
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employee. That'’'s not for the Attorney General’s Office
to do. Who died and made them the king that says well,
we’re going to hold New Jersey employees tO that higher
standard? Where’'s the justification for that? Where
in the law does it say that they have that ability?
There is a law that says that he will lose .his job

. . if he has a conviction. But there’s nowhere in.the. ... .

law, and certainly nowhere in the cases and its progeny
of PTI cases where it says the State of New Jersey has
the ability and the authority to say okay, you're a New
Jersey State employee so we're going to hold you to a
higher standard. Therefore, that’s the reason you
can’'t get into PTI. There'’'s no foundation for it.
That’s what makes it arbitrary. .

; So whether it’s an office-wide policy or not,
it’s a wrong policy. And I .will bet you dollars to
doughnuts that if this case went up to the Supreme
Court, the Supreme Court:would agree on it. There is
no authority for that basis. That’s what makes.it
capricious. s :

THE COURT: . So you're suggesting this is a
policy of the Attormey General’'s Office, the State of
New Jersey, that no one who is an employee of the State
of New Jersey can receive PTI from -- at any. time?

MS. GRUGAN: I was told by my office-that
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this is their position, that because he’s a State
worker, they would not give him -- they would not allow
him into PTI. They would not take that position. That
policy aside, Your Honor, I just wanted to point out
what’s in front of you, the mail claim benefit forms
and Question 7.. On that mail claim benefit form, he is
asked were you working? If yes, fill out the back and
tell us when you worked and what hours you worked and

 take it to your employer and make sure your employer

certifies that these were your earnings.

He did this over and over and over again, and
I would argue he knew exactly what he was -- for
example, on the front of that claim form he has to
sign, date and mail it by a specific date. And they
are --

THE COURT: Well, I'm sure that there’s no
doubt that, you know -- we don’t make things a crime
that aren’t somewhat, you know, intentional. So
obviously if he had just made an error in it, you
wouldn’t be charging him with a crime. So I understand
what you’'re saying in terms of what’s required to be
done here, and I don’t think he is now denying that.

The issue only becomes, at this time, you
know, whether or not the State has taken a position
that’s arbitrary and capricious, excuse me. Whether it
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is a statewide policy which I'm actually hearing for
the first time that there’s a policy that no one who is
a State employee would be entitled to PTI, I can’t
imagine that that’s true.

MS. GRUGAN: I was just told in this case.
This is one of the first -State workers that -I’wve had,
and..I have.gaone back to.my supervisors, and they’ve all
told me we will not allow PTI or endorse a candidate
for PTI who is a State worker.

THE COURT: Well, you know, that is fraught
with some difficulty in terms of the application. It
just flies in the face of PTI and what the analysis is
supposed to be in terms of case by case. You look at
the individual, you look at the ability to
rehabilitate, and so that policy gives me concern.

The municipal matter is, you know, one that
if I were making the decision, I would not consider in
terms of an old municipal conviction. But then again,
that’s not the standard. What I would do is of no
moment. It’s what the State does and whether the State
is acting arbitrarily and caoriciously.

The third one, as 1 understand it, is the
fact that this was alleged to be an ongoing crime, that
it happened nine times over the course of what I
believe, four months. And as a result of that, he can
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be excluded for the reasons that this was not just a
one time crime. I don’t know whether logically Mr.
Watkins, if he were to be indicted on this charge,
would -- oh, he is indicted. How was it indicted? Was
it indicted with nine counts?

MS. GRUGAN: Ng, it was just one count of
theft by deception.

THE COURT: I wouldn’t think it would have
been. 8So, you know, that’s the other, I guess, the
other factor that was being considered. It’s a
legitimate factor, and the defendant finds himself in a
position where the State has the power, essentially, as
long as they don’t abuse it, as long as they’'re not
arbitrary, as long as they’re nct capricious in their
analysis, whether it be just on one of the factors. It
would have to be on all three.

‘So in my view, without more analysis and
without more information, because I don’'t know whether
it actually can be represented today by -- on behalf of
the Attorney General’s Office, if there’s just a
blanket policy that no State employee is ever afforded
the opportunity to enter into PTI. I’m not sure if
that’s accurate. I’'m not sure if you’'re comfortable
saying that today. I don’t know --

MS. GRUGAN: I don’'t know too much about the
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is a statewide policy which I'm actually hearing for
the first time that there’s a policy that no one who is
a State employee would be entitled to PTI, I can’'t
imagine that that’s true.

MS. GRUGAN: I was just told in this case.
This is one of the first -State workers that -I’ve had,
and.I have.gaone bhack to.my supervisors, and they!ve all
told me we will not allow PTI or endorse a candidate
for PTI who is a State worker.

THE COURT: Well, you know, that is fraught
with some difficulty in terms of the application. It
just flies in the face of PTI and what the analysis is
supposed to be in terms of case by case. You look at
the individual, you look at the ability to
rehabilitate, and so that policy gives me concern.

The municipal matter is, you know, one that
if I were making the decision, I would not consider in
terms of an old municipal conviction. But then again,
that’s not the standard. What I would do is of no
moment. It’s what the State does and whether the State
is acting arbitrarily and capriciously.

The third one, as I understand it, is the
fact that this was alleged to be an ongoing crime, tuat
it happened nine times over the course of what I
believe, four months. And as a result of that, he can
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be excluded for the reasons that this was not just a
one time crime. I don’t know whether logically Mr.
Watkins, if he were to be indicted on this charge,
would -- oh, he is indicted. How was it indicted? Was
it indicted with nine counts?

MS. GRUGAN: Np, it was just one count of
theft by deception.

THE COURT: I wouldn’t think it would have
been. So, you know, that’s the other, I guess, the
other factor that was being considered. 1It’s a
legitimate factor, and the defendant finds himself in a
position where the State has the power, essentially, as
long as they don’t abuse it, as long as they’'re not
arbitrary, as long as they’re nct capricious in their
analysis, whether it be just on one of the factors. It
would have to be on all three.

‘S0 in my view, without more analysis and
without more information, because I don’'t know whether
it actually can be represented today by -- on behalf of
the Attorney General’s Office, if there’s just a
blanket policy that no State employee is ever afforded
the opportunity to enter into PTI. I’'m not sure if
that’s accurate. I’'m not sure if you’'re comfortable
saying that today. I don’t know =--

MS. GRUGAN: I don’'t know too much about the
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‘being -- that’s the policy that’s being applied here by
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he was not a State employee, this would not be an
issue. He would already be in PTI. And that’s the
problem. : 6y

And I don’t think the Attorney General's
Office is going to issue to the Court a written
proclamation stating its policy. The fact of- the

the very candor of the Deputy Attorney General.

THE COURT: Is this -- do you know if there
is such a policy? Let me just ask today, does any --

. MS. GRUGAN: I'm really not sure. I was just
told by -- since I indicted this case, 1've had two
supervisors and I went back to both -- to each of them,
and I’'ve asked them both for their consideration. They
said no. We do not allow it. And I was never given
any better explanation than that.

MS. SMITH: Your Honor, you know, just for
the record, this is no fault of this particular Deputy
Attorney General. She’s getting her marching orders
from the superiors in her office, but it’s very clear
that that’s the -- whether this policy is applied
uniformly throughout all defendant cases or not, the
thing applied to this individual, and that’s unfair.
That’s arbitrary. 3 .

Colloquy 19

MS. GRUGAN: Now, it is applied to all other
public employees as well. See, we deal with this also
at the municipal level, and I know that that'’'s always

- been the position, that they’'re probation cases. I

also just want to point out that when Mr. Watkins
received the benefits under the extended program --
it’s called ABT Program, what they do is ‘they figure
out a monetary reserve. He depleted his monetary

.reserve under the initial time he was given --

THE COURT: And they extended it.

MS. GRUGAN:  -- unemployment benefits. Then
they give him a whole new set of second monetary
reserve --

THE COURT: You told me that.

MS. GRUGAN: -- of 6,000. And the reason he

depleted almost all of that -- $5, 061 is the total

theft, falling just short of the 6,000 reserve. So,
you know, but for this quarterly cross-match, you know,
he got caught. You know, he never came forward. You
know, this isn’t Mr. Good Samaritan and said oh, you
know -~

THE COURT: No, this is being handled as a
crime. I understand that, you know, and he's
apparently willing to even plead to it. So I
understand that. You know, most of the times we don't
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instead of the Tuesday after Columbus Day would be that
Friday?

THE COURT: You’re talking about October. I
said November 12th, but you want October 15th? Is that
what you’re saying?

-+ MS. SMITku-XeSVAQkay' -I'm sorry. November

THE COURT: I‘m just glVlng the State some
time to submit. something, so --

MS. SMITH: Judge, would you mlnd making it
the 19th, November 19th? I‘m still in two counties.

THE COURT: 'November 19th.

MS. SMITH: Thank you so much. Would that be
at nine or 1:307?

THE COURT: 1:30.

* % % %k %
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THE COURT: All right, State versus Charles

Watkins III, Indictment 04-01-0008. This is a State
Grand Jury matter, 04-0398 is the Prosecutor File
Number. We’'re here for the hearing on the PTI appeal.
Counsel, if you’ll place your appearance on the record?

: MS. SMITH: Good afternoon, Your Honor.
Kelly Smith, Garces and Grabler,.:.on behalf of Mr.
Watkins. -
' MS. GRUGAN: Denise Grugan, Deputy Attorney
General.

A THE COURT: All right, and you can all be
seated. Thank you very much. All right, I have
received the appeal and the submission from the State.
I think there were two. I’m not sure if there were
two. There’s a -- yes, there were two responses from
the State. .

MS. GRUGAN: There was an earlier one that I
sent to Janet Vonfossen (phonétic), and then I
responded to my advérsary’s brief.

THE COURT: You replied, a letter, right,
okay. All right. Counsel?

MS. SMITH: Thank you, Your Honor. Your .
Honor, I know I gave you a lengthy brief and several

._Colloquy : 3

submissions that were somewhat piecemeal. But the
bottom line is that this is an individual who has a
prior municipal court record:dating back to 1990. It
was & municipal court charge of receiving stolen
property, downgr#ded. Other than that, his record has
been meticulously clean. '

This is an individual that has suffered great
heartache from home. He has taken care of both his
parents who died from terminal diseases as well as his
Jbrother. He’s put another brother through a drug
rehab, and while he was going through that drug rehab,
took in his brother’s children.

; This is the same individual that has had a
very consistent work history while putting himself
through school when money was not at an abundance. He
has given back to his community. He’s had a State job
for 14 years plus working for Trenton State Hospital.

This is -- he’s led an extraordinary life.

In 1998 after approximately ten years of service with
Trenton State Hospital, there was a massive downsizing.
At that time, Mr. Watkins was temporarily let go, and
he ‘pursued unemployment benefits. Unemployment sent
him to school and simultanecusly was sending him an
amount of money each month which he signed for. We're
talking about a four month period. It was from January
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to May. From my review of the discovery, we’re talking
about nine checks% ; :

During that interim, which is the key period
of time that’s at issue forthe complaint, Mr. Watkins
was rehired by the State, and he went back to work, yet
he "8till cashed those checks. ® This is not a crime of
violence, and the outpouring of_ support .from not oply.
friends and family but employers,. colleagues, and
people in the community has been just an amazing -- I
was impressed, and I do these all the time. And just
-- it was incredible the people that have stepped
forward.

Thig.is gxactly the type of individval that
PTI contemplates. If this man is given a probationary
sentence and has a conviction, he will lose his job,
which is pretty much everything he’s worked for, which
seems to me incredibly unfair and unjust, given what
we’re talking about. We're talking about a theft by
deception. ‘We’‘re not talking about a crime of violence
or selling drugs into the community. We’re talking
about a mistake. :

He’'s perfectly willing to take responsibility
for that mistake and ie perfectly willing to make
payments to restore that amount. I think the exact
figure is approximately $5,600. With taxes and

Colloquy S

penalties it was, I think, an additional 2,000. I
don’t have the exact figure in front of me, but we’'re
talking a total of about 7,500, $7,600 in total. He's
willing to make that payment. He’s willing to move
forward with his life.

~ Unfortunately, despite the fact that he’s an
excellent candidate under the law and the purview of
all the elements that they lay out for PTI candidates,
and criminal case management, by the way, found him to’
be a suitable candidate, the State has determined .
pretty much that he’s not. And what is that based on?
It’s based on the fact, first of all, that he’s a State
employee. He’s being held to a higher standard which,
in my estimation, is -- that in and of itself is
arbitrary and capricious.

Secondly, they’re looking at that 1590
conviction. That was 14 years ago, and it was a
municipal court conviction. I think that case is much
too old to be seriously contemplated.

: And the other argument that the State’s
making is the fact that this was ongoing, which was
four months of unemployment. I don’t think that
constitutes a scheme against society. He .made a
mistake, and he’'s willing to pay for it.

I think the case law completely supports his
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admission in the PTI, given all the factors, and I
think that’s another downfall of the State. They’'re
not looking at this particular individual as a whole,
what he’s done for the community, what he’s done for
his job, what he’s done for his family. They’re
loocking at him in a vacuum, and you can’t do that.

But the fact that he’s being held to a higher
standard because he’s a State employee is completely.
inappropriate for a PTI determination. If I had
committed the same offense, I’'d be getting into PTI
because I work for a private employer. If I was still
working for the PD office which I had done many years,
I wouldn‘t get into PTI by virtue of the fact that I‘m
a State employee, and that’s not right. There’s a bias
that’s built in there that’s completely capricious.

I can’t think of a more suitable candidate.
The State has a remedy in thé event that this is a
farce, which I can assure the Court it’s not. But in
the event that this is a farce, then he’s putting on a
hell of a show just to get into PTI. 1If he fails or he
fails to make one payment, he can be violated and we
could go right back to a guilty plea.

Mr. Watkins is even willing to plead guilty
as a condition of getting into PTI. That just goes to

Colloquy S

show you his motivation and just not have it executed,
but he will lose his job. It seems to me under the
circumstances and the nature of this offense that the
appropriate remedy here is to commit this individual in
PTI. Not to make a sweeping generalization that all
theft by deceptions should be admitted, but this
individual, and it needs to be a case by case fact
sensitive analysis, and he’s an excellent candidate.
He’s the perfect candidate I would. respectfully submit.

And again, the -- I’‘ve spelled out the case
law in support of my position, and I know the Court is
well read in that regard. So I won't belabor the
point. I just wanted to hit the highlights. But it‘s
just this is one of those cases where policy should be
thrown in the wind, and the individual should be taken
at face value.

THE COURT: All right, the State’s position?

MS. GRUGAN: Your Honor, indeed it is the
policy of the State of my office that we do not grant
PTI to State workers. It’s not arbitrary and
capricious. We hold workers to a higher standard, and
one of it is a preservation of our pension fund.

Also because we're dealing with State
workers, we -- at certain times, and this happened at
the time when this matter arose with Mr. Watkins, they
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will do what’s called a quarterly cross-match,.where
they will look at employees -- employer’s records, and
cross them with recipients of UI benefits, and they did
a clean sweep for all State workers. And this is
justified because we want to make sure that we don’t

. have people that are working for the system and also

taking.advantage.of .the.gystem. .

Mr. Watkins -- when they determined what your
monetary benefits are, it’s set up in a reserve, $6,000
approximately, in this matter. His benefits -- he
depleted those benefits, and they were even extended
further; given a whole new time frame for him to extend
his benefits.

So he got the benefit of more unemployment
insurance benefits, but he also got the benefit of -
getting an education while he was collecting those

benefits and still working. So he was getting a lot of -

assistance from the State, and he took advantage of
that assistance that’s being afforded to him, something
that is very gratuitous and generous, I think, by the
State. ¢
This isn’t just one bad instance. He cashed
nine checks consecutively, over and over and over
again. And attached to each of those checks is a claim
form where he fills out and says if he’'s working or not

Colloquy 9

working, and in this instance he returned those claim
forms stating over and over and over again I'm
unemployed and therefore entitled to these benefits.

And on the back of each of these checks when he
endorses these checks there’s a certification where the
claimant has to state I‘m entitled to these benefits, I
am unemployed, and I reported to the State all of my
wages and earnings during this time. So they’re given
every opportunity and notified you can‘t cash these
checks unless you’re entitled to them.

And also with regard to, you know, to the
context of being a State worker, Mr. Watkins was
employed as a human services technician. From what
I've been told by his employer, he is responsible for
handling a lot of patients’ monies and valuables, and I
guess that that’s what’s being considered. If he does
have a conviction on his record, there’s nothing

" precluding him from going to another job and getting a

position, and they can take that responsibility of
knowing that they’ve hired someone who has a conviction
on his record. i

But he’s had every opportunity to change his

course of action. Not only that, but even before these

matters were transferred over to our office for
criminal prosecution, they notify defendants or

R -
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claimants and say, let’s come and negotiate this. And
that matter wasn’t pursued here. It was largely
ignored by the defendant which is why it comes over to
our office for prosecution. That’s all.

THE COURT: Do you have any of those
documents that you’re referencing? .

MS. GRUGAN:. .Yes, Your. Honor..... .. .

THE COURT: Anything in response while she’s
looking? ’ . :
MS. SMITH: Judge, I can’t -- Mr. Watkins has
informed me they did reach out to him to make payment.
He went down to the office in order to do that. He
tried to make payment. ‘It was -- it never came about,
but I don’t think it was on his shoulders. They never
re-contacted him. He didn’t know.

Now, you can easily say well, it’s still your
responsibility, but he was willing at that time. He
has never not been willing. And the fact of the matter
is not withstanding this -- the nature of this charge,
it’s mandated that he lose his job. So it’s not really
discretionary on the employer. If in fact this goes
down as a conviction, that’s it. He will lose his job.
That’s a double punishment. :

It’s, you know, the -- with all the due
respect to my adversary, it’s a lot easier said than

Colloquy e fr

done to go out and find a decent paying job with decent
benefits when you have a conviction on your record.
And not to say well, he shouldn’t take responsibility
for his actions. He has taken responsibility for his
actions. He knows he made a mistake. He regrets it
greatly because his whole future -- and he’s sorry
about it. g

But it was a mistake. And that’s what PTI is
for. 1It’s for that person that makes a mistake.
Again, this is not a crime of violence. It‘’s not a
crime of selling drugs. He’'s willing to make the
restitution. Why not give him that opportunity? He is
paying his taxes. He'’s given back to the community.

He has just had a plethora of community support,
many of which are employers and colleagues and patients
at this job. 8o obviously he’s doing his job well. 1If
his employer has the discretion, if they wanted to,
they could fire him right now pending the outcome of
this. They haven’t done that. So he must be doing
something right.

Why not give him that opportunity and just --
again, not to belabor the point, but whether it’'s a
policy throughout the office or not, the policy is
flawed. You cannot hold someone to a higher standard
just by virtue of the fact that they‘re a State
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claimants and say, let’s come and negotiate this. And
that matter wasn’t pursued here. It was largely
ignored by the defendant which is why it comes over to
our office for prosecution. That’s all.

THE COURT: Do you have any of those
documents that you’re referencing? L

§ MS. GRUGAN:. ..Yes, Your. Honor..... ..

THE COURT: Anything in response while she’s
looking? ) . :
MS. SMITH: Judge, I can’t -- Mr. Watkins has
informed me they did reach out to him to make payment.
He went down to the office in order to do that. He
tried to make payment. ‘It was -- it never came about,
but I don’t think it was on his shoulders. They never
re-contacted him. He didn’t know.

Now, you can easily say well, it’s still your
responsibility, but he was willing at that time. He
has never not been willing. And the fact of the matter
iz -t withstanding this -- the nature of this charge,
il’s mandated that he lose his job. So it's not really
discretionary on the employer. If in fact this goes
down as a conviction, that’s it. He will lose his job.
That’s a double punishment. ’

It’s, you know, the -- with all the due
respect to my adversary, it’s a lot easier said than
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done to go out and find a decent paying job with decent
benefits when you have a conviction on your record.
And not to say well, he shouldn’t take respoasibility
for his actions. He has taken responsibility for his
actions. He knows he made a mistake. He regrets it
greatly because his whole future -- and he’s sorry
about it. .

But it was a mistake. And that’s what PTI is
for. 1It’s for that person that makes a mistake.
Again, this is not a crime of violence. 1It’s not a
crime of selling drugs.. He'’'s willing to make the
restitution. Why not give him that opportunity? He is
paying his taxes. He'’s given back to the community.

He has just had a plethora of community support,
many of which are employers and colleagues and patients
at this job. So obviously he’'s doing his job well. If
his employer has the discretion, if they wanted to,
they could fire him right now pending the outcome of
this. They haven’t done that. So he must be doing
something right.

Why not give him that opportunity and just --
again, not to belabor the point, but whether it‘s a
policy throughout the office or not, the policy is
flawed. You cannot hold someone to a higher standard
just by virtue of the fact that they’'re a State
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employee. That’s not for the Attorney General’s Office
to do. Who died and made them the king that says well,
we’re going to hold New Jersey employees to that higher
standard? Where’s the justification for that? Where
in the law does it say that they have that ability?
There is a law that says that he will lose.his job

_ if he has a conviction. But there’s nowhere in.the..... .

law, and certainly nowhere in the cases and its progeny
of PTI cases where it says the State of New Jersey has
the ability and the authority to say okay, you're a New
Jersey State employee so we’'re going to hold you to a
higher standard. Therefore, that’s the reason you
can’t get into PTI. There’s no foundation for it.
That’s what makes it arbitrary.

: So whether it’s an office-wide policy or not,
it’s a wrong policy. And I will bet you dollars to
doughnuts that if this case went up to the Supreme
Court, the Supreme Court-would agree on it. There is
no authority for that basis. That’s what makes.it
capricious. i :

THE COURT: . So you’re sugo=~ting this is a
policy of the Attorney General's Office, the State of
New Jersey, that no one who is an employee of the State
of New Jersey can receive PTI from -- at any. time?

MS. GRUGAN: I was told by my office-that

Colloquy ' 13

this is their position, that because he’s a State
worker, they would not give him -- they would not allow
him into PTI. They would not take that position. That
pdélicy aside, Your Honor, I just wanted to point out
what’s in front of you, the mail claim benefit forms
and Question 7. On that mail claim benefit form, he is
asked were you working? If yes, £fill out the back and
tell us when you worked and what hours you worked and

‘ take it to your employer and make sure your employer

certifies that these were your earnings.

He did this over and over and over again, and
I would argue he knew exactly what he was -- for
example, on the front of that claim form he has to
sign, date and mail it by a specific date. And they
are --

THE COURT: Well, I’‘m sure that there’s no
doubt that, you know -- we don’t make things a crime
that aren’t somewhat, you know, intentional. So
obviously if he had just made an error in it, you
wouldn’t be charging him with a crime. So I understand
what you're saying in terms of what'’s required to be
done here, and I don’t think he is now denying that.

The issue only becomes, at this time, you
know, whether or not the State has taken a position
that’'s arbitrary and capricious, excuse me. Whether it
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is a statewide policy which I‘m actually hearing for
the first time that there’s a policy that no one who is
a State employee would be entitled to PTI, I can’t
imagine that that’s true.

MS. GRUGAN: ' I was just told in this case.
This is one of the first .State workers that-I’'ve had,
and. I have.gone back to.my supervisors, and they!ve all
told me we will not allow PTI or endorse a candidate
for PTI who is a State worker.

THE COURT: Well, you know, that is fraught
with some difficulty in terms of the application, It
just flies in the face of PTI and what the analysis is
supposed to be in terms of case by case. You look at
the individual, you look at the ability to
rehabilitate, and so that policy gives me concern.

The municipal matter is, you know, one that
if I were making the decision, I would not consider in
terms of an old municipal conviction. But then again,
that’s not the standard. What I would do is of no
moment. 1It’s what the State does and whether the State
is acting arbitrarily and capriciously.

The third one, as I understand it, is the
fact that this was alleged to be an ongoing crime, that
it happened nine times over the course of what I
believe, four months. And as a result of that, he can

Colloquy 15

be excluded for the reasons. that this was not just a
one time crime. I don’t know whether logically Mr.
Watkins, if he were to be indicted on this charge,
would -- oh, he is indicted. How was it indicted? Was
it indicted with nine counts?

MS. GRUGAN: Ng, it was just one count of
theft by deception.

THE COURT: I wouldn’t think it would have
been. So, you know, that’s the other, I guess, the
other factor that was being considered. 1It’s a
legitimate factor, and the defendant finds himself in a
position where the State has the power, essentially, as
long as they don’t abuse it, as long as they’re not
arbitrary, as long as they’re not capricious in their
analysis, whether it be just on one of the factors. It
would have to be on all three.

.So in my view, without more analysis and
without more information, because I don't know whether
it actually can be represented today by -- on behalf of
the Attorney General’'s Office, if there’s just a
blanket policy that no State employee is ever afforded
the opportunity to enter into PTI. I‘m not sure if
that’'s accurate. I‘m not sure if you’'re comfortable
saying that today. I don’t know --

MS. GRUGAN: I don’t know too much about. the




b3

3

“
§

VOOV WNH

VoA WK

Colloquy -k

policy other than I have gone back to my supexrvisors
over --

. THE COURT: So the crux of the issue is this
nine times that it was done, in my view because the
other two -- I think there’s an argument that can be
made that if that-be the case,. that there-is this

-blanket policy, that. that may _he a decision that the

State has made that flies in the face of what PTI is
intended to do.
‘But the guestion is whether or not, looking

. at the nine times that this was done, is sufficient

basis to have Mr. Watkins excluded from PTI.

MS. SMITH: Judge,  if I may respond? I can’t
tell you the countless theft by deception,. speciflcally
welfare fraud or --

THE COURT: You don’t have to tell me about_
that. I see it every day. But that’s not the
standard. I mean, if the standard is whether or not
the action under this circumstance is arbitrary.

MS. SMITH: I understand that. But if -- how
can you reconcile where welfare fraud with they’re
receiving -- which is a similar, you know, mirror image
of this case, where they are receiving u.cnefits
repeatedly over a course of time, whica I would submit
to you four months is not that long, but over a course

Colloquy 17

of time -- or whether it be unemployment benefits or
whatever benefits they’re not entitled to, given the
circumstances,; that how can you reconcile the fact that
those individuals are in PTI? And I can think of one
right off the top of my head where it was a ten year
period.

How can you reconcile that and not
acknowledge the fact that you have the Deputy Attorney
General telling you right now that she was advised by
her supervisors that he’s being held to a higher
standard, and that’s how the DAG opened her remarks to
the Court?

THE COURT: That’s true.

MS. SMITH: We're holding thls individual as
a State employee to a higher standard because of, you
know, the benefits and the State was generous with him
and all this other -- but the fact of the matter is, he
is being held to a higher standard. That’s what’s
arbitrary. So it’s convenient that this happened over

~a four month périod of time and involves nine checks.

But the fact of the matter is we do have one
indictment, and the Court itself has acknowledged the
fact that these types of cases on a routine basis get
into PTI. 8o you can’t disregard this higher standard.
That’'s what’s arbitrary here. I guarantee you that if
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he was not a State employee, this would not be an
issue. He would already be in PTI. And that’s the
problem.

: And I don’t think the Attorney General'
Office is going to issue to the Court a written
proclamation stating its policy. The fact of the
-matter is that’s their.policy, and that’s.certainly..

‘being -- that'’s the policy that’s being applied here by

the very candor of the Deputy Attorney General.

THE COURT: Is this -- do you know if there
is such a policy? Let me just ask today, does any --

- MS. GRUGAN: I'm really not sure. I was just
told by -- since I indicted this case, I’'ve had two
supervisors and I went back to both -- to each of them,
and I’ve asked them both for their consideration. They
said no. We do not allow it. And I was never given
any better explanation than that.

MS. SMITH: Your Honor, you know, just for
the record, this is no fault of this particular Deputy
Attorney General. She’s getting her marching orders
from the superiors in her office, but it’s very clear
that that’s the -- whether this policy is applied
uniformly throughout all defendant cases or not, the
thing applied to this individual, and that’s unfair.
That’s arbitrary.

Colloquy 19

MS. GRUGAN: Now, it is applied to all other
public employees as well. See, we deal with this also
at the municipal level, and I know that that’s always

" been the position, that they’re probation cases. I

also just want to point out that when Mr. Watkins
received the benefits under the extended program --
it’s called ABT Program, what they do 'is ‘they figure
out a monetary reserve. He depleted his monetary

‘reserve under the initial time he was given --

THE COURT: And they extended it.
MS. GRUGAN: - -- unemployment benefits. Then

- they give him a whole new set of second monetary

reserve --
THE COURT: You told me that.
MS. GRUGAN: -- of 6,000. And the reason he

depleted almost all of that -- $5, 061 is the total

theft, falling just short of the 6,000 reserve. 8o,
you know; but for this quarterly cross-match, you know,
he got caught. You know, he never came forward. You
know, this isn’t Mr. Good Samaritan and said oh, you
know -~

THE COURT: No, this is being handled as a
crime. I understand that, you know, and he’s
apparently willing to even plead to it. So I
understand that. You know, most of the times we don't
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look for Good Samaritans when we’re dealing with, you
know, these issues.

So the concern that I have is -- you’ve
placed in this case the fact that he is a State
employee and therefore not entitled to PTI. 8o I think
-I.need .something =---if there’'s a policy, do you have ': -

-  ~any.case law-because you didn’t cite any then --- e

MS. GRUGAN: No.

THE COURT: -- to suggest that that’s an
appropriate --

MS. GRUGAN No, I just know that this is the

THE COURT: - -- factor to ronsider? And why
would that be appropriate?

MS. GRUGAN: I can’'t give you an answer to
that right now.

THE COURT: Well, I’'ll give you an
opportunity to supplement the record with something
that would argue ‘that State employees are not entitled

- to PTI, or this particular person, being a State
employee under these circumstances, is not allowed
entry into PTI, but for some reason. Give me some
reason why it is that a State employee would be barred,
if it’s a general policy. Or if it’s specific to this
individual, then why this specific inaividual?

Colloquy 21

MS. GRUGAN: Your Honor, the State -- the
fact that he’s a State employee, putting that aside, we
do have enough here that merits his disgualification
from the program.

THE COURT: Oh, I still.want to hear this.
This is the first time I'm ever hearing that no State
employee can be given PTI.

MS. GRUGAN: But I believe that the thrust of
the PTI program is to give prosecutors substantial
discretion into who gets into the diversionary program.

THE COURT: Oh, it gives case management and
the prosecutor’s office -- absolutely true. But it
can’'t be arbitrary. It can’t be capricicus. And if
there’s a blanket policy that excludes a large portion
of the population, then there should be scme reasonable
basis for that exclusion. I just want to hear what it
is. You haven’t submitted it in writing, and you don’‘t
feel that you can do it today to tell me about that.

And if that’s the umbrella under which all the
other aspects of this case are being evaluated, then I
think the argument is well placed by the defense that
anybody else, other than Mr. Watkins, who would not be
a State employee rather, I should say -- anybody else
not being a State employee would have ctherwise been
given this opportunity.
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MS. GRUGAN: Well, Your Honor, you know, to
call this a single mistake -- this isn’'t a single
mistake. This is a -- : .

i THE COURT: You've made your point about
that. ;
. . MS. GRUGAN:.. And he’s made a mistake before.

. «.THE COURT:... I.need.further information, -and- - .-
I'm asking you to- submit something further on the issue
of the policy. ,The fact of the matter is that -- and
maybe it’s because your office does something

different. But most of the prosecutions occur within
the County itself. And so I don’t have a great wealth
of information from the Attorney General’s Office and
admissions into PTI. So I'm at a loss.

But I can tell you that routinely, welfare
fraud with five, eight, ten,. eleven thousand dollars --
there are some monetary guidelines that have been
developed within case management that if it’s, you
know, $75,000 or $25,000, the problem is that that
probably cannot be paid off in the three year time
period that PTI usually covers. So it would be
impossible for restitution to be paid. And under those
guidelines, then PTI is not an appropriate way to deal
with the given case. That’s the only time the money
issue comes in. But they’re often on a repeated basis.

Colloquy 23

It’s an ongoing issue.

So in and of itself,. though you may consider
that, and that’s what.I said before, my concern is that
others of similar offenses would be allowed into PTI
except for this policy that the State has. Now, you
may f£ind out more information about that. You may not.
And then I‘m going to be required then to make a
decision based upon what I have here before me. But i
does give me concern. I've never heard this before,
where State employees are not entitled to PTI. I'm a
State employee, and I‘d like to know whether I'd be
entitled to PTI.

MS. GRUGAN: I wouldn’t say State employees.
I’'d say public employees.

THE COURT: God forbid I ever did anything.
Pardon?

MS. GRUGAN: Public employees.

THE COURT: Public employees. Well, now,-
that’s a redefinition as opposed to any State employee?

; MS. GRUGAN: Well, yes, I mean, public
employees could be someone who's working for the County
or the, you know, another agency of this -- within this
state but -- versus a State. I'm employed by the State
versus someone who is employed by the County.

THE COURT: So now you’re saying anyone
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Psychiatric Hospital as well as their personal property
and possessions. There’s a nexus between his position
ai. the responsibility of taking care of personal
property and a crime involving dishonesty.

Finally, there’s, you know, I mentioned also
in my first brief that this is a continuing course of
conduct. And I know I brought this up earlier. You
know, Unemployment, when they look at an application --
and they’re only allowed to file one unemployment claim
per year. This defendant filed a claim. He was given
a monetary reserve. He depleted that claim and then a
whole new reserve was extended to him. As a result of
that extension, he was given a whole new set of
unemployment claims. Those claims were fully depleted
by the defendant. If it had been 10,000, 15 - 20,000
that had been put in reserve for the defendant, that’s
how much he would have stolen from the State. The
integrity of the Unemployment Insurance Fund has to be
preserved. It’s there for the citizens of this state
who pay into it and at times need it. 1It’s to bridge
that gap. This defendant exploited it. He took
advantage of it and he abused it. And he’s been
afforded a lot of opportunity prior *~ indictment to
handle this matter with the State.

You know, and I know Your Honor said that you

Colloquy 1

weren’t going to consider his 1990 Municipal Court
conviction. You know, we do look at that. We look at
a lot of factors and that was one that came up on his
criminal rap sheet that we alsc take into account.

And for those reasons, Your Honor, the State
respectfully requests that his admission into PTI be
denied.

MS. SMITH: Your Hor , the Deputy Attorney
General has now just indicated ch.t they don’t have a
policy, but I provided Your Honor with a transcript of
the proceeding and let’s very briefly just refer to
Page 7. And I'm going to quote, “Your Honor, indeed it
is the policy of the State of my office that we do not
grant PTI to State workers. It is not arbitrary and
capricious. We hold workers to a higher standard and
one of it is a preservation of our pension fund.”

Now whether the DAG misspoke at that hearing
or not, it would seem to me that there is a policy just
by virtue of what'’s been argued now. She is holding
her -- excuse me, her office is holding a State
employee to a higher standard. That’s the real issue.
It’s not really about the 1990 conviction. It’s not
really about this continuing course of conduct. It’s
the fact that he is a State employee.

I would submit to Your Honor if he was

=~
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1 Department of Labor.
2 Shortly thereafter, the investigator assigned
3 to this case called the phone number that was listed on
4 Mr. Watkins’ UI claim form, when he filed that claim
5 for application. The number is 609-656-1064, and this
6 was in the report that I gave my adversary. And she
7 wrote in her report, the person (sounded like a young
8 man) that answered the telephone stated that Mr.
9 Watkins was not at home. I then told this person that
10 I wished to speak with Mr. Charles Watkins, III. This
i1 person then stated that Mr. Watkins, III was not at
12 home. I then asked if Mr. Charles Watkins resided at
13 67 General Green Avenue and this person said yes. It
14 is noted that this person refused to identify himself.
i5 It is further noted that I asked this person to have
16 Mr. Watkins, III contact me at the Trenton Regional
17 Investigation Office to arrange an appointment.
18 Complainant has not responded. As a result, this
19 matter was referred to the Division Of Criminal
20 Justice. It is also important to point out that no
21 voluntary payments have been made by the defendant
22 towards the State’s allegation and on this claim. Yet
23 the defendant comes here now, now that he’s been
24 indicted saying please disregard the State’s charges.
L 25 He's had every opportunity pre indictment to handle
(.
Colloquy 5 ‘W
1 this. This is indicative of someone whose character is
2 not amenable to rehabilitation and should go through
- § the ordinary criminal process.
4 Yes, we wanted to handle this pre indictment.
5 Now he’s asking the State to dismiss its charges
6 through letting him in the PTI. Tangential to the
. 7 defendant’s argument is he wants us to take into
3 8 account challenging family situations. And I am indeed
9 sympathetic towards those family situations that were
o 10 outlined in the letters. However, I have seen, as a
‘ 11 prosecutor and I'm sure Your Honor has also seen, that
12 every defendant that comes before Your Honor has ;
13 similar types of family challenges. And this in no way ]
14 should be taken into account by the Court. He should H
15 be allowed to confront the charges that the State has !
16 presented. i
c 17 Now the guideline that I discussed in my |
18 prief, Guideline 3, talks about where there’s a breach !
19 of the public trust, where admission into PTI would ;
J 20 deprecate the seriousness of the defendant’s crime and !
21 the defendant’s application should generally be !
22 rejected. This is where the State looks at this !
23 statute when it applies within the context of a public
24 employee. Here we have a defendant who is responsible
2 for taking care of mental patients at Trenton
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1 Psychiatric Hospital as well as their personal property
2 and possessions. There’s a nexus between his position
3 and the responsibility of taking care of personal
4 property and a crime involving dishonesty.
5 Finally, there’s, you know, I mentioned also
6 in my first brief that this is a continuing course of
7 conduct. And I know I brought this up earlier. You
8 know, Unemployment, when they look at an application --
9 and they’re only allowed to file one unemployment claim
10 per year. This defendant filed a claim. He was given
11 a monetary reserve. He depleted that claim and then a
12 whole new reserve was extended to him. As a result of
13 that extension, he was given a whole new set of
14 unemployment claims. Those claims were fully depleted
15 by the defendant. If it had been 10,000, 15 - 20,000
16 that had been put in reserve for the defendant, that’s
39, how much he would have stolen from the State. The
18 integrity of the Unemployment Insurance Fund has to be
15 preserved. It’s there for the citizens of this state
20 who pay into it and at times need it. 1It’s to bridge
21 that gap. This defendant exploited it. He took
22 advantage of it and he abused it. And he’s been
23 afforded a lot of opportunity prior to indictment to
24 handle this matter with the State.
25 You know, and I know Your Yonor said that you
-
Colloquy 7
1 weren’t going to consider his 1990 Municipal Court
4 conviction. You know, we do look at that. We look at
3 a lot of factors and that was one that came up on his
4 criminal rap sheet that we also take into account.
5 And for those reasons, Your Honor, the State
6 respectfully requests that his admission into PTI be
7 denied.
\ 8 MS. SMITH: Your Honor, the Deputy Attorney
9 General has now just indicated that they don’t have a
10 policy, but I provided Your Honor with a transcript of |
& 11 the proceeding and let’s very briefly just refer to ]
12 Page 7. And I'm going to quote, “Your Honor, indeed it
13 is the policy of the State of my office that we do not
14 grant PTI to State workers. It is not arbitrary and
15 capricious. We hold workers to a higher standard and
16 one of it is a preservation of our pension fund.” |
o 17 Now whether the DAG misspoke at that hearing |
18 or not, it would seem to me that there is a policy just '
19 by virtue of what’s been argued now. She is holding
) 20 her -- excuse me, her office is holding a State
21 employee to a higher standard. That’s the real issue.
2 It’s not really about the 1990 conviction. It’s not
23 really about this continuing course of conduct. It’s
24 the fact that he is a State employee.
25 I would submit to Your Honor if he was !
3
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employed by a private hospital with those same
obligations and responsibilities of caring for the
patient, caring for their property, that trust issue,
we would not be here today. But because he’'s employed
by the State, and quite frankly I don’t see the nexus
at all. He has not been charged with any sort of
inappropriate behavior on the confines of his
employment. This was unemployment benefits. He made a
mistake. We’re not contesting that. He is guilty of
receiving unemployment benefits when he wasn’t supposed
to. It’s a third degree crime. He is willing to pay
the money back. 1It’s completely irrelevant what has
occurred with respect to the State’s investigation by
the Unemployment Office as far as his repayment prior
to him being charged. Because if that matters, theay
can’t prove or disprove whether or not he received
messages, whether or not he was informed. I think
that’s completely irrelevant and I don’t think it’s
appropriate to be argued here.

The fact of the matter is whether it’s a
written policy, whether it’s a known policy that’s put
under the rug, the DAG right now right here is saying
that he’s being held to a higher standard because he’s
a State employee. You can’t do that under the law. I
don’t see a shred of case law bincd:._  that policy. You

Colloquy 9

can't 4db it

So I would ask Your Honor, since that’s the
real issue here and beyond his family circumstances,
he’s an excellent PTI candidate. I can’t see how Your
Honor cannot acknowledge the fact that whether it’s
spoken or not, there is a policy in this office with
regard to State workers and that’s what’s arbitrary and
capricious.

I don’t know if you want me to address any of
the other points raised. I think that this was --

THE COURT: 1It’s up to you if you wish to --

MS. SMITH: I pretty much exhausted them last
time we were here so I don’t want to belabor the point.
But I believe that was the point of coming back today
to address that issue. So unless Your Honor has
specific questions, I’1ll submit on whatever I argued.

THE COURT: All right, thank you. Anything
else in response?

MS. GRUGAN: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right, well, I'm going to
take some time to think on this one because as I
indicated the last time I was here and we were
altogether, I liken this case to others that I see on a
routine basis of where welfare benefits are taken when
people are not entitled to them. And one of the things
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that I see very often being offered is PTI. No, these
people, I could tell you, often don’t have a job. I
don’t know whether they work for the State, they work
for private industry. I don’t know, but it’s certainly
something that is often extended to an individual.

And perhaps I’1l1l hear that it’s tied to the
amount of money that is involved because there might be
a more significant meaning to that for a number of
reasons or it might have something specifically to do
with the ability to pay restitution and it just may not
be able to do something like that over the course of a
three-year PTI period.

But in any event, you know, I see this in a
very similar way and what I need to now analyze since I
have really received nothing further than -- no further
real direct proof that there is some policy by the
State that anyone who is employed by the State in a
similar situation would be denied admittance into PTI
because of the status of being a State employee.

That’s what I expected to explore today.

I’'m being told that, you know, that doesn’t
exist, but rather there’s a different analysis going
on. And I frankly have to look at this carefully to
see if I accept your argument that, in fact, it is
universal application essentially made bv the Attorney

Colloquy 11

General’s Office under these circumstances. I’m not
sure whether I can agree with that or not. But I have
this discomfort with the fact that for all other
purposes except for the issues raised today that there
are opportunities allowed for Mr. Watkins to have
availed himself to civil remedies, failing to go to
those remedies means that he is someone who disregards
paying back the money and therefore disregards and
perhaps is not rehabilitatable. That may be one way to
look at that.

On the other hand, it continues to be
unsettling to me that if the State affords that
opportunity to resolve these matters in a civil way --
under the civil proceedings with a fact finding hearing
and perhaps a payment schedule being worked out, once
it’s referred to the State, presumably similar people
who have resolved it without a criminal consequence and
admittedly those people responded in that civil
context.

Nonetheless, those that don’t, they are now
not afforded an opportunity for PTI because they didn’t
do well in the civil portion, they didn’t respond, I
don’t know.

So there are a nur °r of layers here that I
have to really sort out. I a.so understand that the

R
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Court has very limited authority to overturn a
prosecutor’s decision. It is given great deference
unless the prosecutor in this case, the State Attorney
General’s Office, has grossly abused their discretion,
acted arbitrarily. Then I, of course, cannot adjust it
and I need to digest what has happened here and what
the circumstances are. I think the State certainly can
make a cogent argument that they have considered Mr.
Watkins as an individual and considered all the
relevant factors and nonetheless find him that he
should not be allowed the opportunities of PTI.

But in the unusual circumstances I have here
with the prior argument having been made, I believe I
need to digest this a bit further and I will issue a
written decision, okay? Let me give myself a short, as

short as I can, date so that the next time -- I guess I
should give it at least a tracking date so I don’t lose
this case. This is now -- it’s actually indicted. Is

it on a track anywhere? Did you appear before Judge
Bielamowicz?

MS. GRUGAN: (Indiscernible) Judge
Bielamowicz, but I think it’s been kind of put on hold
til this matter is resolved.

THE COURT: Yes, because of me. Okay, so if
my decision is to deny the appeal, the ..3e would go

Collequy 13

back before Judge Bielamowicz for further disposition.
If I grant the appeal, then it would be up to the State
to either appeal that decision or, you know, allow the
admission. So I'm just trying to factor in where I --
let me place it for January 10th. That would be before
Judge Bielamowicz unless you hear from me otherwise and
then we’ll have to do the necessary -- each one of us,
okay? All right, thank you.

MS. SMITH: Thank you, Your Honor.

MS. GRUGAN: Thank you, Your Honor.

o ¥ ¥y B @
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1 THE COURT: Are you ready.
2 MS. GRUGAN: Yes.
3 THE COURT: oOkay.
4 MS. GRUGAN: Denise Grugan, G-R-U-G-A-N,
5 Deputy Attorney General.
6 MR. CARUSO: I am John D. Caruso,
7 C-A-R-U-S-0, law firm of Garces and Grabler on behalf
8 of Mr. watkins.
9 THE COURT: Thank you. You're before the
10 court for a status conference on Indictment 04-01-0008.
11 I don't have the file unfortunately. Are there any
12 counts in there other than the theft by deception? Is
13 it a single count?
14 MS. GRUGAN: The second count is unsworn
15 falsification to authorities.
16 THE COURT: And, Mr. watkins, I understand
17 vyou're prepared to enter a guilty plea todax to Count 1
18 of this indictment which charges you with t eft by
19 deception; is that correct, sir?
20 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
21 THE COURT: Did you have enough time to
22 discuss this matter with counsel?
23 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
24 THE COURT: And has your attorney answered
25 all of your questions to your satisfaction?
PLEA
3
1 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
2 THE COURT: Before we continue then, I'll
3 ask that you be sworn. would you please produce the
4 Bible from the podium. Place your left hand on the
5 Bible, raise your right hand, and the court clerk will
6 administer an oath.
7 CHARLES ALONDDO WATKINS, III,
8 DEFENDANT, SWORN.
9 THE CLERK: State your full name for the
10 record.
1 THE DEFENDANT: Charles Alondo
12 watkins, III.
13 THE COURT: According to the q1ea form,
14 wMr. watkins, if Kou enter this guilty plea, the state
15 will recommend that you be placed on probation for a
16 term of two years. There will be no probation
17 supervision fees, but there will be a consent judgment,
18 and you're preserving the right to agpea1 the denial of
19 your PTI application. Count 2 will be dismissed.
20 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
21 THE COURT: That is your understanding of
22 the plea?
23 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
24 THE COURT: I did read that correctly?
25 MS. GRUGAN: Yes. I just wanted to explain




PLEA

4

1 we were going to ask the Court to waive any probation
2 fee because_the consent judgment is not just -- it is
3 principal ?1us penalty and interest, and it is

4 substantial.

b THE COURT: Okaﬁ' I have no problem at all
g wigh that. And what is the amount, have you agreed on

1ty

8 MS. GRUGAN: Yes. The total principal,

9 gena1ty, and interest is $7,610.78. Do you want a

10 reak-out of that, what is principal?

11 THE COURT: No, as long as Mr. watkins has
12 an understanding of the amount of restitution that he
13 will be required to pay as a condition of probation.
14 Do you understand that?

15 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

16 THE COURT: 1Is it realistic to expect that
17 he will be able to do this in two years?

18 MR. CARUSO: To answer that question,

19 3Judge, he is currently collecting disability for a
20 work-related injury. I'm not entirely optimistic it
21 will be paid within the two years. I told him to make
22 a good-faith effort at paying it, given the fact right
23 now he has a limited income.
24 THE COURT: The other ihing we could do is
25 to make the period of probation three years, but if he

PLEA
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1 s able to complete payment before then, then probation
2 can be terminated after two.

3 MR. CARUSO: That would be preferable.

4 THE COURT: 1Is that agreeable?

5 MR. CARUSO: That would be preferable.

6 THE COURT: A1l right. Then I'1l]l make that
7 adjustment on my copy.

8 MS. GRUGAN: I do have a signed consent

9 judgment that needs your signature. May I approach

10 your law clerk?

11 THE COURT: Yes.

12 MR. CARUSO: Just so Mr. watkins

13 understands, if he pays it earlier and complies with
14 probation, he wouldn't be precluded from early

15 termination below the two-year mark?

16 THE COURT: You agree to that?

17 MS. GRUGAN: Yes.

18 THE COURT: Okay. A1l right. were there

19 any other promises or statements of any type that were
20 made to ¥ou to convince you to plead guilty other than
21 what I placed on the record, sir?
22 THE DEFENDANT: NO, your Honor.
23 THE COURT: For the record, what is your
24 date of birth?

THE DEFENDANT: March 19th, 1966.
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THE COURT: Do you read and write the
English language?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And what is the highest level
of education you've completed?

THE DEFENDANT: college. college for Tike
two years. I received culinary certificates,
clericali/secretarial, computers.

THE COURT: A1l right. And are you under
the influence today of any substance including
medication that could affect your ability to think
clearly and understand these proceedings?

THE DEFENDANT: NoO.

THE COURT: Do you have a copy of the plea
form there?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: A1l right. Now, this plea form
consists of three pages. Did you review the questions
on all three pages with your attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I did.

THE COURT: Did he read the questions to
y?u, gid you read them to yourself, or did both take
place”

THE DEFENDANT: Both tock place.

THE COURT: Did you sign the back page,

—
-
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sir?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: would you take a look at it and
confirm that that is your signature.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And did you sign this plea form
of your own free will?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Did you do so after reviewing
the questions on all three pages?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Did you answer all of the
questions?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Are all of the answers that are
circled or filled-in your answers?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And are they truthful?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: By reviewing the information on
this plea form, sir, do you understand that you would
be required to pay a number of mandatory penalties?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: I'm going to review these with
you. $50 violent Crimes Compensation Board penalty.

S NS VS S SN SRS SIS —. ) VP, & SN G,
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1 THE DEFENDANT: Yes. _
2 THE COURT: $75 safe Neighborhood Services
3 Fund.
4 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
5 THE COURT: And $30 Law Enforcement
6 officer's Training Fund.
7 THE DEFENDANT: Correct. :

8 THE COURT: And {ou'11 also have to provide
9 a DNA sample, and the results of that analysis will be
10 maintained in a data bank similar to fingerprints. Are

11 you aware of that?

12 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

13 THE COURT: Now, the offense to which

14 you're pleading gui1t¥, sir, is a crime of the third
15 degree and under our law it carries a maximum sentence
16 of five years. Now, in the event that you don't comply
17 with some of the conditions of probation which I

18 impose, or that are part of this agreement, you can be
19 charged with a violation, and if you're found guilty,
20 then you do face jail time of up to five years, do you
21 understand that?

22 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

23 THE COURT: Are you also »ware I can impose
24 other conditions of probation, other than those to

25 which you agreed with the state?

PLEA
9

1 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

2 THE COURT: For instance, community

3 service?

4 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

5 THE COURT: A1l right. Mr. watkins, are

6 you also aware instead of entering a guilty plea today,
7 vyou have a right to a trial by jury?

8 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

9 THE COURT: Do you understand if you went

10 to trial, you would be presumed innocent unless and

11 until the state proved that you were guilty beyond a
12 reasonable doubt?

13 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

14 THE COURT: Do you also understand that at
15 trial you would have had the right, through your

16 attorney, to cross-examine or ask questions of all of
17 the state's witnesses?

18 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

19 THE COURT: And you also could have called
20 witnesses to testify on your behalf, are you aware of
21 that?
22 THE DEFENDANT: Right. Yes.
23 THE COURT: Do you have any questions so
24 far?

THE DEFENDANT: No.
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: -- and it continue until
May 22nd --

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: -- in 19997

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And what happened in May of
1999 that changed the situation?

THE DEFENDANT: Actually, I got a phone
call from, I guess it was the --

MR. CARUSO: Prosecutor's office.

THE DEFENDANT: -- attorney general's
13 office, and I had spoken with a man, I think his name
was David, in regards to that it needs to be paid back.
At that point in time I did let him know that I was in
the process of seeking to start paying it back. And he
asked me have I ever been on a payment plan with them
before and I said no. And, he said, well, I'11 call

ou back. He never called me back. The next thing I
new I got a letter in the mail stating they were

pressing charges.

THE COURT: And how do you plead to theft
by deception?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty. )

THE COURT: And are you entering this

PLEA
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guilty plea of your own free will?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Counsel, do you have any
supplementary questions you would like to ask
Mr. watkins for the record?

MS. GRUGAN: No questions, but I can
clarify though because we have the evidence. It was
through a mail certification that he would receive in
the mail, he has to certify that he was unemq]oyed for
a two-week period. If he sends in those mai
certificates by a certain date, the Department of Labor
holds them for two or three days, and then a check is
cut, so that is how.

THE COURT: That is pretty consistent with
what he indicated.

MS. GRUGAN: As far as the unemployment
period, I think_it's just important to point out he was
eligible to collect, he did indeed collect, and then
his benefits were extended, again, on a special program
that they -- the state offers where you can work if
you're go1ng to college. So his benefits were extended
for a whole second term as long as he continued his
education. However, he did not notify the state that
he was still employed, and that is what happened.

THE COURT: Okay.
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1 MR. CARUSO: Make sure you go down there.
2 THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I will.
( 3 THE COURT: A11 right. Thank you.
4 MR. CARUSO: Your Honor, thank you.
< THE COURT: Thank you, counsel.
g (Plea 1is concluded.)
8
9
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1 we were going to ask the Court to waive any probation
2 fee because the consent judgment is not just -- it is
3 principal ?1us penalty and interest, and it is

4 substantial.

5 THE COURT: Okay. I have no problem at all
? wi;h that. And what is the amount, have you agreed on

it?

8 MS. GRUGAN: Yes. The total principal,

9 gena1ty, and interest is $7,610.78. Do you want a

10 reak-out of that, what is principal?

11 THE COURT: No, as long as Mr. watkins has
12 an understanding of the amount of restitution that he
13 will be required to pay as a condition of probation.
14 Do you understand that?

15 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

16 THE COURT: 1Is it realistic to expect that
17 he will be able to do this in two years?

18 MR. CARUSO: To answei’ that question,

19 Judge, he is currently collecting disability for a
20 work-related injury. I'm not entirely optimistic it
21 will be paid within the two years. I told him to make
22 a good-faith effort at paying it, given the fact right
23 now he has a Timited income.
24 THE COURT: The other tning we could do is
25 to make the period of probation three years, but if he

PLEA
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1 4is able to complete payment before then, then probation
2 can be terminated after two.

3 MR. CARUSO: That would be preferable.

4 THE COURT: 1Is that agreeable?

5 MR. CARUSO: That would be preferable.

6 THE COURT: A1l right. Then I'11 make that
7 adjustment on my copy.

8 MS. GRUGAN: I do have a signed consent

9 judgment that needs your signature. May I approach

10 your law clerk?

11 THE COURT: Yes.

12 MR. CARUSO: Just so Mr. watkins

13 understands, if he pays it earlier and complies with
14 probation, he wouldn't be precluded from early

15 termination below the two-year mark?

16 THE COURT: You agree to that?

17 MS. GRUGAN: Yes.

18 THE COURT: Okay. A1l right. were there

19 any other promises or statements of any type that were
20 made to ¥ou to convince you to plead guilty other than
21 what I placed on the record, sir?
22 THE DEFENDANT: NO, your Honor.
23 THE COURT: For the record, what is your
24 date of birth?
25 THE DEFENDANT: March 19th, 1966.

€
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1 THE COURT: Do you read and write the
2 English language?
3 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
4 THE COURT: And what is the highest level
5 of education you've completed? )
6 THE DEFENDANT: College. College for like
7 two years. I received culinary certificates,
8 clerical/secretarial, computers.
9 THE COURT: A1l right. And are you under
10 the influence today of any substance including
11 medication that could affect your abi11t¥ to think
12 clearly and understand these proceedings?
13 THE DEFENDANT: No.
14 THE COURT: Do you have a copy of the plea
15 form there?
16 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
17 THE COURT: A1l right. Now, this plea form
18 consists of three pages. Did you review the questions
19 on all three pages with your attorney?
20 THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I did.
21 THE COURT: Did he read the questions to
22 you, did you read them to yourself, or did both take
23 place?
24 THE DEFENDANT: Both cuok place.
25 THE COURT: Did you sign the back page,

PLEA
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1 sir?
2 THE DEFENDANT: Yes. ;
3 THE COURT: would you take a look at it and
4 confirm that that is your signature.
5 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
6 THE COURT: And did you sign this plea form
7 of your own free will?
8 THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Honor.
9 THE COURT: Did you do so after reviewing
10 the questions on all three pages?
11 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
12 THE COURT: Did you answer all of the
13 questions?
14 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
15 THE COURT: Are all of the answers that are
16 circled or filled-in your answers?
17 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
18 THE COURT: And are they truthful?
19 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
20 ; THE COURT: By reviewing the information on
21 this plea form, sir, do you understand that you would
22 be required to pay a number of mandatory penalties?
23 THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
24 THE COURT: I'm going to review these with
25 you. $50 violent Crimes Compensation Board penalty.
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unemployment.

THE COURT: 1In '987?

THE DEFENDANT: '98, yes. I am sorry. And
I was eligible for unemployment benefits and I was
receiving them, and at the same time they offered to
allow us to go to school if we wanted to get another
degree or anything and I went, took them up on that
offer and was going to school. And I think like
towards the end of '98 or either the beginning of '99,
I was called back to my job, but I wasn't finished
school yet and I kept going to school. As long as I
was going to school they were sending me the .
unemployment checks, and T was working and receiving
unemployment at the time.

THE COURT: You were going- to school and
working?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Did you understand you were
obligated to report any income?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And how did you -- did you have
to go to the office periodically or did you have to
call in and report?

THE DEFENDANT: To be hones., I don't quite
remember how. I think i1t was as long as I was in

OCONOODBWN-=
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school and my attendance stayed above average, they
send me the checks.

THE COURT: Did you understand once you
began working and getting a paycheck you had the
obligation to report that income?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Wwasn't there a periodic
reporting that you had to make to ensure that no
circumstances had changed?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. Yes. Yes.

THE COURT: And how did you do that, in
writing? By phone? 1In person?

THE DEFENDANT: To be honest, I don't
remember. I think it was by writing. If I'm not
mistaken, it was by writing or call in, it was one of
the two.

THE COURT: And did you know you should
have reported the income?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And you didn't do that?

THE DEFENDANT: CcCorrect.

. _ THE COURT: And do you agree during the
time period in which you were receiving a pa check and
were receiving unemployment it began on May 4th, 1998,
on or about --
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: -- and it continue until
May 22nd --

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: -- in 19997

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And what happened in May of
1999 that changed the situation?

THE DEFENDANT: Actually, I got a phone
call from, I guess it was the --

MR. CARUSO: Prosecutor's office.

THE DEFENDANT: -- attorney general's
office, and I had spoken with a man, I think his name
was David, in regards to that it needs to be paid back.
At that point in time I did let him know that I was 1in
the process of seeking to start paying it back. And he
asked me have I ever been on a payment plan with them
before and I said no. And, he said, well, I'11 call

ou back. He never called me back. The next thing I
new I got a letter in the mail stating they were
pressing charges.

THE COURT: And how do you plead to theft
by deception?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty. .

THE COURT: And are you entering this

OCONONHLWN -

10

PLEA
15
guilty plea of your own free will?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Counsel, do you have any
supplementary questions you would like to ask
Mr. watkins for the record?

MS. GRUGAN: No questions, but I can
clarify though because we have the evidence. It was
through a mail certification that he would receive in
the mail, he has to certify that he was unemq]oyed for
a two-week period. If he sends in those mai
certificates by a certain date, the Department of Labor
holds them for two or three days, and then a check is
cut, so that is how.

THE COURT: That is pretty consistent with
what he indicated.

MS. GRUGAN: As far as the unemployment
period, I think it's gust important to point out he was
e1igibie to collect, he did indeed collect, and then
his benefits were extended, again, on a special program
that they -- the state offers where you can work if
you're go1ng to college. So his benefits were extended
for a whole second term as long as he continued his
education. However, he did not notify the state that
he was still employed, and that is what happened.

THE COURT: Okay.
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§ ol MR. CARUSO: My only supplemental comment
2 1is that we litigated before Judge Sypek at great length
3 his amenability to PTI, and I still maintain before
4 this honorable court he should_have gotten PTI and that
5 s why this is a conditional plea_of guilty, reserving
6 his rights to appeal to the appellate tribunal the
7 decision on the prosecutor's discretion and
8 Judge Sypek.
9 THE COURT: I understand. That is
10 understood. I know from the history of this case that
11 the PTI decision was made by Judge Sypek following your
12 client's application.
13 MR. CARUSO: Judge Sypek never made a
14 decision on the record.
15 THE COURT: No, I was advised it was a
16 denial.
17 MR. CARUSO: It was a denial. She never
18 made her findings of fact or conclusions of law, but
19 I'm told a written opinion is forthcoming.
20 THE COURT: Right, that is my understanding
21 as well.
22 The Court accepts Mr. watkins' guilty plea.
23 1I'11 order a presentence re?ort, and schedule
24 sentencing for Friday, April 1lst.
25 Before you leave here today, sir, you need
PLEA
17
1 to report to Room 105 in this building on the first
2 floor. There, you will be interviewed by a probation
3 officer who will obtain some background information
4 from you that will be incorporated in a presentence
5 report. You'll get a copy of that report before the
6 date of sentence, you should review it before you come
7 to court. If there is anything in there that you don't
8 agree with, you can bring it to my attention on the
9 date of sentencing.
10 THE DEFENDANT: Okay.
1 THE COURT: If you don't show up, a bench
12 warrant will be issued. This is the only notice you'll
13 receive of your sentencing date.
14 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
15 THE COURT: A1l right. Any questions, sir?
16 THE DEFENDANT: Do you know how long it
17 takes in the Room 105 room?
18 THE COURT: Do you, Sandy?
19 THE CLERK: Pro abiy a half-hour.
20 ~ THE COURT: If it is a problem today, make
21 an appointment.
22 THE DEFENDANT: I am supposed to be at the
23 doctor's at 3:30 for an MRI.
24 : THE COURT: A1l right. Just make an
25 appointment, you can come back tomorrow and do it.
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MR. CARUSO: Make sure you go down there.
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I will.
THE COURT: A1l right. Thank you.
MR. CARUSO: Your Honor, thank you.
THE COURT: Thank you, counsel.
(Plea is concluded.)
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Sentence 5

THE COURT: Good morning, please be seated.
I understand that State versus watkins is ready?

MS. GRUGAN: Yes, your Honor.

MR. KESSOUS: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. watkins, do you want to
stand in back of the podium, please, sir?

okay, sir, you're before the Court today
for sentencing on Indictment 04-01-0008. You entered a
guilty plea on February 7th of 2005 to a third degree
theft by deception. The state is recommending that
you be placed on probation conditioned upon restitution
which, unless any payments have been made, is an amount
of $7,619.78.

Appearances of counsel, please.

MS. GRUGAN: Denise Grugan, Deputy Attorney
General.

MR. KESSOUS: Jonathan Kessous, law offices
of Garces and Grabler, New Brunswick, New Jersey,
representing the defendant.

THE COURT: Anything on behalf of the
state?

MS. GRUGAN: No, your Honor. We move that
you sentence in accordance with the neaotiated plea
agreement.

THE COURT: Okay.

—_
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MR. KESSOUS: Thank you, your Honor. The
Court should note that my client today has signed the
consent order for the civil judgment.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. KESSOUS: My client, therefore, has
elected to pay full restitution regard1ess of the
outcome of ang PTI appeal, which the Court is aware he
has reserved his right to appeal within 45 days of
today's Court sentencing.

with that being said, your Honor, I also
point the Court's artention to the numerous
certifications and community support letters that have
been attached to the PSIR. under those circumstances,
your Honor, the Court can see that this was to a
certain degree an isolated incident, one that my client
will be paying for in the long run because his job for
15 years is in jeopardy, which as the Court is aware,
was the true engine behind the PTI appeal. under those
circumstances, your Honor, I respectfully submit that
he is being punished for the present offense
accordingly, and therefore, I respectfully request that
the plea agreement with the reservation, initial guilty
plea reservation be entered and the sentence go on.

THE COURT: You got your PTI decision?

MR. KESSOUS: Actually, Judge, I did not

g w— -
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which is what I was going to ask the Court.

THE COURT: That was not my decision.

MS. GRUGAN: It was Judge Sypek.

MR. KESSOUS: I understand.

THE COURT: You'll need top contact her
chambers.

MR. KESSOUS: I'l]l be going up there now.

THE COURT: A1l right, Mr. watkins, first
of all, did you have an opportunity to review your
presentence report?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: 1Is there any information in
¥our report that you don't agree with or that you would

ike to comment on?

THE DEFENDANT: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: 1Is there anything you would
like to say before I sentence you, Sir?

THE DEFENDANT: Only that I -- no.

THE COURT: Okay. All right, I've reviewed
your presentence report, sir. You're 38 years of age.
You have two disorderly person's convictions in your
background, but no prior indictable convictions.

The heart of this offense is that you
collected unemployment benefits whiie you were working
for Trenton Psychiatric Hospital for a period of five
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months, and I've indicated what that total amount is,
including penalties and fines.

It is recommended that the period of
probation be three years, but that it be terminated
earlier in the event that you're able to pay
restitution by that time. You're currently on
worker's comp for an injury sustained at your job.
You've worked at Trenton Psychiatric for 15 years, but
as your attorney indicated, Kou've been suspended
without pay as a result of this incident.

You are single, have no children. In '90,
you may have a municipal court conviction for receiving
stolen property, and in 2004, for interfering with the
police. It is noted that you have strong community
ties. You received your GED in 1986 and have attended
some other classes beyond that, including classes at
the Art and Fashion Institute of Phi]ade?phia and
Mercer County Community College, and those certificates
as well as letters are attached.

In reviewing the aggravating and mitigating
factors, I find the following apply: Of course
there's a need to deter you and others from violating
the law, and I also find aggravating factor ten, that
the offense involved deceptive practices against a
division of state government,
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On the mitigating side, I have considered

1

2 that you have no prior indictable convictions, and_that

3 you are particularly Tikely to respond affirmatively to
4 probationary treatment and that you will compensate the

5 unemployment fund for this offense.

6 Under those circumstances, I find that the

7 mitigating factors outweigh the aggravating, and it's

8 unfortunate that this occurred, because you do have a

9 rather positive background, all of which I have

10 considered. I certainly conclude under all of these
11 circumstances that probation is an appropriate

12 disposition, and I sentence you accordingly. And we'll
13 just have to wait and see what the Appellate Division
14 does with respect to PTI.

15 on Indictment 04-01-0008, it is the

16 sentence of this Court that you be placed on probation
17 for a term of three years. In the event that

18 restitution is paid in advance of the conclusion of

19 three years, then the Court will concur with the early
20 termination of probation.
21 Probation is conditioned upon restitution
22 in the full amount that I have indicated, $7,619.78
23 minus any credits that you might be due. In light of
24 the amount of restitution and the fac. that you're on
25 worker's comp, I'm not going to impose any other

Sentence
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conditions. I don't know they're rea11¥ necessary.
I don't have a concern that you will violate the law
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again, frankly.

I will require that you pay the mandatory
penalties, however, a $50 violent Crimes Compensation
Board penalty, $75 safe Neighborhoods Services Fund
assessment, $30 Law Enforcement Officers Equipment and
Training Fund penalty, and of course, you are obligated
to provide a DNA sample.

Probation recommended against a probation
servicing fee. I will agree with that and will impose
none.

If you violate the condition of probation,
that is the regular paKment of restitution, of course,
you can be charged with a violation of probation,
a1though we have the civil judgment, so. I'm not so
sure what probation will do with that. In any event,
if you do violate probation, I'm obligated to tell you
that you do face up to five years in prison as a
result. You have no jail credits.

Finally, sir, you have 45 days to appeal
this sentence. If you have any questions about the
process of filing appeal, I'm sure your attorney can
answer them for you.

And did you, in fact, sign this civil

{
i
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THE COURT: Good morning, please be seated.

1

2 T understand that State versus watkins is ready?

3 MS. GRUGAN: Yes, your Honor.

4 MR. KESSOUS: Yes, your Honor.

5 THE COURT: Mr. watkins, do you want to

& stand in back of the podium, please, sir?

7 okay, sir, you're before the Court today

8 for sentencing on Indictment 04-01-0008. You entered a
9 guilty plea on February 7th of 2005 to a third degree
10 theft by deception. The state is recommending that,
11 you be placed on probation conditioned upon restitution
12 which, unless any payments have been made, is an amount
13 of $7,619.78.

14 Appearances of counsel, please.

15 MS. GRUGAN: Denise Grugan, Deputy Attorney
16 General. .

17 MR. KESSOUS: Jonathan Kessous, law offices
18 of Garces and Grabler, New Brunswick, New Jersey,

19 representing the defendant.

20 THE COURT: Anything on behalf of the

21 state?

22 MS. GRUGAN: No, your Honor. We move that

23 you sentence in accordance with the negotiated plea

24 agreement.

25 THE COURT: Okay.
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MR. KESSOUS: Thank you, your Honor. The
court should note that my client today has signed the
consent order for the civil judgment.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. KESSOUS: My client, therefore, nas
elected to pay full restitution regard]ess of the
outcome of anK PTI agpea1, which the Court is aware he
has reserved his right to appeal within 45 days of
today's Court sentencing.

with that being said, your Honor, I also
point the Court's attention to the numerous
certifications and community support letters that have
been attached to the PSIR. uUnder those circumstances,
your Honor, the Court_can see that this was to a
certain degree an isolated incident, one that my client
will be paying for in the long run because his job for
15 years is in jeopardK, which as the Court is aware,
was the true engine behind the PTI appeal. Under those
circumstances, your Honor, I respectfully submit that
he is being punished for the present offense
accordingly, and therefore, I respectfully request that
the plea agreement with the reservation, initial guilty
plea reservation be entered and the sentence go on.

THE COURT: You got your PTI decision?

MR. KESSOUS: Actually, Judge, I did not
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which is what I was going to ask the Court.

THE COURT: That was not my decision.

MS. GRUGAN: It was Judge Sypek.

MR. KESSOUS: I understand.

THE COURT: You'll need top contact her
chambers.

MR. KESSOUS: I'11 be going up there now.

THE COURT: A1l right, Mr. watkins, first
of all, did you have an opportunity to review your
presentence report?

11 THE DEFENDANT: Yes. e

12 THE COURT: Is there any information in

13 ¥our report that you don't agree with or that you would
14 ike to comment on?

15 THE DEFENDANT: No, ma'am.

16 THE COURT: 1Is there anything you would

17 Tlike to say before I sentence you, Sir:

18 THE DEFENDANT: Only that I -- no.

19 THE COURT: Okay. All right, I've reviewed
20 your presentence report, sir. You're 38 years of age.
21 You have two disorderly person's convictions in your
22 background, but no prior indictable convictions.

23 The heart of this offense is that you

24 collected unemployment benefits while you were working
25 for Trenton Psychiatric Hospital for a period of five
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1 months, and I've indicated what that total amount is,

2 1including penalties and fines.

3 It is recommended that the period of

4 probation be three years, but that it be terminated

5 earlier in the event that you're able to pay

6 restitution by that time. You're currently on

7 worker's comp for an injury sustained at your job.

8 You've worked at Trenton Psychiatric for 15 years, but
9 as your attorney indicated, Kou've been suspended

10 without pay as a result of this incident.

1 You are single, have no children. In '90,
12 you may have a municipal court conviction for receiving
13 stolen property, and in 2004, for interfering with the
14 police. It is noted that you have strong community

15 ties. You received your GED in 1986 and have attended
16 some other classes beyond that, inc]udin? classes at

17 the Art and Fashion Institute of Philadelphia and

18 Mercer County Community College, and those certificates
19 as well as letters are attached.
20 In reviewing the aggravating and mitigating
21 factors, I find the following app1K: of course
22 there's a need to deter you and others from vioiating
23 the law, and I also find aggravating factor ten, that
24 the offense involved deceptive practices against a
25 division of state government.
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Oon the mitigating side, I have considered
that you have no prior indictable convictions, and_that
you are particularly 1likely to respond affirmatively to
probationary treatment and that you will compensate the
unemployment fund for this offense.

Under those circumstances, I find that the
mitigating factors outweigh the aggravating, and it's
unfortunate that this occurred, because you do have a
rather positive background, all of which I have
considered. I certainly conclude under all of these
circumstances that probation is an appropriate
disposition, and I sentence you according]y. And we'll
just have to wait and see what the Appellate Division
does with respect to PTI.

On Indictment 04-01-0008, it is the :
sentence of this Court that you be placed on probation
for a term of three years. In the event that
restitution is paid in advance of the conclusion of
three years, then the Court will concur with the early
termination of probation.

Probation is conditioned upon restitution
in the full amount that I have indicated, $7,619.78
minus any credits that you might be due. In light of
the amount of restitution and the fa.. that you're on
worker's comp, I'm not going to impouse any other
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conditions. I don't know they're rea]1¥ necessary.
I don't have a concern that you will violate the law

again, frankly.

I will require that you pay the mandatory
penalties, however, a $50 violent Crimes Compensation
Board penalty, $75 safe Neighborhoods Services Fund
assessment, $30 Law Enforcement Officers Equipment and
Training Fund penalty, and of course, you are obligated
to provide a DNA sample.

Probation recommended against a probation
servicing fee. I will agree with that and will impose
none.

If you violate the condition of probation,
that is the regular pazment of restitution, of course,
you can be charged with a violation of probation,
a1though we have the civil judgment, so. I'm not so
sure what probation will do with that. In any event,
if you do violate probation, I'm obligated to tell you
that_you do face up to five years in prison as a
result. You have no jail credits.

g Finally, sir, you have 45 days to appeal
this sentence. If you have any questions about the
process of filing appeal, I'm sure your attorney can
answer them for you.

And did you, in fact, sign this civil
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consent judgment?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Did you review it with your
attorney before you signed it?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.
THE COURT: Did you sign it of your own
free will?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: A1l right, thank you, counsel.
Good Tuck.

(At which time, the matter was concluded.)
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